Request For Proposal (RFP) For Compensation Study and Analysis



Administration Department City of Laguna Niguel November 30, 2020

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

FOR

COMPENSATION STUDY AND ANALYSIS

The City of Laguna Niguel is seeking a highly qualified and experienced individual(s) or firm with a proven track record of accomplishment in similar public sector projects to conduct a comprehensive compensation study and analysis for all positions in the employee groups and to provide recommendations to address any anomalies within current pay structures.

The purpose of the Request for Proposal (RFP) is to provide interested individual(s) or firms with sufficient information to enable them to propose and submit proposals for the scope outlined within the RFP.

I. GENERAL INFORMATION

The City of Laguna Niguel was incorporated on December 1, 1989. The City is a masterplanned community encompassing 14.79 square miles in the coastal area of South Orange County, California. As of January 2020, the State of California Department of Finance listed the City's population as 65,316. The City is primarily a residential community supported by a strong retail and commercial base. About one-half of Laguna Niguel's geographic area is permanently designated as parks and open space; this is one of the key features that define the character and form of the City.

The City of Laguna Niguel is a general law City governed by a five-member City Council operating under the City Council/City Manager form of government. City Council Members serve staggered four-year terms. The Mayor is nominated and appointed by the City Council and serves a one-year term.

The City operates primarily as a "contract city" utilizing agreements with other governmental entities, private firms, and individuals to provide most municipal services to the community. Fire services are provided through the Orange County Fire Authority, of which the City is a member, and police services are provided by the Orange County Sheriff's Department.

The City of Laguna Niguel is organized into seven major departments including: Administration, City Clerk, Finance, Community Development, Parks & Recreation, Police Services, and Public Works. Currently, the City has 63 active classifications as displayed in Exhibits A, B, and C.

II. SCOPE OF SERVICE

The purpose of the Compensation Study and analysis is to ensure appropriate compensation for all Maintenance, Clerical, Technical Unit Employees, as well as Middle Management, Professional, Supervisory Unit Employees, and Executive and Management Employees.

The City's objectives are to:

- a. Attract and retain qualified employees.
- b. Provide salaries commensurate with assigned duties.
- c. Provide benefits commensurate with comparable government agencies.
- d. Clearly outline promotional opportunities and provide recognizable compensation growth.
- e. Provide justifiable pay differential between individual classes.
- f. Maintain a competitive position with other comparable government entities and private employers within the same geographic areas.

The Consultant shall conduct comprehensive compensation surveys for all classifications in accordance with the requirements described in this Scope of Work. The services provided shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- a. Review and provide cost-effective recommendations, including rationale, to align City's compensation structure for all positions in consideration of the City's current pay practices and policies, internal pay relationships, and the external labor market.
- b. Reevaluate and recommend changes, as applicable, to City's existing labor market comparison agencies to determine ongoing relevance and continued appropriateness. Develop a presentation if recommending modifications to the list of comparable agencies, including the rationale for changes.
- c. Prepare and submit to Human Resources (HR) a compensation survey final report that analyzes salary and total compensation labor market data for all job classifications, to include the following:
 - Agencies surveyed
 - Comparable class title
 - Salary range minimum
 - Salary range maximum/control point

- Number of observations
- Level of variability of the data
- Market value relative to 50th percentile (market median) and 75th percentile
- Percent of City salary range above/below the market median value
- Explanation and outline of methodology used
- Summary and assessment of City's data relative to the market data points
- Review of current pay structure relative to market data points and/or recommendation of possible change
- Identification of key issues that may need to be addressed
- Recommendations that include rationale for each key issue identified and a proposal for implementation
- Review of City's total compensation (including health benefits) compared to market data points and/or recommendations of possible change(s)
- A key explaining comparative data points used to analyze City salary and total compensation with market salary and total compensation data
- Percentile placement amounts for all positions regarding salary and total compensation relative to market position
- d. Conduct a cost analysis and quantify fiscal impact of proposed implementations/recommendations for adjustment of market valued job classifications that may be out of alignment.

For the duration of the project, the Consultant shall provide HR with ongoing and regular reports on the status and any issues encountered during the project. The City will provide copies of all salary schedules and benefits summary for calendar year 2021 and Memorandum of Understanding for Maintenance Clerical and Technical Unit (Exhibit A), and Memorandum of Understanding for Middle Management, Professional, Supervisory Unit (Exhibit B), Executive and Management Employees Compensation and Other Benefits (Exhibit C), and any other available in-house information requested by the Consultant that may be required to complete the study. The Consultant shall provide HR a recommended strategy for implementing any changes suggested based on findings within the context of City policies and procedures. All of the City's bargaining unit documents can be found at https://ca-lagunaniguel4.civicplus.com/916/Compensation.

III. GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS AND PROVISIONS

1) <u>Proposal Format Guidelines:</u> Interested entities are to provide the City of Laguna Niguel with a thorough Proposal using the following guidelines: Proposal should be typed and should contain no more than 20 typed pages using 12-point font size, including transmittal letter and resumes of key people, but excluding Index/Table of Contents, tables, charts, graphic exhibits, and pricing forms.

Each Proposal will adhere to the following order and content of sections. Proposal should be straightforward, concise and provide "layman" explanations of technical terms that are used. Emphasis should be concentrated on conforming to the RFP instructions, responding to the RFP requirements, and providing a complete and clear description of the offer.

- a. <u>Vendor Application Form and Cover Letter:</u> Complete both Exhibit F and Exhibit G and attach forms to the cover letter. A cover letter, not to exceed three pages in length, should summarize key elements of the Proposal. An individual authorized to bind the Contractor must sign the letter. Indicate the address and telephone number of the Contractor's office located nearest to Laguna Niguel, California, and the office from which the project will be managed.
- b. **Background and Project Summary Section:** The Background and Project Summary Section should describe your understanding of the City, the work to be done, and the objectives to be accomplished.
- c. <u>Company Experience and Qualifications</u>: The information requested in this section should describe the qualifications of the firm or entity, key staff, and subcontractors performing services within the past five years that are similar in size and scope to demonstrate competence to perform these services.
- d. <u>**References:**</u> Provide three references that received similar services from your firm. The City of Laguna Niguel reserves the right to contact any of the organizations or individuals listed. Information provided shall include:
 - Client name;
 - Project description;
 - Project start and end dates; and
 - Client project manager name, telephone number, and e-mail address.
- e. <u>Methodology:</u> Provide a detailed description of the approach and methodology to be used to accomplish the Scope of Work of this RFP.
- f. <u>Staffing:</u> Provide a list of individual(s) who will be working on this project and indicate the functions that each will perform. Include a resume for each designated individual. Upon award and during the contract period, if the Contractor chooses to assign different personnel to the project, the Contractor must submit their names and qualifications, including the information listed above to the City for approval before they begin work.
- g. <u>**Project Timeline:**</u> Provide a detailed timeline with milestones to complete comprehensive Scope of Work.

- h. <u>Cost-Proposals</u>: All proposers are required to submit a detailed Cost Proposal to be included with their Proposal. Pricing instructions should be clearly defined to ensure fees proposed can be compared and evaluated. Proposals shall be valid for a minimum of **90 days** following submission. The fee must be inclusive of all costs charged to the City.
- i. <u>Disclosure</u>: Please disclose any and all past or current business and personal relationships with any current Laguna Niguel elected official, appointed official, City employee, or family member of any current Laguna Niguel elected official, appointed official, or City employee. Any past or current business relationship may not disqualify the firm or individual from consideration.
- j. <u>Sample Professional Service Agreement</u>: The Consultant selected by the City will be required to execute a Professional Service Agreement with the City. A sample of the Agreement is enclosed in Exhibit E but may be modified to suit the specific service and needs of the City. If a Proposer had any exceptions or conditions to the Agreement, these must be submitted for consideration with the Proposal. Otherwise, the Proposer will be deemed to have accepted the form of Agreement.
- 2) <u>Important Notice</u>: The City has attempted to provide all information available. It is the responsibility of each Proposer to review, evaluate, and, where necessary, request any clarification prior to submission of a Proposal. Proposers are not to contact other City personnel with any questions or clarifications concerning this Request for Proposal (RFP).
- 3) <u>Addendum</u>: If clarification or interpretation of this solicitation is considered necessary by City, a written addendum shall be issued, and the information will be posted on the City's website at <u>www.cityoflagunaniguel.org</u>. Any interpretation of, or correction to, this solicitation will be made only by addendum issued by the City's Administration Department. It is the responsibility of each Proposer to periodically check the City's website to ensure that it has received and reviewed any and all addenda to this solicitation. The City will not be responsible for any other explanations, corrections to, or interpretations of the documents, including any oral information.
- 4) <u>Schedule of Events:</u> This Request for Proposal shall be governed by the following schedule:

City Releases RFP	November 30, 2020
Deadline for Written Questions	December 9, 2020, by 5:00 pm
Responses to Questions Posted on Website	December 14, 2020, by 5:00 pm
Proposals Due	December 21, 2020, by 5:00 pm
City to Review and Rate all Submittals	January 2021
Selection of Firm and Execution of PSA	January 2021
Initial Project Kickoff Meeting	February 2021

- **5) Process for Submitting Proposals:** The Proposal must be submitted using the format as indicated in the Proposal format guidelines.
 - a. <u>Number of Proposals</u>: Submit one original, three (3) hard copies plus one electronic copy/flash drive of your Proposal in sufficient detail to allow for thorough evaluation and comparative analysis. In the event of a conflict between the original and any hard copy or disk copy, the original shall control.
 - b. **Inquiries:** Questions about this RFP may be directed in writing until 5:00 pm Wednesday, December 9, 2020, via e-mail to:

RFP Facilitator: Dorna Farhadi at dfarhadi@cityoflagunaniguel.org

From the date that this RFP is issued until a firm or entity is selected and the selection is announced, firms or public entities are not allowed to communicate outside the process set forth in this RFP with any City employee other than the contracting officer listed above regarding this RFP. The City reserves the right to reject any Proposal for violation of this provision. No questions other than written will be accepted, and no response other than written will be binding upon the City.

- c. <u>Public Records:</u> All Proposals submitted in response to this RFP become the property of the City. Information in the Proposal, unless specified as trade protected, may be subject to public review. Any information contained in the Proposal that is proprietary must be clearly designated. Marking the entire Proposal as proprietary will be neither accepted nor honored. Proprietary information submitted in response to this RFP will be handled in accordance with the California Public Records Act.
- d. <u>Conditions for Proposal Acceptance:</u> This RFP does not commit the City to award a contract or to pay any costs incurred for any services. The City, at its sole discretion, reserves the right to accept or reject any or all Proposals received as a result of this RFP, to negotiate with any qualified source(s), or to cancel this RFP in part or in its entirety. The City may waive any irregularity in any Proposal. All Proposals will become the property of the City of Laguna Niguel, CA. If any proprietary information is contained in the Proposal, it should be clearly identified.
- e. <u>Insurance & W-9 Requirements:</u> Upon the recommendation of contract award, Contractor will be required to submit the following documents within ten business (10) days of City notification, unless otherwise specified in the solicitation:

Insurance - City requires that licensees, lessees, and vendors have an approved Certificate of Insurance (not a declaration or policy) or proof of legal self-insurance on file with the City. Within ten (10) business days of award of contract, successful Bidder must furnish the City with the Certificates of Insurance proving coverage as specified in the sample contract.

W-9 – Current signed form W-9 (Taxpayer Identification Number & Certification) which includes Contractor's legal business name(s).

f. <u>Submission of Proposals:</u> All completed written Proposals must be submitted in sealed envelopes marked and received prior to 5:00 pm on Monday, December 21, 2020, to the address below. Proposals will not be accepted after this deadline. Faxed or e-mailed Proposals will not be accepted. NO EXCEPTIONS.

City of Laguna Niguel ATTN: Administration Department 30111 Crown Valley Parkway Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

Please Note: Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic, the City of Laguna Niguel has closed its City Hall to the public. A Proposer may request an appointment with City Staff to drop off Proposal. Please contact Senior Management Analyst, Dorna Farhadi at <u>dfarhadi@cityoflagunaniguel.org</u> to make an appointment. Submissions may also be sent via mail.

6) Evaluation Criteria: The City's evaluation and selection process will be conducted in accordance with the table listed below. At all times during the evaluation process, the following criteria will be used. Additional sub-criteria that logically fit within a particular evaluation criterion may also be considered even if not specified below.

	Criteria	Rating (100%)
1	Timeline	30%
2	Methodology	25%
3	Cost Proposal	25%
4	Professional Experience	20%

- 7) Evaluation of Proposals and Selection Process: An Internal Evaluation/Selection Committee (Committee) will screen and review all Proposals according to the weighted criteria set forth above.
 - a. <u>Responsiveness Screening</u>: Proposals will first be screened to ensure responsiveness to the RFP. The City may reject as non-responsive any Proposal that does not include the documents required to be submitted by this RFP. At any time during the evaluation process, the City reserves the right to request clarifications or additional information from any or all Proposers regarding their Proposals.

b. <u>Initial Proposal Review:</u> The Committee will initially review and score all responsive written Proposals based upon the Evaluation Criteria set forth above. The Committee may also contact Proposer's references. Proposals that receive the highest evaluation scores may be invited to the next stage of the evaluation process. The City may reject any Proposal in which a Proposer's approach, qualifications, or price is not considered acceptable by the City. An unacceptable Proposal is one that would have to be substantially rewritten to make it acceptable. The City may conclude the evaluation process at this point and recommend award to the lowest responsible Bidder. Alternatively, the City may elect to negotiate directly with one or more Proposers to obtain the best result for the City prior to making a recommendation or selection.

C. Interviews, Reference Checks, Revised Proposals, Discussions:

Following the initial screening and review of Proposals, the Proposers included in this stage of the evaluation process **may** be invited to participate in a virtual interview. Interviews, if held, will be conducted virtually. The individual(s) from Proposer's firm or entity that will be directly responsible for carrying out the contract, if awarded, should be present at the virtual interview.

In addition to conducting a virtual interview, the City may during this stage of the evaluation process also contact and evaluate the Proposer's references, contact any Proposer to clarify any response or request revised or additional information, contact any current users of a Proposer's services, solicit information from any available source concerning any aspect of a Proposal, and seek and review any other information deemed pertinent to the evaluation process.

Recommendation for award is contingent upon the successful negotiation of final contract terms. Negotiations shall be confidential and not subject to disclosure to competing Proposers unless an agreement is reached. If contract negotiations cannot be concluded successfully, the City may terminate negotiations and commence negotiations with the next highest scoring Proposer or withdraw the RFP.

8) Accuracy of Proposals: Proposers shall take all responsibility for any errors or omissions in their Proposals. Any discrepancies in numbers or calculations shall be interpreted to reflect the cost to the City.

If prior to contract award, a Proposer discovers a mistake in their Proposal, which renders the Proposal unwilling to perform under any resulting contract, the Proposer must immediately notify the City and request to withdraw the Proposal. It shall be solely within the City's discretion as to whether the withdrawal will be permitted.

- **9) Responsibility of Proposers:** The City shall not be liable for any expenses incurred by potential Contractors in the preparation or submission of their Proposals. Precontractual expenses are not to be included in the Contractor's Pricing Sheet. Precontractual expenses are defined as, including but not limited to, expenses incurred by Proposer in:
 - Preparing Proposal in response to this RFP;
 - Submitting that Proposal to the City;
 - Negotiating with the City any matter related to the Proposal; and
 - Any other expenses incurred by the Proposer prior to the date of the award and execution, if any, of the contract.
- **10)Confidentiality:** The California Public Records Act (Cal. Govt. Code Sections 6250 et seq.) mandates public access to government records. Therefore, unless information is exempt from disclosure by law, the content of any request for an explanation, exception, or substitution, response to this RFP, protest, or any other written communication between the City and Proposer shall be available to the public.

If Proposer believes any communication contains trade secrets or other proprietary information that the Proposer believes would cause substantial injury to the Proposer's competitive position if disclosed, the Proposer shall request that the City withhold from disclosure the proprietary information by marking each page containing such proprietary information as confidential. Proposer may not designate its entire Proposal as confidential nor designate its Price Proposal as confidential.

Submission of a Proposal shall indicate that, if Proposer requests that the City withhold from disclosure information identified as confidential, and the City complies with the Proposer's request, Proposer shall assume all responsibility for any challenges resulting from the non-disclosure, indemnify and hold harmless the City from and against all damages (including but not limited to attorney's fees and costs that may be awarded to the party requesting the Proposer information), and pay any and all costs and expenses related to the withholding of Proposer information. Proposer shall not make a claim, sue, or maintain any legal action against the City or its directors, officers, employees, or agents concerning the disclosure, or withholding from disclosure information. If Proposer does not request that the City withhold from disclosure information identified as confidential, the City shall have no obligation to withhold the information from disclosure and may release the information sought without any liability to the City.

11)Ex Parte Communications: Proposers and Proposers' representatives should not communicate with the City Council members about this RFP. In addition, Proposers and Proposers' representatives should not communicate outside the procedures set forth in this RFP with an officer, employee, or agent of the City, including any member

of the evaluation panel, with the exception of the RFP Facilitator, regarding this RFP until after Contract Award. Proposers and their representatives are not prohibited, however, from making oral statements or presentations in public to one or more representatives of the City during a public meeting.

A "Proposer" or "Proposer's representative" includes all of the Proposer's employees, officers, directors, consultants and agents, any subcontractors or suppliers listed in the Proposer's Proposal, and any individual or entity who has been requested by the Proposer to contact the City on the Proposer's behalf. Proposers shall include the Ex Parte Communications Form, Exhibit F, with their Proposals certifying that they have not had or directed prohibited communications as described in this section.

- 12)Conflict of Interest: The Proposer warrants and represents that it presently has no interest and agrees that it will not acquire any interest, which would present a conflict of interest under California Government Code Sections 1090 et seq., or Sections 87100 et seq., during the performance of services under any Agreement awarded. The Proposer further covenants that it will not knowingly employ any person having such an interest in the performance of any Agreement awarded. Violation of this provision may result in any Agreement awarded being deemed void and unenforceable.
- **13)Disclosure of Governmental Positions:** In order to analyze possible conflicts that might prevent a Proposer from acting on behalf of the City, the City requires that all Proposers disclose in their Proposals any positions that they hold as directors, officers, or employees of any governmental entity. Additional disclosure may be required prior to the contract award or during the term of the contract. Each Proposer shall disclose whether any owner or employee of the firm currently holds positions as elected or appointed officials, directors, officers, or employees of a governmental entity or held such positions in the past twelve months as part of the Proposal.
- **14)Conditions to Agreement:** The selected Proposer will execute a Professional Service Agreement for Services with the City describing the Scope of Services to be performed, the schedule for completion of the services, compensation, and other pertinent provisions. The contract shall follow the sample form of Agreement provided as Exhibit E to this RFP, which may be modified by the City. All Proposers are directed to particularly review the indemnification and insurance requirements set forth in the sample Agreement.

The terms of the agreement, including insurance requirements, have been mandated by the City and can be modified only if extraordinary circumstances exist. Submittal of a Proposal shall be deemed acceptance of all the terms set forth in this RFP and the sample agreement for professional services unless the Proposer includes with its Proposal, in writing, any conditions or exceptions requested by the Proposer to the proposed Agreement.

- **15)Disqualification Questionnaire:** Proposers shall complete and submit, under penalty of perjury, a standard form of questionnaire inquiring whether a Proposer, any officer of a proposer, or any employee of a Proposer who has a proprietary interest in the Proposer, has ever been disqualified, removed, or otherwise prevented from proposing on, or completing a federal, state, or local government project because of a violation of law or safety regulation and if so, to explain the circumstances. A Proposal may be rejected on the basis of a Proposer, any officer or employee of such Proposer, having been disqualified, removed, or otherwise prevented from proposing on, or completing a federal, state, or local project because of a violation of law or safety a federal, removed, or otherwise prevented from proposing on, or completing a federal, state, or local project because of a violation of law or a safety regulation.
- **16)Standard Terms and Conditions:** The City reserves the right to amend or supplement this RFP prior to the Proposal due date. All addendum(s) and additional information will be posted to the City's website. Proposers should check this web page daily for new information.

ATTACHMENTS TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) FOR COMPENSATION STUDY AND ANALYSIS

- **EXHIBIT A:** MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEE ASSOCIATION AND CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL MAINTENANCE, CLERICAL AND TECHNICAL UNIT
- **EXHIBIT B:** MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEE ASSOCIATION AND CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL MIDDLE MANAGEMENT, PROFESSIONAL AND SUPERVISORY UNIT
- **EXHIBIT C:** RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL, CALIFORNIA, FIXING THE COMPENSATION AND OTHER BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE AND MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES
- **EXHIBIT D:** CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL HEALTH INSURANCE, RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS 2020/2021*
- **EXHIBIT E:** SAMPLE AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
- **EXHIBIT F:** EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS CERTIFICATE
- **EXHIBIT G:** DISQUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE

EXHIBIT A

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEE ASSOCIATION AND CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL MAINTENANCE, CLERICAL AND TECHNICAL UNIT



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION

AND

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL

October 1, 2019 - September 30, 2021

MAINTENANCE, CLERICAL AND TECHNICAL UNIT

Approved by the City Council on March 3, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article	Section	Page
Ι	Preamble	3
II	Recognition	
III	Purpose	
IV	Scope	
V	City Rights	3
VI	Employee Rights	
VII	Association Rights	
VIII	Payroll Deductions	
IX	Quarterly City – OCEA Meetings	6
Х	Informal Complaint Resolution Procedure	6
XI	Grievance Procedure	7
XII	Disciplinary Action	
XIII	Maintenance of Benefits	
XIV	Salary	
XV	Workweek, Overtime and Premium Pay	19
XVI	Benefits	
XVII	Section 125 Plan	26
XVIII	Vacation	26
XIX	Leaves	28
XX	Holidays	33
XXI	Part-Time Employee General Leave Program	35
XXII	Layoff and Recall	
XXIII	Safety	
XXIV	Uniforms, Safety Gear and Inclement Weather Gear	38
XXV	Personnel Files	39
XXVI	Probationary Period	39
XXVII	Performance Reviews	
XXVIII	Classification	40
XXIX	Part-Time Employees	41
XXX	Limited Term Employees	42
XXXI	Employee Recognition Program	
XXXII	Use of South Coast YMCA Facilities	43
XXXIII	Drug-Free Workplace and Harassment Policies	43
XXXIV	Gift Restrictions	
XXXV	Pension and Health Care Reform Proposals	
XXXVI	Non-Discrimination	44
XXXVII	Severability	
XXXVIII	Concerted Activities	45
XXXIX	Term	

Article I - Preamble

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (Government Code Sections 3500 et seq.) and City Resolution No. 94-272. Representatives of the City and Orange County Employees Association (OCEA) have met and conferred in good faith regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment. The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to set forth those agreements reached between the parties.

Article II - Recognition

OCEA is hereby acknowledged as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in the classifications listed in Attachment 1.

Article III-Purpose

The parties agree that the purposes of this MOU are: to promote and provide harmonious relations, cooperation and understanding between the City and the employees covered herein; to provide an orderly and equitable means of resolving differences which may arise under this MOU; and to set forth the terms of agreement of the parties reached as a result of meeting and conferring regarding matters within the scope of representation for employees represented by the OCEA. Further, the purpose of this Agreement is to guarantee employees represented by OCEA receive all rights and privileges of employment provided in Federal, State and City ordinances.

Article IV - Scope

The scope of representation shall include all matters relating to employment conditions and employer-employee relations, including, but not limited to, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment, except, however, that the scope of representation shall not include consideration of the merits, necessity, or organization of any service or activity provided by law or executive order.

Article V - City Rights

The City retains, solely and exclusively, all rights, powers and authority it had prior to this MOU except those rights specifically delegated by this MOU. Except as expressly limited by this MOU, the City retains all of its rights, power and authority with respect to general legislative matters and the management of the provision of municipal services and the management of the work force performing those services. These rights, powers and authority include, but are not limited to:

(a) Determine the mission of the City and all of its departments, commissions, committees and boards;

(b) Determine the nature, standards, levels and mode of delivery of services to be offered to the public;

(c) Exercise complete control and discretion over the establishment and modification of the organization of City government, City departments and other work units, and the technology of performing City work;

(d) Determine whether services required by the City shall be provided by City staff or provided pursuant to contracts between the City and independent contractors, or by subcontractors of such independent contractors;

(e) Maintain the efficiency of City operations;

(f) Determine the methods, means, and the number and kinds of personnel by which services are to be provided;

(g) Adopt a system of job classifications, including assignment of titles, and determination of job descriptions and duties for each job classification, and subsequently adopt additional job classifications, delete job classifications, and modify job classifications;

(h) Determine the procedures and standards for the selection of employees;

(i) Direct employees, including scheduling and assigning work, work hours, and overtime;(j) Establish performance standards and require compliance therewith;

(k) Discharge, suspend, demote, reduce in pay, reprimand, withhold salary increases and benefits, or otherwise discipline employees subject to the requirements of applicable law;

(1) Relieve employees from duty for lack of work or lack of funds or for other legitimate reasons; (m) Implement all rules, regulations and directives consistent with law; and

(n) Take all necessary actions to protect the public and carry out its mission in emergencies.

Article VI - Employee Rights

Employees shall have the right to form, join and participate in the activities of employee organizations of their own choosing for the purpose of representation on all matters of employeremployee relations. Employees shall also have the right to refuse to join or participate in the activities of employee organizations. The City shall not hinder, interfere with, intimidate, restrain, discriminate against, coerce, or discipline an employee for exercising any rights or benefits provided in this MOU or under the law.

Article VII - Association Rights

OCEA shall notify the City in writing of the names of its Officers, Bargaining Committee Members, Departmental Representatives, and other representatives each time an election is held or new appointments are made.

The City shall provide OCEA on a monthly basis, if changes occur, with the following: A list of employees in the classifications set forth in Attachment I; the names of new hires, promotions, and terminations in the classifications set forth in Attachment I; City of Laguna Niguel job postings; and copies of current salary schedules.

The City shall provide OCEA an opportunity to meet with new employees for thirty minutes as part of their new employee orientation process.

On a quarterly basis, the City will provide OCEA with names and home addresses of all OCEA member employees. This information is for the confidential use of OCEA and the City shall not be responsible and will be held harmless by OCEA for inappropriate release of this information by OCEA.

Upon request, the OCEA shall receive available information relating to contract administration and fringe benefits including pension and insurance plans.

The City shall make available reasonable bulletin board space in designated employee areas for the use of OCEA to post notices pertaining to OCEA business. All materials must be dated and identify OCEA. No materials may be posted that are critical of the City, City officials or employees, City policies, or other employee organizations.

A reasonable number of employees shall be entitled to leave their work during working hours without loss of pay for reasonable periods of time, with prior approval of their supervisor, for purposes of participation in the meet-and-confer process. A designated OCEA representative shall be entitled to leave his or her work during working hours without loss of pay for reasonable periods of time, with prior approval of their supervisor for purposes of reviewing and processing grievances.

OCEA staff may have access to OCEA members providing that supervisors are notified prior to a meeting being scheduled and that meetings held will not interfere with work.

Article VIII - Payroll Deductions

Upon written notice, including email, from OCEA that the employee has authorized dues deduction, membership dues will be automatically deducted from an employee's pay and forwarded by the City to OCEA pursuant to the written request for the distribution of deductions. Dues deductions begin the beginning of the pay period following the City's receipt of notice from the OCEA and are deducted on a biweekly basis.

The employee's earnings must be sufficient after other legal and required deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues. When an employee is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no deduction will be made to cover the pay period. In the case of an employee who is in a non-pay status during part of the pay period, and the salary is not sufficient to cover the full withholding, no deduction shall be made. In this circumstance, all other legal and required deductions (including health care deductions) have priority over Association dues.

Article IX-Quarterly City-OCEA Meetings

The City's chief negotiator and designated management staff shall meet with OCEA and the president of the Maintenance, Clerical and Technical Unit on a quarterly basis, if necessary. The basic purpose of these meetings is to discuss issues of common interest and to solve mutual problems in a constructive fashion. The parties shall exchange suggested agenda topics one week before the meeting date. Grievances or disciplinary action in progress may be discussed at these meetings only by mutual consent, and discussion of such topics does not preclude subsequent resolution via the grievance or disciplinary procedure. Meet-and-confer subjects may be discussed by mutual consent, but this does not preclude exercise of further meet-and-confer options by either party. Persons other than those described above may attend these meetings only by prior mutual consent.

Article X - Informal Complaint Resolution Procedure

A. <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this procedure is to enhance communications between employees, supervisors and management by providing employees an informal process for the discussion and review of complaints or concerns not covered by the grievance procedure within a reasonable time period without jeopardizing employees' positions or employment.

B. <u>Complaint Resolution Procedure</u>

Any complaint or concern not covered by the grievance procedure shall be resolved as follows:

- 1. The employee shall first discuss the matter with his or her immediate supervisor within seven (7) working days from the date the employee had notice of the action which prompted the concern or complaint.
- 2. In the event that the immediate supervisor does not resolve the matter to the employee's satisfaction within ten (10) working days of the employee's presentation of the matter, then the employee may bring the matter to the attention of his or her Department Head within ten (10) working days of the receipt of response from the immediate supervisor, or within ten (10) working days from the date, of the date a response from the supervisor was due to the employee, if no response was provided.
- 3. If the Department Head does not resolve the matter to the employee's satisfaction within ten (10) working days of the employee's presentation of the matter to the Department Head then the employee may bring the matter in writing to the attention of the City Manager, within ten (10) working days of receiving a response, or within ten (10 working days from the date, of the date a response from the supervisor was due to the employee, if no response was provided. The City Manager, or his or her representative, shall consider the matter. The decision of the City Manager, or his or her representative, will be final and binding.

C. Informal Complaint Resolution Procedures

In addition to the informal complaint procedures set forth in this Article, Employees shall have the right to discuss individual problems of employment with City. Upon request of the employee, OCEA shall be kept fully informed and have the right to be present at all such meetings between City and the individual.

Article XI - Grievance Procedure

A. <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of the grievance procedure is to enhance communications between employees and employer by providing a fair and impartial review and consideration of grievances within a reasonable time period without jeopardizing employees' positions or employment.

B. <u>Scope of Grievances</u>

A grievance may be filed concerning the interpretation or application of specific provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding or other written Personnel rules or regulations which adversely affects an employee.

C. <u>Basic Rules</u>

- 1. If an employee does not present a grievance/appeal or does not appeal the decision rendered his or her grievance/appeal within the time limits, the grievance/appeal shall be considered resolved.
- 2. If a City representative does not render a decision to the employee within the time limits, the employee may within seven (7) calendar days thereafter appeal to the next step in the procedure.
- 3. If it is the judgment of any management representative that he or she does not have the authority to resolve the grievance/appeal, he or she may refer it to the next step in the procedure. By mutual agreement of the City and OCEA, any step of the procedure may be waived.
- 4. Upon written consent of the parties (i.e., the representative of the City and the employee or his or her representative), the time limits at any step in the procedure may be extended.
- 5. Every reasonable effort shall be made by the employee and the City to resolve a grievance/appeal at the lowest possible step in the grievance/appeal procedure.

D. <u>Submission of Grievance</u>

- 1. Any employee or group of employees or OCEA shall have the right to present a grievance. No employee or group of employees shall be hindered from or disciplined for exercising this right.
- 2. If any two (2) or more employees have essentially the same grievance they may, and if requested by the City must, collectively present and pursue their grievance if they report to the same immediate supervisor.

E. <u>Employee Representation</u>

- 1. An employee may represent himself or herself or may be represented by OCEA in the formal grievance/appeal procedure.
- 2. Authorized grievance/appeal representatives shall be designated by OCEA to represent employees for the purposes of the grievance/appeal procedure. OCEA shall notify Department Heads of the names and titles of such representatives and send a copy of such notice to the Deputy City Manager quarterly.

F. <u>Time Off for Processing Grievances/Appeals</u>

- 1. Reasonable time off without loss of pay shall be given to:
 - a. an employee who has a grievance/appeal in order to attend a meeting with his or her supervisor or other person with authority under the grievance/appeal procedure to resolve the matter or to meet with his or her grievance/appeal representative;
 - b. an authorized grievance/appeal representative in order to attend a meeting with the represented grievant's/appellant's supervisor or other person with authority under the grievance/appeal procedure or to obtain facts concerning the action grieved/appealed through discussion with the grievant/appellant or other employees or through examination of appropriate records or locations relating to the grievance/appeal.
- 2. The following restrictions shall apply in all cases to activity authorized in F.1.a. and F.1.b, above:
 - a. Before performing grievance/appeal work, the grievant/appellant or grievance/appeal representative shall obtain permission of his or her supervisor and shall report back to the supervisor when the grievance/appeal work is completed.
 - b. Neither the grievant/appellant nor the grievance/appeal representative shall interrupt or leave his or her job to perform grievance/appeal work if his or her supervisor determines that such interruption or absence will unduly interfere with the work of the unit in which the grievant/appellant or representative is employed. However, an effort will be made to grant such time off as soon as it is feasible to do so.

G. <u>Form of Grievance</u>

All grievances must be submitted in writing, on forms provided by the City, and must contain the following:

- 1. Employee's name, title, department and division.
- 2. The name of the individual or organization, if any, representing the employee in the grievance procedure.
- 3. The date the grievance is being submitted.

- 4. The nature of the grievance, including a statement of the specific provisions of the Memorandum of Understanding, personnel rules or regulations which are alleged to have been violated, the date the alleged violation occurred, and the specific decision or action which constituted the alleged violation.
- 5. The facts and/or circumstances which gave rise to the grievance.
- 6. Any available supporting documentation or other material which is to be considered in conjunction with the grievance.
- 7. A statement of the remedy which the employee is seeking.

H. Formal Grievance/Appeal Steps

The grievance/appeal procedure shall consist of the following steps, each of which must be completed prior to any request for further consideration of the matter unless waived by mutual consent or as otherwise provided herein.

Step 1: <u>Immediate Supervisor</u>

An employee shall formally and concurrently submit a grievance to the immediate supervisor and the City Personnel Officer within fourteen (14) calendar days from the occurrence which establishes the basis for the grievance. Within seven (7) calendar days, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, after receipt of the written grievance, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant. Within seven (7) calendar days, or a mutually agreed upon date by both parties, thereafter, a written decision shall be given to the grievant.

Step 2: Department Head

If the grievance is not resolved under Step 1, it may be presented to the Department Head. The grievance shall be submitted within seven (7) calendar days after the receipt of the written decision from Step 1. Within seven (7) calendar days, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, after the receipt of the written grievance, the Department Head or his or her representative(s) shall meet with the grievant. Within seven (7) calendar days, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, a written decision shall be given to the grievant.

Step 3: City Manager

If the grievance/appeal is not settled under Step 2 it may be appealed in writing to the City Manager within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of the written decision from Step 2. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the written grievance/appeal, the City Manager or his or her representative shall meet with the grievant/appellant. Within fourteen (14) calendar days thereafter, a written decision shall be given to the grievant/appellant. The decision of the City Manager shall be final and binding on all parties.

Article XII - Disciplinary Action

A. <u>Disciplinary Authority</u>

The City shall have the right to demote, discharge, reduce in pay, or suspend without pay for up to thirty (30) days, any employee for just cause.

B. Just Cause

Just cause includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- 1. Violation of any Federal, State, or local law impacting the employee's employment.
- 2. Using, possessing, dealing, distributing, or being under the influence of intoxicating beverages/substances, unprescribed narcotics or unlawful drugs while on duty or at work locations, or reporting to work or operating City vehicles or equipment under the influence of alcohol/substance or any unlawful or unprescribed drug.
- 3. Failure or refusal to comply with a lawful order or to accept a reasonable and proper assignment from an authorized supervisor or City management official.
- 4. Inefficiency, incompetence, carelessness, or negligence in the performance of duties.
- 5. Sexual harassment or other unlawful harassment, discrimination or retaliation of another employee.
- 6. Chronic or excessive absenteeism, or inconsistent attendance.
- 7. Rude or discourteous treatment of other employees or the public.

- 8. Inattention to duty, tardiness, carelessness or negligence in the course and scope of employment or in the care and handling of City property.
- 9. Loss or misuse of City funds, including, but not limited to, theft, embezzlement, misappropriation of City funds, including via a City credit card or use of City funds for personal purposes. Personal purposes are those activities which are for personal enjoyment, private gain or advantage, or an outside endeavor not related to City business.
- 10. Improper or unauthorized personal use of City vehicles, buildings, facilities, tools, equipment, office machines, stationery, supplies or other City real or personal property.
- 11. Misuse of sick leave.
- 12. Furnishing false information to secure appointment, or falsification of timecards or other records and reports.
- Absence from duty without authorized leave, failure to report after leave of absence has expired or after such leave of absence has been disapproved, revoked, or canceled.
- 14. Violation of Departmental rules and policies, or any written policies that may be prescribed by the City.
- 15. Acceptance of any bribe, gratuity, kickback, or other item of value when such is given in the hope or expectation of receiving preferential treatment.
- 16. Outside work that creates a conflict of interest with City work, or detracts from the efficiency of the employee in the effective performance of City functions.
- 17. Failure to obtain or maintain necessary qualification, certificate, or license, which is required as a condition of employment.
- 18. Possession of an unsafe driving record for those employees required to operate City vehicles.
- 19. An unsatisfactory performance rating in one or more performance competencies.
- 20. Accepting a gift or gifts with a value in excess of the gift restriction limit set forth in this MOU.
- 21. Other just cause.

C. Pre-Disciplinary Procedures for Suspension, Demotion, Reduction or Discharge

- 1. Prior to suspending, demoting, reducing or discharging an employee, a written notice of such proposed disciplinary action shall be served on the employee personally, or by certified mail, at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the effective date of the proposed action. Such written notice shall contain:
 - a. a description of the proposed action and its effective date(s);
 - b. a statement of the reasons for such proposed action, including the acts or omissions on which the proposed action is based;
 - c. copies of material on which the proposed action is based;
 - d. a statement of the employee's right to respond, either orally or in writing, prior to the effective date of such proposed action;
 - e. a statement of the employee's right to representation;
 - f. a statement of the employee's right to appeal should such proposed action become final.
- 2. Prior to the effective date of such suspension, demotion, reduction or discharge, an employee will be given an opportunity to respond either orally or in writing, at the employee's option, to his or her Department Head.
- 3. An employee shall receive written notice either sustaining, modifying or cancelling the proposed disciplinary action prior to the effective date of such action.
- 4. Should a proposed suspension, demotion, reduction or discharge become final, an employee shall have the right to appeal such action pursuant to D. of this Article.
- 5. An employee shall be given reasonable time off without loss of pay to attend a pre-disciplinary meeting with his or her Department Head and any disciplinary appeal hearing pursuant to this Article.
- 6. An employee may represent himself or herself or may be represented by a representative of his/her choice in a pre-disciplinary meeting with his or her Department Head and any disciplinary appeal hearing pursuant to this Article.
- 7. The pre-disciplinary procedural requirements set forth above shall not apply to suspensions of three (3) days or less.

D. <u>Disciplinary Appeals</u>

- 1. An appeal of a suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay or discharge may be appealed to the City Manager. The appeal shall be presented to the City Manager within ten (10) calendar days following the employee's receipt of the Department Head's written notice of discipline pursuant to C.3 of this Article. All disciplinary appeals shall be in writing, and shall be signed by the employee or by a representative of OCEA.
- 2. The City Manager may hear the appeal personally, or may refer the appeal to a Hearing Officer for hearing and an advisory recommendation; provided, however, that all discharge appeals shall be referred to a Hearing Officer for an advisory recommendation. In the case of a discharge appeal, the employee may request a Hearing Officer be selected from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association. If the parties are unable to mutually agree upon a Hearing Officer, they shall request the selected organization to supply a panel of seven (7) names of persons experienced in hearing disciplinary appeals for cities. Each party shall alternately strike a name until only one name remains. The remaining panel member shall be the hearing officer. The order of striking shall be determined by flipping a coin. The hearing will be conducted as soon as practical following the City Manager's receipt of the appeal. The cost of a hearing officer shall be paid by the City.
- 3. The issue in all disciplinary appeals shall be: Was (employee's name) (suspended without pay, demoted, reduced in pay, discharged) for just cause and was the penalty imposed appropriate?
- 4. The City Manager may sustain, reduce or rescind an appealed disciplinary action. If an action to suspend, demote or reduce in pay is reduced or rescinded, the appellant shall be entitled to restoration of pay and/or fringe benefits in a manner consistent with the City Manager's decision. If an action to discharge is reduced, the appellant shall be restored to a position in his or her former class subject to forfeiture of pay and fringe benefits for all or a portion of the period of time the appellant was removed from duty as determined by the City Manager. If an action to discharge is rescinded, the appellant shall be reinstated in a position in his or her former class and shall receive pay and fringe benefits for all of the period of time he or she was removed from duty. The City Manager shall issue a final decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the matter is closed, including the filing of any final briefs.
- 5. Disciplinary appeal hearings shall be private.

- 6. The employee (or their representative) may request in writing, at least twenty (20) calendar days prior to the scheduled hearing date, that the City provide copies of all documentary evidence to be used by the City at the hearing. Such evidence shall be provided no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the scheduled hearing date. Any evidence not so provided may not be admitted or offered as evidence at the subsequent hearing except that any such documentary evidence discovered by a party after such request for copies but not soon enough to comply with the above time limits may be admitted providing it could not have been discovered sooner by reasonable means and provided further that a copy or copies of such evidence be afforded the requesting party as soon as practical after such discovery. Nothing contained herein shall operate to prevent either party from presenting additional documents by way of rebuttal.
- 7. An employee shall not suffer loss of pay for time spent as a witness at a hearing held pursuant to this procedure. The number of witnesses requested to attend and their scheduling shall be reasonable.
- 8. At the hearing, both the appealing employee and the City shall have the right to be heard and to present evidence. The following rules shall apply:
 - a. Oral evidence shall be taken only on oath or affirmation.
 - b. Each party shall have these rights: to call and examine witnesses, to introduce exhibits, to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though that matter was not covered in the direct examination, to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify and to rebut the evidence against the witness.
- 9. The hearing need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might have made improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but shall not be sufficient in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions. The rules of privilege shall be effective to the same extent that they are now or hereafter may be recognized in civil actions and irrelevant and unduly repetitious evidence shall be excluded.
- 10. The decision of the City Manager shall be final and binding on all parties.

Article XIII-Maintenance of Benefits

It is the understanding of the parties that the wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment contained in this MOU will not be reduced and shall remain in full force and effect during the entire term of this MOU; except as expressly provided herein or except by mutual agreement.

Article XIV - Salary

A. Salary Ranges (Full-Time)

The salary ranges for full-time classifications covered by this Agreement shall be established as set forth in Attachment 5.

B. Salary Rate Adjustments (Full-Time)

The salary rates for full-time employees in classifications covered by this Agreement shall be adjusted as follows:

January 1,2020 3.0% January 1,2021 2.5%

Additionally, upon adoption of this MOU, all existing full-time personnel covered by this MOU shall receive a one-time, non-pensionable, lump sum bonus payment in the amount of \$775.

C. <u>Pay-for-Performance Program/Long-term Employee Incentive Program</u>

Effective October 1, 2013, a merit-based Pay for Performance Program was implemented. That Program continues subject to the following. Employees shall receive annual performance reviews on or around their employment anniversary date. For employees with a base rate of pay below the maximum of their salary range, merit increases shall be granted as follows:

Unsatisfactory: No increase Needs improvements: No increase Meets expectations: 1.5% Exceeds Expectations: 2.25% Outstanding: 3.0% Any portion of a salary increase that exceeds the salary maximum shall be paid as a one-time non-pensionable lump sum bonus. A bonus received under the Pay for Performance Incentive Pay program is not considered base salary and is a lump sum payment separate from the base rate of pay.

If a n employee receives a performance evaluation of Unsatisfactory or Needs Improvement, the employee will be re-evaluated in six months and again on his/her subsequent anniversary date. If performance has not improved, the City shall take appropriate action as described in Article XII.

D. <u>Salary Step Adjustments (Part-Time)</u>

Wages for part-time classifications shall be adjusted as provided for in Section B above and shall be increased as necessary to comply with California Minimum Wage.

E. <u>Salary Step Adjustment (Part-Time)</u>

Salary rate adjustments for part-time employees shall be administered in accordance with Attachment 2 to this Agreement. Standard performance shall earn a one (1) step increase. Merit increases for part-time employees may be granted for additional steps within the salary range based upon the employee's exceptional performance upon the recommendation of the Department Head and approval by the City Manager.

Additionally, upon adoption of this MOU, all exiting full-time classifications that are regularly scheduled on a part-time basis and are enrolled in CalPERS shall receive a one-time, non-pensionable, lump sum bonus payment in the amount of \$225.

Additionally, upon adoption of this MOU, all existing part-time personnel that are not otherwise covered in this section, shall receive a one-time, non-pensionable, lump sum bonus payment in the amount of \$75.

Employees shall receive compensation at the hourly rate of pay for the range and step or salary rate assigned to the class in which they are employed.

Notwithstanding anything in this division to the contrary, when in the judgment of the City it becomes necessary or desirable to utilize the services of employees in capacities other than those for which they are regularly employed, the City may authorize and, if appropriate, identify an alternative rate of compensation for such employees that is the next salary step above, not to exceed five (5) percent.

F. <u>Pay for New Employees</u>

- 1. A new employee shall be appointed at the minimum step or salary rate of the salary range in effect for the particular class of position to which the appointment is made.
- 2. The City Manager may authorize a particular position be filled at any salary rate or step within the range.

Under no circumstance shall the salary rate for any full-time employee or part-time employee be more than the maximum salary rate, or less than the minimum salary rate, of the salary range established for the employee's job classification.

G. Salary on Promotion

A regular or probationary employee who is promoted to a position in a class with a higher salary range shall receive the minimum rate of pay of the salary range for the higher class or such higher amount as would constitute at least a five (5) percent increase over the salary received prior to the promotion not to exceed the maximum salary rate or top step on the new range. A new merit increase eligibility date shall be established which will be the first day of the pay period following completion of the first twenty-six (26) weeks of service in the new class.

H. Salary on Reduction

- 1. When an employee is demoted to a position in a lower class for reasons of unsatisfactory performance, his or her salary shall be reduced to the salary rate or step of the new range that would constitute a 5% decrease from the salary received prior to the reduction, or he or she shall receive the maximum step of the range of the new class, whichever is lower. His or her merit increase eligibility date shall be the first day of the pay period following completion of fifty-two (52) weeks of service in the new range, in which case his or her merit increase eligibility date shall be the first day of the pay period following completion of twenty-six (26) weeks of service in the new class.
- 2. When an employee in good standing is reduced to a position in a lower class for reasons other than unsatisfactory performance, he or she shall receive the highest salary in the new salary range that does not exceed his or her rate of pay immediately prior to reduction and shall retain his or her merit increase eligibility date.

3. When a probationary employee is reduced to a class he or she has not previously occupied, he or she shall be placed at a rate of pay that is 5% below the current rate of pay or the top step of the lower classification (whichever is lower) for the lower class and shall receive a new merit increase eligibility date as determined by the City Manager. A promotional probationary employee reduced to a class he or she formerly occupied in good standing shall have the step status, probationary status and merit increase eligibility date he or she would have achieved if he or she had remained in the lower class throughout the period of his or her service in the higher class.

I. <u>Acting Status Pay</u>

When an employee has been temporarily assigned to perform the duties of a higher classification for one-hundred sixty (160) consecutive hours, the employee will be temporarily promoted to the higher classification for the duration of the assignment and the employee's salary will be temporarily adjusted in accordance with Section G (Salary on Promotion) of this Article.

Article XV - Workweek. Overtime and Premium Pay

A. <u>Workweek</u>

- 1. The official workweek for employees shall be forty (40) hours and shall begin on each Friday and end with the following Thursday. Authorized work performed in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek by non-exempt employees shall be overtime and compensated in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
- 2. Hours of work are set by the City and may include varying work schedules that support the service needs of the department. Regular schedules are assigned by the Department Head and any changes must be approved by the City Manager in writing. Department Heads shall consider an employee's request on an individual basis. Employees shall be given a fourteen (14) calendar day advance notice of a shift change (hours of work) whenever practical.
- 3. No employee shall be permitted to work more than sixteen (16) consecutive hours except in an emergency situation.
- 4. The City shall meet and confer with OCEA concerning any proposed changes in existing scheduled days of work.

B. <u>Overtime</u>

1. <u>Notification of Employees</u>

If work beyond the employees assigned regular hours of work/work schedule of an employee is required, the employee who may be asked to perform such overtime shall be notified of the apparent need for such overtime as soon as practical prior to when the overtime is expected to begin.

2. <u>Distribution of Overtime</u>

- a. Overtime opportunities shall be offered to employees capable of performing the work. The City shall distribute overtime work among those employees that are qualified and available to perform the work, in an equitable manner.
- b. If the responsible supervisor determines that overtime is necessary on work that started on an assigned shift, the assigned employee(s) may continue with that work as an extension of the assigned shift.
- c. The City and OCEA shall upon request of either party meet and confer and, in so doing, shall attempt to reach agreement regarding specific provisions for the distribution of overtime among employees of various individual work units.

3. <u>Payment for Overtime</u>

- Authorized work performed in excess of forty (40) hours worked in a work week by non-exempt employees shall be paid as overtime pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA). Paid leave does not count as hours worked for FLSA overtime eligibility.
- b. Overtime may be converted to compensatory time or paid for at the option of the employee subject to a maximum accrual of forty (40) hours. Employees with existing compensatory time balances of forty (40) hours shall be paid for all overtime work performed in excess of that amount.
- c. Employees requesting to use compensatory time must provide reasonable notice of their request to use accrued comp time. A supervisor may not deny a timely request for compensatory time off unless the time off would be unduly disruptive to the City.
- d. All overtime worked must have the prior authorization of the Department Head prior to the commencement of such overtime work. Exception may be made in instances that are deemed to be an emergency or where

communication cannot be established between the employee and supervisor. Failure to comply with the department pre-authorization procedure for overtime may result in disciplinary action.

e. An employee separating from the City service shall be paid for accumulated compensatory time at the regular rate of pay with their final paycheck.

C. <u>Rest Periods and Cleanup Time</u>

- 1. Employees shall be allowed paid rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes during each four (4) consecutive hours of work. Such a rest period shall be scheduled in accordance with the requirements of the work unit, but in no case shall rest periods be scheduled within one (1) hour of the beginning or the ending of a work shift or lunch period.
- 2. Each employee shall, when necessary, be permitted up to fifteen (15) minutes of paid time at the end of each work shift to perform such activities as personal wash-up and changing clothes.
- 3. The City shall provide a private employee rest area which is appropriately furnished to accommodate employees who need to lie down.

D. <u>Stand-By-Pay</u>

When an employee is assigned stand-by duty, the employee shall, whenever practical be informed in writing at least five (5) days in advance of the dates and inclusive hours of such assignment. The employee shall be compensated at one-fourth (.25) (twenty-five percent) of his or her basic hourly rate for the entire period of such assignment. Stand-by duty requires the employee so assigned to:

- 1. Be ready to respond immediately (within 30 minutes) to calls for his/her service.
- 2. Be reachable by telephone or cell phone.
- 3. Remain within a specified distance from his/her workstation that would result in the ability to respond to the location of the work within 30 minutes from receipt of a call; and
- 4. Refrain from activities which might impair his/her ability to perform his/her assigned duties.

Employees on standby who are called to return to work are paid for actual hours worked beginning at the time they arrive at the work site. Employees on standby are not provided with minimum pay as described in the call-back pay section of this MOU.

E. <u>Call-Back Pay</u>

- When an employee returns to work because of a request made after the employee has completed his or her normal work shift and left the workstation, the employee shall be credited with two (2) hours work plus any hours of work in excess of two (2) hours in which the employee is continuously engaged in work for which he or she was called.
- 2. There shall not be any duplication or pyramiding of rates paid under this Section. For example, an employee who was on standby is not eligible for call-back pay.

<u> Article XVI – Benefits</u>

A. <u>City Medical Insurance Contribution</u>

The City shall provide medical insurance to all full-time employees. Such insurance shall be provided as part of an Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) which shall include medical insurance, dental insurance, and vision insurance. Employees will have a choice of medical insurance plans offered through the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) health program.

Effective January 1, 2020, the City shall contribute the CalPERS minimum employer contribution per month toward the cost of medical insurance for full-time employees.

Effective January 1, 2021, the City shall contribute the CalPERS minimum employer contribution per month toward the cost of medical insurance for full-time employees.

B. Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan)

In addition to the City's contribution toward medical insurance, the City shall provide an Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) for full-time employees to allocate funds as permitted under the cafeteria plan.

Effective January 1, 2020, upon adoption of this MOU, the City's monthly contribution to the optional benefits plan shall be as follows:

Coverage	Contribution
Employee	\$612
Employee + 1 dependent	\$1,344
Family	\$1,754
Medical Opt-Out	\$478

Effective January 1, 2021, the City's monthly contribution shall be increased by an amount equal to the average of the CalPERS HMO rates, not to exceed an increase of 9.5%. All full-time employees must enroll in one of the PERS health program plans, unless they submit to the City both: (1) proof of other health coverage; and (2) a signed insurance waiver affidavit that complies with the Affordable Care Act's Eligible Opt Out Arrangement. Full time employees who waive health insurance coverage shall receive the Medical Opt-Out allocation toward their optional benefits plan but shall not receive the City medical insurance contribution. All full-time employees must enroll in a dental plan and a vision plan.

Employees who select insurance plans with a lower cost than the employer contributions received under Paragraph A and Paragraph B will receive the balance in a pro-rated amount per pay period. Employees who select insurance plans with a higher premium than the contributions received under Paragraph A and Paragraph B shall contribute the difference between those amounts and the selected plans via payroll deduction.

CalPERS requires that all agencies choosing to participate in its health program provide coverage for retirees. The City shall provide retiree coverage pursuant to the CalPERS requirements.

CalPERS also requires that all agencies choosing to participate in its health program provide coverage for PERS-eligible part-time employees. During the term of this MOU, the City shall make the City medical insurance contribution, but part-time employees shall not receive the contribution to the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan). PERS-eligible part-time employees who choose to enroll in a health insurance program shall pay the difference between the City's minimum contribution and the cost of the selected plan.

The City contribution for eligible part-time employees shall only be available to employees for health insurance. Part- time employees who choose not to enroll in one of the PERS health insurance plans shall not receive the Medical Opt-Out allocation and shall obtain no benefit or cash equivalent under this Article.

In accordance with the Affordable Care Act (ACA), the City will provide a medical insurance benefit to those employees who qualify under the ACA. The amount of the stipend will be a minimum of the amount established by CalPERS, up to an amount required to

make the premium "affordable" as delineated in the ACA. Qualification and premium contribution for coverage under the ACA is determined annually.

OCEA and City acknowledge that City's willingness to participate in the CalPERS health program has been based, in part, on the: (1) availability of the Unequal Contribution Method for retirees; and (2) the minimum employer contribution for PERS-eligible part-time employees. In the event of a change in State law that increases the minimum employer contribution for retirees or part-time employees, or a change in CalPERS rules, regulations or policies that alters or eliminates the Unequal Contribution Method for retirees, OCEA and City representatives shall promptly meet and consult on the impact of such changes on the City's short-term and long-term cost of health insurance. After such consultation, if City determines that such changes will have a significant impact on short-term or long-term employer costs, the City reserves the right to withdraw from the CalPERS Health Program, and provide alternate health insurance coverage to City employees.

C. <u>Dental Insurance</u>

The City shall provide dental insurance to all full-time employees and their dependents. Dental insurance will be provided through the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) set forth above.

D. <u>Vision Care Plan</u>

The City shall provide vision care insurance to all full-time employees and their dependents. Vision insurance will be provided through the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) set forth in above.

E. <u>PERS Retirement Plan</u>

The City shall provide retirement benefits through the Public Employee's Retirement System (PERS). The benefit shall be based upon the following PERS Local Miscellaneous formulas, as follows:

Tier 1-PERS 2% @ 55

Full time employees and PERS eligible part time employees hired on or before March 23, 2012 shall contribute 7% of their salary toward the Employee Contribution Rate. The retirement allowance is based on the highest one-year final compensation.

Tier 2 – 2% @ 60

Full time employees and PERS eligible part time employees hired after March 23, 2012 shall contribute 7% of their salary toward the Employee Contribution Rate. The retirement allowance is based on the highest 36-months compensation.

Tier 3 - 2% @ 62

New City employees hired after January 1, 2013 who are "new members" under the CalPERS regulations shall contribute one-half the normal cost as determined annually by CalPERS. The retirement allowance is based on the highest 36-months compensation.

The City also offers the following potential benefit provisions:

Section 20930.3	Military Service Credit as Public Service
Section 21573	Third Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits
Section 21022.1	Industrial Disability Retirement for Local Miscellaneous
	Members
	(For employees hired prior to March 23, 2012)

F. <u>Life Insurance</u>

Full-time employees shall be provided a life insurance plan benefit in the amount of the employee's annual salary, not to exceed \$50,000, providing coverage for the eligible employee only. The City shall pay the full cost of plan coverage.

G. **Disability Insurance**

The City shall provide long-term disability insurance coverage for all full-time employees. The City shall pay the full cost of plan coverage.

H. Deferred Compensation Plan

The City shall provide a deferred compensation plan to provide employees a mechanism by which they may reduce their salary and pay for supplemental retirement benefits with pretax dollars. The City will contribute 50 cents for every \$1 (one dollar) of salary contributed to the deferred compensation plan by an employee. The City's contribution shall not exceed 3% of an employee's annual base salary. In no event shall the City's and Employees combined contribution exceed the applicable annual limit set by the Internal Revenue Code. The City's contribution shall be limited to full-time employees and will be contributed on a monthly basis.

H. <u>Mileage Reimbursement</u>

The City will provide mileage reimbursement, at the IRS-approved rate, to employees who are required to use their personal vehicle for City business.

I. Educational Reimbursement

The City will provide an Educational Reimbursement Program for full-time employees. Eligible employees may request reimbursement, not to exceed \$1,000 per fiscal year, for actual expenses incurred for tuition, books and fees for college-level, job-related courses, certifications, training courses or degree curricula. All requests must be approved in advance by the Department Head and City Manager. Reimbursement for a course will only be made after satisfactory completion of the course with a grade of C or better.

The City will annually budget \$40,000 in the Educational Reimbursement Program account. Educational reimbursement requests will be handled on a first-come, first-serve basis.

Article XVII - Section 125 Plan Flexible Spending Account

The City will provide an IRS Code Section 125 Plan to provide employees a mechanism by which they may reduce their salary and pay for eligible medical reimbursement and/or childcare expenses with pre-tax dollars.

The parties acknowledge that the City's willingness to offer a Section 125 Plan is conditioned upon City's ability to maintain a binding and enforceable Reimbursement Agreement that will require an employee to reimburse the City for any health insurance premium, health care or child care expenses advanced or incurred on behalf of the employee and that are not fully reimbursable from the employee's Flexible Spending Account. All employees shall be required to sign the Reimbursement Agreement as a pre-condition to enrolling in the amended Section 125 Plan.

Article XVIII - Vacation

- A. An employee may not use or be compensated by vacation accruals for more than eighty (80) regularly scheduled hours of work in any pay period. Accrued vacation hours are provided upon completion of each pay period. No vacation accrual shall be given during any paid period or for any portion of a pay period during which the employee terminates from City service.
- B. A new employee in a full time position will receive a lump sum of eighty (80) hours of vacation when he or she has completed two thousand eighty (2080) regularly scheduled paid hours (approximately 1 year) of work. He or she shall then earn .0382 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation accrual at any one time shall be two-hundred (200) hours. Once an employee reaches the

maximum accrual, no additional accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.

- C. After a full-time employee has been paid for six thousand two-hundred forty (6240) regularly scheduled hours (approximately 3 years), he or she shall earn .0577 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation accrual at any one time shall be two hundred eighty (280) hours. Once an employee reaches the maximum accrual, no additional accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.
- D. After a full-time employee in a regular position has been paid for twenty thousand eight hundred (20,800) regularly scheduled hours (approximately 10 years), he or she shall earn .077 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation credit at any one time shall be three hundred sixty (360) hours. Once an employee reaches the maximum accrual, no additional accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.
- E. The minimum increment of time for use of vacation accruals shall be one-half (1/2) hour; additional actual absence over one-half (1/2) hour shall be charged to the nearest half hour. Additional vacation time earned during any vacation period may be taken during the pay period in which it is earned. No employee shall be permitted to work for compensation for the City in any capacity during any paid vacation except during emergencies as determined by the Department Head.
- F. The Department Head is responsible for scheduling the vacations of employees in such a manner as to achieve the most efficient functioning of the City. An employee separating from the City shall be paid for all accrued vacation in a lump sum payment with the final paycheck.
- G. From adoption of this MOU through December 31, 2020, employees may request to cash out up to sixty five (65) hours of vacation. To be eligible for the payment of vacation, an employee must have used an equivalent number of vacation hours in the preceding six months. Requests for vacation cash out are subject to City Manager approval and economic feasibility.

Effective January 1, 2021 and continuing thereafter, employees must submit an irrevocable election form, by no later than December 15th of the preceding calendar year, to cash-out vacation. Employees may elect to cash out their annual vacation accrual for the following year, subject to a maximum of sixty five (65) hours of vacation and the requirement that the employee has used at least an equal number of vacation hours as the number of hours requested on the irrevocable election form. The cash-out is for hours to be accrued in the

calendar year following submission of the irrevocable election form. For example, to receive a cash payment for vacation in December 2021, irrevocable election forms must be submitted by December 15, 2020.

The payment shall be made via payroll with the last paycheck in the following December after receipt of the irrevocable election form.

Employees who do not submit an irrevocable election form by December 15th will be deemed as foregoing participation in the optional annual leave cash-out program for that following calendar year.

In the event an employee has less hours in their vacation bank at the time the cash-out is to be paid than they had previously elected to cash-out, the employee shall only be paid for up to the amount remaining in their vacation bank at the time of the actual cash-out.

An employee who experiences an unforeseeable emergency may be permitted to make a new irrevocable election and/or to increase the amount of a previous election, subject to the same value that was permitted at the time the annual irrevocable election forms were due.

For these purposes, an "unforeseeable emergency" means a financial hardship to the employee resulting from any of the following:

- 1. Accident, illness, injury or death of the employee or an immediate family member. For this purpose, an "immediate family member" is restricted to a spouse, registered domestic partner, child/legal dependent, or parent; or
- 2. Loss or extensive damage to the employee's property due to casualty; or
- 3. Other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control of the participant.

Whether an occurrence is an unforeseeable emergency shall be solely determined by the City Manager or designee.

H. Part-time employees do not accrue vacation.

Article XIX – Leaves

A. <u>Accumulation of Sick Leave</u>

- 1. Sick leave with pay shall be earned at the rate of eight hours for each calendar month (96 hours per year) of service for full-time employees. Sick leave hours accrue on a per pay period basis.
- 2. Sick leave may be applied to:
 - a. An absence caused by illness or injury to an employee.

- b. Medical and dental office appointments for examinations when absence during working hours for this purpose is authorized by the Department Head.
- c. Absence from duty by an employee because his or her presence is needed to attend to the critical illness of a member of his or her immediate family where death appears imminent, provided that such absence shall be limited to a maximum of forty-eight (48) hours per calendar year. For purposes of this section, immediate family shall mean father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, step-parent, brother, step-brother, sister, step-sister, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, grandparent, grandchild, legal guardian or other individuals whose relationship to the employee is that of a dependent or near dependent.
- d. Absence from duty by an employee to attend to the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventative care for a child, parent, spouse, registered domestic partner, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandchild or sibling; provided, however, that such absence shall be limited to a maximum of forty-eight (48) hours per Calendar Year.
- e. An absence of an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- 3. The minimum increment of time to use sick leave accruals shall be one-half (1/2) hour and additional absences over one-half (1/2) hour shall be charged to the nearest half hour (1/2).
- 4. Any employee who is absent from work must report his or her absence to his or her immediate supervisor at or before the scheduled work time each day of absence. In the case of prolonged periods of absence due to serious illness, employees may arrange, at the discretion of their immediate supervisor, to report less frequently.
- 5. Upon separation, retirement with benefits from CalPERS, or death, an employee or the employee's estate shall be paid for a portion of the employee's unused sick leave in an amount computed as provided below:

For full-time employees hired before October 1, 1994:

Years of Service	Percent of Unused Sick Leave Paid For
Less than 2	None
2 or more	50%

For full-time employees hired on or after October 1, 1994:

Years of Service	Percent of Unused Sick Leave Paid For
Less than 10	None
10 or more	25%

No unused sick leave benefit shall be paid to any employee who is terminated for just cause.

- 7. Full-time employees hired before October 1,2011 shall have the option to convert accrued but unused sick leave, in excess of 176 hours, to additional floating holidays for the calendar year. The conversion rate shall be twenty-five percent (25%). For example, thirty-two (32) hours of sick leave may be converted to eight (8) hours of floating holiday. No more than ninety-six (96) hours of sick leave may be converted to no more than twenty four (24) hours of floating holiday in any calendar year. Any unused floating holiday hours will be forfeited at the end of a calendar year.
- 8. New employees hired on or after October 1,2011 shall not be paid for any portion of unused sick leave upon separation, termination or retirement from the City and shall not have any right to convert accrued unused sick leave to additional floating holidays or any other form of paid leave during their course of employment with the City.

B. <u>Bereavement Leave</u>

Full-time employees shall be granted five (5) days leave of absence on account of the death of any member of his or her immediate family. For purposes of this Section, immediate family shall mean father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, step-parent, brother, step-brother, sister, step-sister, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, grandparent, grandchild, legal guardian or other individuals whose relationship to the employee is that of a dependent or near dependent.

C. <u>Authorized Leave Without Pay</u>

- 1. The City Manager may authorize leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) year provided that any such leave shall commence after all accumulated compensatory time, vacation, and sick leave (if applicable) accruals have been exhausted.
- 2. All requests for leaves of absence without pay shall state the reason therefore, the commencement date, and the probable date of return.
- 3. Each employee granted leave of absence without pay shall give the City Manager two (2) weeks prior notice of his or her intent to return to work.
- 4. Except for mitigating circumstances approved by the City Manager, the failure of any employee to return to work upon the expiration of his/her leave of absence shall be deemed an abandonment of his/her position.
- 5. Vacation and sick leave shall cease to accrue during any period of leave without pay. An employee may continue to participate in the City's health and other insurance plans at his or her own expense.

D. Jury Duty Leave

An employee who is called for jury duty or for examination for jury duty shall be compensated at the employee's base hourly rate of pay for those hours of absence due to the jury duty which occur during the employee's regularly scheduled working hours provided the employee deposits the employee's fees for such hours of jury duty, exclusive of mileage, with the City. Fees for jury duty performed during hours other than regularly scheduled working hours may be retained by the employee. Any hours worked beyond the regularly scheduled workday shall be subject to the workweek and overtime provisions of Article XV, so long as the employee provides written proof of additional hours from said date and time.

E. <u>Witness Leave</u>

An employee who is called to answer a subpoena as a witness during the employee's work hours shall be compensated at his or her base hourly rate of pay for all hours of absence from work due to answering the subpoena provided the employee shows proof of such subpoena and deposits witness fees received for such hours, exclusive of mileage, with the City. Fees for answering a subpoena as a witness during hours other than regularly scheduled working hours may be retained by the employee.

F. <u>Family and Medical Leave</u>

The City will comply with the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). For further information please refer to the City Policy pertaining to FMLA.

G. <u>Maternity Leave</u>

The City will comply with the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) and Pregnancy Disability Leave Act. For further information please refer to the City Policy pertaining to Maternity Leave.

H. Industrial Accident Leave

In the event that it is determined that an employee is absent from work as a result of any injury or disease arising solely out of the employment with the City:

- 1. Temporary disability benefits shall be coordinated with accrued sick leave, vacation, compensatory time and any other benefits so that the employee shall receive the difference between the Worker's Compensation payments and his or her regular salary. Coordination of benefits shall cease at such time that the employee's condition is deemed permanent and stationary as determined by the City's appointed doctor. This shall be in compliance with workers' compensation laws.
- 2. An on-the-job injury or accident must be reported to the employee's immediate supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours after said injury or accident. In the event of an on-the-job injury or accident resulting in loss of time beyond that required for immediate medical attention, such employee may be required to be examined by a licensed physician appointed by the City of Laguna Niguel. An employee may be required to perform light-duty or restricted work if medically released to perform such work by the City's physician.
- 3. The employee shall continue to accrue Sick Leave and Vacation Leave during the term of the Industrial Accident Leave taken.

I. <u>Military Leave</u>

An employee having a probationary or regular appointment shall be entitled to such benefits as are provided in the California Military and Veterans Code and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act ("USERRA"). An employee requesting such Military Leave shall present a copy of his or her military orders to his or her Department Head prior to the beginning of the Leave.

Employees are entitled to a temporary Military Leave of Absence not to exceed 180 calendar days per year. Employees having one (1) year or more of continuous service and granted a temporary Military Leave of Absence are entitled to receive the equivalent salary up to the first thirty (30) calendar days of leave. Weekend drills are excluded from meaning of ordered Military Leave which means employees do not receive salary in excess of their regular salary for these drills.

This MOU does not cover all circumstances covered by California law or USERRA. Where there is a conflict, California law and USERRA govern.

Article XX – Holidays

A. Holidays Observed

1. Employees shall observe the following holidays: New Year's Day Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Presidents' Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day Day after Christmas New Year's Eve *Two (2) Floating Holidays or 16 hours (see below)

*(Effective the first pay period of January of each year, each full-time employee, will receive two (2) floating holidays (16 hours) for use during the calendar year. For employees hired during the calendar year (after the first pay period in January), the amount of hours shall be pro-rated based on the month of hire (1.33 hours/month). Floating holidays must be used during the calendar year in which they were granted.)

2. When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the next day shall be observed as the holiday. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding day shall be observed as the holiday.

B. <u>Eligibility for Holiday Pay</u>

- 1. An employee must be paid for all or a portion of both the regularly scheduled working day immediately prior to a holiday and the regularly scheduled working day immediately after that holiday in order to receive holiday pay. With City approval, compensatory time earned for working on a holiday or for a holiday falling on a regularly scheduled day off may be taken on the first scheduled working day after the holiday.
- 2. A new employee whose first working day is the day after a holiday shall not be paid for the holiday.
- 3. An employee who is terminating employment and whose last day as a paid employee is the day before a holiday shall not be paid for that holiday.

C. <u>Holiday Pay</u>

- 1. On each of the holidays designated above, each full-time employee scheduled to work but permitted to take the day off shall be paid for the hours they were regularly scheduled to work.
- 2. <u>Compensation for Holidays falling on scheduled days off</u>

When a holiday falls on a full-time employee's regularly scheduled day off, the employee shall receive pay or compensatory time at the option of the employee for the number of regularly their scheduled hours on the day of the holiday.

3. <u>Compensation for Work on Holidays</u>

An employee who is required to work on a holiday shall receive pay computed at one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's basic hourly rate for the number of hours actually worked.

- 4. Holidays which fall during an employee's vacation period shall not be charged against the employee's vacation balance.
- 5. Part-Time employees are not eligible for holiday pay or time off with pay on a designated holiday as provided in this article.

Article XXI – Part-Time Employee General Leave Program

- 1. Part-time employees in classifications represented by this unit are not eligible for leave benefits provided to full-time employees or to those leaves of absence provisions provided for in this MOU.
- 2. Part-Time employees are eligible for General Leave (which is intended to provide more than the minimum leave required under California's Paid Sick Leave Law) and may be used for time off for any purpose.
- 3. Part-time employees must request to use general leave using the process required by their department.
- 4. General Leave for part-time employees accrues as follows:
 - a. Part-Time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .042 per actual hour worked upon hire through the completion of four years of service (48 months).
 - b. Beginning with the 5th year (49th month) of employment and through the completion of nine years (108 months) of employment, part-time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .084 per actual hour worked.
 - c. Beginning with the 10th year (109th month) of employment, part-time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .168 per actual hour worked.
- 5. General Leave has a maximum accrual of one hundred hours (100).
- 6. General leave has no cash value during employment or upon separation of employment.

Article XXII - Layoff and Recall

A. Layoff Authority

The City may, in its sole discretion, abolish any position or employment due to lack of work, lack of funds, reorganization or other legitimate reason or business purpose. The employee holding such position or employment may be laid off without disciplinary action and without right of appeal.

B. <u>Seniority and Employee Performance</u>

Seniority and employee performance shall govern the layoff of employees. Seniority shall be determined as the total number of years of full-time employment in the classification within the Department where the position is to be eliminated. Employee performance shall be determined on the basis of the most recent annual performance evaluation. A rating of "Outstanding" shall increase the employee's seniority by two (2) years. A rating of "Exceeds Expectations" shall increase the employee's seniority by one (1) year. A rating of "Meets Expectations" shall neither increase nor decrease the employee's seniority. A rating of "Needs Improvement" shall decrease the employee's seniority by one (1) year. A rating of "Unsatisfactory" shall decrease the employee's seniority by two (2) years.

C. <u>Order of Layoff</u>

Layoffs shall be made by classification within a Department. The order of layoff shall be established by the City Manager or his/her designee. The order of layoff will begin with

the employee with the least total seniority as determined in accordance with Section B of this Article. If two (2) or more employees have the same seniority, the City Manager, after consideration of Citywide seniority and consultation with the Department Head, shall determine the order of layoff for these employees. No regular full-time employee shall be laid off until all probationary, limited term, and part-time employees holding positions in the same class in the Department are first laid off.

D. <u>Notice of Layoff</u>

Employees to be laid off shall be given at least fourteen (14) calendar days notice.

E. Voluntary Demotion to Previously Held Position

A regular full-time employee who receives a final layoff notice may, within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the notice, request voluntary demotion to a previously held position in a lower classification that remains budgeted. In that event, the employee's seniority and position on the layoff list shall be reevaluated in accordance with Section B of this Article; provided, however, that seniority shall include the total number of years of full-time employment in the current classification and previously held position.

F. <u>Re-employment List and Recall</u>

The names of regular and probationary full-time employees laid off or demoted in-lieu of layoff shall be placed on re-employment lists for one (1) year. When a vacancy occurs in the subject classification, the appointing authority shall consider the former employees from the re-employment list. It is the responsibility of the employee on a re-employment list to keep the City informed of his/her current address and telephone number, and availability for work.

Article XXIII - Safety

A. <u>General Provisions</u>

Recognizing that a safe work environment is of substantial benefit to both the City and employees, the City and OCEA mutually agree to the following safety programs:

- 1. No employee shall be required to work under conditions dangerous to the employee's health or safety. An employee who has a safety concern should report that concern to any available supervisor.
- 2. The City shall make every reasonable effort to provide and maintain a safe place of employment. OCEA shall urge all employees to perform their work in a safe manner. Employees shall be alert to unsafe practices, equipment and conditions and report any such unsafe practices, equipment or conditions to their immediate supervisors. Employees shall follow safe practices and obey reasonable safety rules during the hours of their employment.
- 3. The City shall furnish all equipment which is necessary for employees to perform their job in a safe manner.
- 4. Wherever practical, the City shall provide the necessary first aid kits in each location.
- 5. Wherever practical, the City shall provide first aid training for one (1) employee at each new work location.

B. <u>Safety Inspection</u>

During inspection of City facilities conducted by the State Division of Industrial Safety for the purpose of determining compliance with the California OSHA requirements, an OCEA designated employee shall be allowed to accompany the inspector while the inspector is in the employee's department. The employee so designated shall suffer no loss of pay when this function is performed during the employee's regularly scheduled work hours.

C. <u>Abatement of Violations</u>

In any instance in which the City is cited for a violation of California OSHA, the City shall make a good faith effort to abate the cited hazard to health and safety within the abatement period required.

D. <u>Safety Committee Representatives</u>

- 1. Safety Committee Representatives may be selected by OCEA to meet at least once a quarter, upon request, with a City designated representative to discuss matters affecting employee health and safety.
- 2. A Safety Committee Representative who has received a safety or health complaint shall be given reasonable time off without loss of pay to gather appropriate information on such complaint provided that:
 - a. The Safety Committee reviews the complaint and determines the process to be used to gather information and evaluate the compliant.
 - b. When needed, the Safety Committee Representative may need to obtain permission from his or her supervisor prior to performing such work and reports back to the supervisor and/or the Safety Committee when the work is completed.
 - c. When an authorized Safety Committee Representative must go into another section or unit to gather information regarding a safety or health complaint, the Safety Committee Representative shall be permitted to do so provided that:
 - 1. The Safety Committee Representative checks in and checks out with the Human Resources representative; and
 - 2. He or she does not unduly interfere with the work of the unit.

E. <u>Resolution of Safety or Health Complaints</u>

If a safety or health complaint is not satisfactorily resolved, a grievance may be filed at Step3ofthe grievance procedure.

<u>Article XXIV - Uniforms, Safety Gear</u> <u>and Inclement Weather Gear</u>

Employees in designated classes shall be provided and required to wear City uniforms. The City will report the value of the required uniforms for eligible employees up to \$700 on an annual basis to CalPERS. Employees subject to PEPRA guidelines (new CalPERS members hired after January 1, 2013) are not eligible for uniforms benefit reporting to CalPERS. Steel toed shoes and safety glasses will be provided to employees whose regular duties require their usage and be replaced as needed. Rain gear will be provided to employees whose regular full-time duties require them to work outside on a continuous basis in the adverse elements.

Article XXV - Personnel Files

The official personnel file for each City employee shall be maintained by the Deputy City Manager, or designee. Employees have the right to review their official personnel file by scheduling a specific date and time, twenty-four (24) hours in advance, with the Personnel Officer. Documents designated by law as confidential shall not be subject to review by the employee.

A copy of any commendations, written warnings or reprimands, disciplinary actions, Personnel Action Forms and performance reviews placed in the employee's personnel file will be provided to the employee.

Written reprimands shall be retained at least two (2) years. If after two (2) years no similar or other unacceptable behavior is reported, the employee may request in writing that the reprimand be purged from his or her file. Upon review and approval of the Department Head the written reprimand shall be removed from the employee's file.

Article XXVI - Probationary Period

- A. Any new or re-employed employee in a regular position shall serve a probationary period for a period of twenty-six (26) weeks from the date of appointment or hiring. Management has full discretion to extend the probationary period for up to an additional 26 weeks if an employee needs additional time to be evaluated. Any extension of the probationary period is not contestable by the employee.
- B. Any employee who is promoted shall also serve a probationary period commencing on the date of promotion and ending on the first day of the pay period following the completion of twenty-six (26) weeks. A promotional probationary employee may be returned to their prior position during the probationary period without right of due process, appeal or hearing.
- C. A probationary employee (other than a promotional probationary employee) may be separated from service without cause at any time during any probation period without right of appeal or hearing.

Article XXVII-Performance Reviews

A. The City shall maintain a system of employee performance ratings designed to give a fair evaluation of the quantity and quality of work performed by an employee. Such ratings shall be prepared and recorded in the employee's personnel file for all regular full-time and part-time employees at least once each year; and in addition, for employees on probationary status, at least once near the middle of the probation period.

- B. The City shall discuss with the employee the specific ratings prior to such ratings being made part of the employee's personnel file.
- C. When a performance evaluation is recorded in the personnel file of an employee, a copy of such evaluation, together with any attachment relating thereto, shall be given to the employee. Any written response by the employee to the performance evaluation shall be attached to such evaluation in the personnel files.
- D. Employee performance evaluations shall be provided in a timely manner. If an employee's performance evaluation is not completed when it is due, the employee shall notify his/her Department Head/Supervisor in writing and request completion of the evaluation.

Effective July 1, 2020:

If an employee's performance evaluation is not completed within 30 days of when it is scheduled to be due, the employee shall notify the Deputy City Manager in writing to request completion of the evaluation.

E. The City shall provide OCEA with a list of performance evaluation dates for members of the bargaining unit.

Article XXVIII - Classification

A. The Establishment of New Classes

The City will provide OCEA an information copy of the new class specification and salary range for any proposed class in the representation unit. Whenever it is proposed to reclassify an incumbent employee to a proposed new class in the representation unit, the City agrees to meet and confer with OCEA in an attempt to reach agreement on the salary range for the proposed new class prior to submitting the proposed new class to the City Council for adoption.

B. <u>Procedure for Requesting Reclassification of a Position</u>

Step 1:

An employee who believes his or her position is not properly classified may submit a written request to his or her Department Head and the Deputy City Manager, or designee that a classification study be conducted. Requests shall state the reasons the employee believes the present class is not appropriate and which class the employee believes is appropriate based on the employee's present duties. Such request shall be submitted in January to permit consideration as part of the City's budget review and adoption process.

Step 2:

The Deputy City Manager, or designee shall perform a job analysis of the employee's duties and responsibilities, as well as the duties and responsibilities of incumbent employees within the class to which the employee seeks reclassification. The job analysis may include, but is not limited to: completion of job questionnaires or position description forms, interviews with key employees and supervisors, observation of performed duties, desk audits, etc. The findings and recommendations of the Deputy City Manager (or designee) shall be provided to the employee, the employee's Department Head and the City Manager.

Step 3:

If the Deputy City Manager (or designee) recommends that the employee be reclassified, and the City Manager concurs, the City Manager shall recommend such reclassification in the proposed City Budget for the ensuing fiscal year. If the Deputy City Manager (or designee) recommends that the reclassification request be denied, the employee may file a grievance at Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

C. <u>Limitations on Classification Studies</u>

An employee may not request a classification study if the position has been evaluated during the preceding two (2) years.

Article XXIX - Part-Time Employees

Part-time employees shall not be eligible for employer paid benefits, including leaves of absence unless explicitly stated in this MOU or otherwise required by law. Part-time employees shall include seasonal, temporary and emergency employees, and regular part-time employees who are normally scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours per week.

Part-time employees are "At-Will" employees, they serve at the pleasure of the City Manager, they have no expectation of continued employment, and they may be terminated or disciplined by the City Manager at any time with or without cause, and with or without receiving prior notice or having the right to pre-or-post disciplinary due process, including a hearing.

The City shall determine the number of hours that a part-time employee is assigned to work each week, and the number of hours may range from 0 to 40 hours per week at the discretion of the City.

Part-time employees shall not be covered under the layoff or recall provisions of this MOU.

The City shall determine the number of hours that a part-time employee is assigned to work each week, and the number of hours may range from 0 to 40 hours per week at the discretion of the City.

Part-time employees shall not be covered under the layoff or recall provisions of this MOU.

Article XXX - Limited Term Employees

Limited-term employee shall mean a person employed by the City on a full-time basis in a limited-term position. A limited-term position shall mean a position which the City has determined to be of uncertain long-term need, duration and/or funding. A limited-term employee shall be eligible for the same pay, paid leave and City insurance benefits that are provided to regular full-time employees. Limited-term employees shall be considered at-will employees who may be terminated by the City at any time, with or without cause or notice, and without pre-or-post disciplinary due process or right of appeal. Additionally, limited-term employees shall not be covered under the Layoff and Recall provisions of this MOU. However, after five (5) years of continuous employment, a limited-term full-time employee shall be converted to regular full-time employees by this MOU.

Article XXXI - Employee Recognition Program

City shall establish an Employee Recognition Program. OCEA shall establish an Employee Recognition Program Committee to work with the City on the planning and conduct of annual employee recognition events. The annual budget for employee recognition events shall be established by the City Council.

City shall recognize full-time employees for length of service to the City with a Gift card to a local business of the employee's choice. The cash value of the Gift card shall be \$10 for each year of full-time service to the City and shall be awarded at five-year intervals as follows:

5 Years of Service:	\$50
10 Years of Service:	\$100
15 Years of Service:	\$150
20 Years of Service:	\$200
25 Years of Service:	\$250
Etc.	

Article XXXII - Use of South Coast YMCA Facilities

The City owns the YMCA building at Crown Valley Community Park. The YMCA operates health and fitness facilities and programs under a long-term lease and operating agreement with the City. Both Full-time and part-time City employees shall have health and fitness facility use privileges at the YMCA building, subject to such terms and conditions that are mutually agreeable to the City and YMCA.

These use privileges are based on: (1) YMCA's consent to permit use of its health and fitness facilities by full-time City employees; and (2) the continuing acceptability of facility use terms and conditions to both City and YMCA. In the event YMCA withdraws its consent to permit use of its health and fitness facilities by City employees, or the facility use terms and conditions are no longer acceptable to the City, OCEA acknowledges that City may terminate this privilege. City agrees to meet and consult with OCEA prior to terminating such use privileges.

Article XXXIII - Drug-Free Workplace and Harassment Policies

The Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 requires the adoption of a Drug-Free Workplace Policy by employers with any federal grant or federal contract worth more than \$25,000. The City and OCEA agree to the provisions of the City of Laguna Niguel Drug-Free Workplace Policy set forth in Attachment 3.

The City and OCEA further agree to the provisions of the Harassment Policy set forth in Attachment 4.

Article XXXIV - Gift Restrictions

No employee shall accept any gift or gifts, totaling \$100 or more in value during any 12-month period, from any person, firm or organization conducting or seeking to conduct business with the City.

Article XXXV - Pension and Health Care Reform Proposals

A. <u>Pension Reform Proposals</u>

City and OCEA acknowledge that various legislative and initiative proposals are under consideration and/or pending that, if enacted, will modify or reduce pension benefits for future California state and local government employees. City and OCEA agree that if, during the term of this MOU there is a change in State law that mandates a different or reduced pension benefit for newly hired City employees, that City may take such actions that are necessary to comply with State law, including, but not limited to, implementation of new, different or reduced pension benefits for newly hired City employees. City employees. City shall have no obligation to meet and confer with OCEA on such matters.

B. <u>Health Care Reform Proposals</u>

City and OCEA acknowledge that various legislative proposals are under consideration and/or pending that, if enacted, may change the requirements for California employers to provide health care coverage for employees. City and OCEA agree that if, during the term of this MOU, there is a change in State or Federal law that mandates the City to provide health care coverage for part-time employees and/or increases the City's cost of health insurance, then City and OCEA shall re-open negotiations on the City's health. insurance plans and the City's and Employee's respective contributions toward the cost of such plans.

Article XXXVI - Non-Discrimination

Neither party to this Agreement shall illegally discriminate against any employee on the basis of any legally protected classification identified by law. The parties further agree that they shall not interfere with, intimidate, restrain, coerce, or discriminate against any employee in his or her free choice to participate or not participate in the activities of and right to join the OCEA.

It is agreed by both parties to this Agreement that they will fully comply with all applicable local, State and Federal laws, rules and regulations governing equal employment opportunity.

In recognition of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City will, in evaluating each situation on a case-by-case basis, endeavor to carefully consider ways to reasonably accommodate disabled employees.

Article XXXVII - Severability

It is understood and mutually agreed that this MOU is subject to all applicable Federal, State and City laws and ordinances.

If any provision of this MOU is determined to be invalid or illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions will not be deemed valid and shall be severed from this MOU, except to the extent permitted by law, but the remainder shall remain in full force and effect. Should any change be made in any State or Federal law, or in any rules and regulations implementing such legislation, then such provision shall be automatically terminated but the remainder of this MOU shall remain in full force and effect.

The Parties hereto shall meet and confer within a reasonable time for the purpose of discussing the implications and impacts related to the replacement of any provision of this MOU determined to be invalid or illegal pursuant to this paragraph

Article XXXVIII-Concerted Activities

Apart from and in addition to existing legal restrictions upon and remedies for work stoppage, the OCEA hereby agrees that during the term of this MOU neither it nor its members or agents, representatives or persons acting in concert with any of them, shall incite, engage or participate in any strike, walkout, slowdown, sick-out or other work stoppage of any nature against the City whatsoever, or wheresoever located, including but not limited to disputes which are related to the subject matter contained in this MOU; disputes between the City and other employee organizations, persons or employees; or jurisdictional disputes. In the event of any strike, walkout, slowdown, sick-out or other work stoppage or threat thereof against the City, OCEA and its officers will take steps reasonably within their control to end or avert the same.

Those represented by the OCEA will not authorize, engage in, encourage, sanction, recognize or assist in any strike, slowdown, walkout, sick-out or other work stoppage against the City or picket in furtherance thereof, or participate in unlawful concerted interference in violation of this provision, or refuse to perform duly assigned services in violation of this provision. It is understood that any person represented by OCEA found in violation of this provision will be subject to discipline, including termination, as determined by the City Personnel Officer, according to Personnel Rules and Regulations.

ArticleXXXIX - Term

The terms and conditions of this MOU will be effective the date of City Council adoption of this MOU unless otherwise stated in the MOU. This MOU shall remain in full force and effect from October 1, 2019 through September 30, 2021.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of Understanding on the dates indicated below.

Saliem Aregaye Employee Relations Representative

Date: 03/04/2020

Jorge Muratalla Bargaining Committee Member

Date: 03/042020

Juana Laur Bargaining Committee Member

2020 Date: 23

Elizabeth Fraijo

Bargaining Committee Member

2020 Date: 03

Usreau

Tamara S. Letourneau City Manager

3 |D|Date:

Kristine Recchia

Kristi Recchia Labor Relations Director

Date: _____

Justin J. Martin Deputy City Manager

Date: 03/04/2020

manul

Eric Hendrickson Finance Director

2020 Date:

Dorna Farhadi Senior Management Analyst

Date: 31412020

Maintenance, Clerical and Technical Unit Classifications

Full-Time Classifications

Account Clerk Administrative Secretary **Building and Facilities Specialist Building Permit Technician** Clerk Typist Code Compliance Inspector Contracts Administrator Deputy City Clerk Engineering Technician Landscape Maintenance Inspector Maintenance Worker Public Works Inspector Public Works Permit Tech **Recreation** Clerk Recreation Coordinator Secretary Senior Account Clerk Senior Public Works Inspector

* Part-Time Classifications

Account Clerk Administrative Intern Facility Aide Lifeguard Lifeguard Instructor Maintenance Worker Police Cadet Receptionist Recreation Coordinator Recreation Leader Secretary Senior Lifeguard Senior Recreation Leader

* Eligible part-time employees include those employed on a permanent year-round basis for whom work is regularly scheduled at least twenty (20) hours per week.

 \boldsymbol{H}

Part-Time Employees Eligibility for Merit Increases

Part-time employees shall be eligible for a merit increase on the first day of the pay period following completion of twenty-six weeks of service and the minimum hours worked as noted below. Part-time employees shall be eligible for subsequent merit increases on the first day of the pay period following the completion of additional fifty-two-week intervals and the minimum hours of work as noted below.

The following minimum number of hours must have been worked for advancement to subsequent steps on the salary range:

Minimum Hours of Work (since date of hire)

2	520 hours
3	1520 hours
4	2520 hours
5	3520 hours

If an employee is initially hired at a step higher than Step 1 of the salary range, the minimum hours requirement shall apply in the same increments as if the employee were hired at Step 1.

All merit increases are subject to a satisfactory performance evaluation by the employee's immediate supervisor, and approval by the Department Head.

 \boldsymbol{H}

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL Drug-Free Workplace Policy

Policy Statement

Substance abuse has been found to be a contributing factor to absenteeism, substandard performance, increased potential for accidents, poor morale and impaired public relations. It is the goal of the City, therefore, to eliminate substance abuse in the workplace by clearly stating employee responsibilities and by providing Department Heads with guidelines and procedures for the detection of such abuse and the enforcement of related policies and regulations.

It is the responsibility of City employees to cooperate in efforts to protect the life, personal safety and property of co-workers and fellow citizens. Employees shall, therefore, take all reasonable steps to abide by and cooperate in the implementation and enforcement of these policies and regulations.

The City encourages employees who believe that they may have a drug or alcohol problem to seek counseling, assistance and/or rehabilitation, and will be supportive of those employees who <u>voluntarily</u> seek help. However, the City will be equally firm in identifying and disciplining those employees who continue to be substance abusers and do not seek help.

Alcohol or drug abuse in the workplace will not be tolerated, and disciplinary action, up to and including termination, will be used as necessary to achieve the goal of eliminating substance abuse in the workplace.

Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988

The Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 applies to employers with any federal grant or with a federal contract worth more than \$25,000. The law requires that employees convicted of any drug related workplace crime notify their employer within five (5) days of the conviction. The employer must then notify the granting or contracting agency within ten (10) calendar days of receiving a conviction notice from the employee. The employer must then impose sanctions (up to and including termination) against the convicted employee within 30 calendar days and/or require him/her to participate in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved by an appropriate law enforcement or health agency.

I. Employee Responsibilities

An employee must:

1. Not report to work or be subject to duty while "under the influence of drugs or alcohol".

"Under the influence of drugs or alcohol" means the use of any alcoholic beverage or any illegal drug or substance, or the misuse or any prescribed drug, in a manner or degree that impairs the employee's work performance or ability to use City property or equipment safely.

- 2. Notify his/her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications or drugs, prescription or non-prescription, which may interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties or operation of City equipment.
- 3. Not possess or use alcohol or impairing drugs (illegal drugs and prescription drugs without a prescription) during working hours or while subject to duty, on breaks, during meal periods or anytime while on City property.
- 4. Not directly or through a third party sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any person, including any employee, while either employee or both employees are on duty or subject to being called.
- 5. Immediately complete and sign a consent form (see attached) and submit to an alcohol and drug test when requested to do so by the employee's department head.
- 6. Provide, within 24 hours of request, bona fide verification of a current valid prescription for any potentially impairing drug or medication identified when a drug test is positive. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- 7. Sign, if requested to do so by his/her department head, a "Last Chance Agreement" (see attached) as a condition of continued employment subsequent to entering a drug and/or alcohol treatment or rehabilitation program.
- 8. Report any conviction under a criminal drug statute to the City Manager within five (5) days of such conviction.

II. Management Responsibilities

- 1. Department heads are responsible for reasonable enforcement of this policy.
- 2. Department heads may request that an employee submit to a drug and/or alcohol test in accordance with the guidelines set forth in this policy.

- 3. If an employee refuses a request by a department head to complete and sign a consent form (see drug testing prerequisites), or refuses a request to submit to a drug or alcohol test, the department head shall remind the employee of the requirements and disciplinary consequences of this policy. Such refusal may be considered as insubordinate conduct and grounds for disciplinary action.
- 4. When there is "reasonable suspicion", (as defined in Section V, paragraph 3) that the employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol, the department head shall arrange for the employee to be safely transported home.

III. Employer Searches

- 1. For the purpose of enforcing this policy and maintaining a drug and alcoholfree workplace, the City, upon reasonable suspicion, may search areas and property in which the City maintains full or joint control with the employees. These areas include, but are not limited to, City vehicles, desks, lockers, file cabinets and bookshelves. The search will be conducted only with the approval of the City Manager or his/her designee. The City will make a reasonable effort to contact the employee to have him/her present while searching the property in question.
- 2. The City shall not physically search the person of an employee or the personal possessions of an employee without the freely given consent of the employee, and in the presence of the City Manager or his/her designee.
- 3. Department heads shall notify the City Manager or his/her designee whenever they have reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee may have illegal drugs in his/her possession or in an area not jointly or fully controlled by the City. If the City Manager or his/her designee concurs that there is reasonable suspicion of illegal drug possession, the Sheriff's Department shall be contacted.

IV. Rehabilitation

- 1. The City encourages those employees who think that they may have a problem with drugs and/or alcohol to seek assistance and rehabilitation.
- 2. A decision by an employee to voluntarily seek treatment or rehabilitation for the first time will not be used as the basis for disciplinary action. However, the City may in such cases require such employees to comply with the provisions set forth in this policy pertaining to "Last Chance Agreements" and Follow-up Testing.
- 3. If necessary, the employee will be granted a leave of absence without pay in order to accommodate treatment and rehabilitation.

- 4. Employees who undergo treatment and/or rehabilitation may be required to sign a "Last Chance Agreement" as a condition of continued employment. In this Agreement (see attached) the employee promises to complete the treatment or rehabilitation program and to comply with other terms stated in the Agreement. If the employee violates the Agreement, he/she shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- 5. An employee entering a rehabilitation program may be required to submit to random testing for up to one year after completion of the program. If the employee fails to comply or if further substance abuse is detected upon testing, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

V. Drug/Alcohol Testing

- 1. An employee may be requested to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when his/her department head has reasonable suspicion that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol while on the job or subject to being called.
- 2. Follow-up drug and/or alcohol testing related to rehabilitation (see Rehabilitation) may also be required.
- 3. "Reasonable Suspicion" is defined as a belief, based upon objective facts, sufficient to lead a reasonable and prudent department head to suspect that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the employee's ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or so that the employee's ability to perform his/her job is reduced. For example, any of the following, alone or in combination, may constitute reasonable suspicion:
 - Slurred speech
 - Alcohol odor on breath
 - Unsteady walking and movement
 - Accident involving City property
 - Physical altercation
 - Verbal altercation
 - Unusual behavior
 - Possession of alcohol or drugs
 - Information obtained from a reliable person with personal knowledge

Any department head requesting an employee to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test shall document in writing the facts constituting reasonable suspicion that the employee in question is under the influence of drugs or alcohol

- 4. Prior to the administration of any drug or alcohol test, the department head shall first obtain from the employee a completed and signed consent form (attached). This consent form shall provide for the employee's consent to physical and/or psychological examination and testing.
- 5. If the drug test is positive, the employee must provide, within 24 hours of request, bona fide verification of a valid current prescription for the drug identified in the drug test. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- 6. Laboratory results or test results shall not appear in an employee's general personnel file. Information of this nature shall be contained in a separate confidential medical folder that will be securely kept under the control of the Personnel Officer. The reports or test results may be disclosed to the employee upon request. Disclosures, without employee consent, may also occur when:
 - a. The information is compelled by law or by judicial or administrative process.
 - b. The information has been placed at issue in a formal dispute between the employer and employee.
 - c. The information is to be used in administering an employee benefit plan.
 - d. The information is needed by medical personnel for the diagnosis or treatment of the employee who is unable to authorize disclosure.

VI. Disciplinary Action

- 1. Disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, may be taken against an employee for either of the following reasons:
 - a. Failure to comply with any of the Employee Responsibilities set forth in this policy.
 - b. Positive results from a drug and/or alcohol test.

Ι

CONSENT FOR DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

I hereby authorize	
	(insert name of laboratory or clinic)
to collect from me the following	specimens
	(blood, urine, other)
and to conduct tests on such samp	ples to determine the presence of alcohol, drugs, their metabolites,
or other substances that violate the	he Drug-Free Workplace Policy. I hereby authorize
	to conduct a
(insert name of physician)	(Physical &/or Psychological)
examination on me. Further, I	consent to the release of the examination and/or test results to the
City of Laguna Niguel for use in o	disciplinary actions or for other legitimate work-related purposes.
The City of Laguna Niguel may c	disclose the test results tofor
	(name of physician)
evaluation or consultation. This	consent is effective immediately and shall remain in effect until
(Date}	
CONSENT GIVEN:	

Employee's Name (Print)

Employee's Signature

Date

Witness Name (Print)

Witness Signature

Date

CONSENT REFUSED:

Employee's Name (Print)

Employee's Signature

Date

Explanation for Refusal:

Witness Name (print)

Witness Signature

Date

LAST CHANCE AGREEMENT

I have received a copy of the City of Laguna Niguel's Drug-Free Workplace Policy and I fully understand its provisions and acknowledge that compliance with the Policy is a condition of continued employment.

I hereby acknowledge that I have entered or will enter a treatment or rehabilitation program for alcohol or drug abuse satisfactory to the City of Laguna Niguel. I agree to complete such a program, perform the duties of my job in accordance with standards of performance reasonably expected, and comply with the City's rules, including the Drug-Free Workplace Policy.

I agree to consent, for up to one year, to undergo physical or psychological examinations, and/or random testing of my blood, urine, breath, other body fluid specimens for alcohol, drugs, or their metabolites. I understand that a violation of the Policy or breach of this Agreement may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Employee's Name (Print)

Employee's Signature

Date

Witness Name (Print)

Witness Signature

Date

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL Harassment Policy

It is the policy of the City of Laguna Niguel that all employees shall enjoy a working environment free from all forms of harassment. The City of Laguna Niguel maintains a strict policy prohibiting harassment in accordance with State and Federal law. This policy applies to all City employees, including non-management personnel, supervisors, managers and executive staff, as well as non-employees, such as contract personnel, who have contact with City employees during working hours.

STATEMENT OF POLICY

The City has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this Policy. Conduct need not arise to the level of a violation of law to violate this Policy. Instead a single act can violate this Policy and provide grounds for discipline or other appropriate sanctions.

Harassment or discrimination against an applicant or employee by a supervisor, management employee, co-worker, or contractor on the basis of race, religion, sex (including gender and pregnancy), national origin, ancestry, disability, medical condition, genetic characteristics, marital status, age, sexual orientation (including homosexuality, bisexuality, or heterosexuality), or any other protected classification will not be tolerated.

This Policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment, including, but not limited to, hiring, placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation and training.

Prompt and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken against any City employee, City-hired consultant, or contract employee who has harassed a City employee. The City of Laguna Niguel views harassment as a very serious offense which is subject to disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

The City will not retaliate nor tolerate retaliation taken against any employee for filing a complaint of harassment. Such retaliation or attempted retaliation shall result in disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT

The Fair Employment and Housing Commission defines sexual harassment as unwanted sexual advances, or visual, verbal, or physical conduct of a sexual nature. This definition includes many forms of offensive behavior, and includes gender-based harassment of a person of the same sex as the harasser.

The following is a partial list of conduct that could be considered sexual harassment:

- Unwanted sexual advances
- Offering employment benefits in exchange for sexual favors
- Making or threatening reprisals after a negative response to sexual favors
- Visual conduct, such as leering, making sexual gestures, displaying of sexually suggestive objects or pictures, cartoons, or posters
- Verbal conduct, such as making or using derogatory comments, epithets, slurs, and jokes
- Verbal sexual advances or propositions
- Verbal abuse of a sexual nature, graphic verbal commentaries about an individual's body, sexually degrading words used to describe an individual, suggestive or obscene letters, notes, or invitations
- Physical conduct, such as touching, assault, impeding or blocking movements

PROCEDURE

A. All employees are encouraged to immediately inform the alleged harasser that the behavior is unwelcome, offensive, or inappropriate. If the employee feels threatened or has difficulty expressing disapproval, assistance should be sought from the department director.

Should the complaint involve the department director, or if an employee is uncomfortable discussing the complaint with the director, the complaint should be reported to Human Resources or the City Manager.

- B. All investigations related to a complaint under this Policy will be conducted with confidentiality and respect for the rights of all individuals involved. Information related to the investigation will be provided on a need to know basis only.
- C. The complainant and the alleged harasser will be informed of the findings and conclusions of the investigation.
- D. Any individual who is found to have engaged in harassment, who is found to have condoned, encouraged, or perpetuated acts of harassment, or who is found to have in some way participated in retaliation or reprisal, shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

Π

ATTACHMENT 5

SALARY SCHEDULES

ADOPTED AS PART OF CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION NO.2020-1312

Maintenance, Clerical and Technical Unit

	Effective January 1, 2020 Monthly			nuary 1, 2021 nthly
	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
Account Clerk	\$3,951	\$4,938	\$4,050	\$5,061
Administrative Secretary	\$4,920	\$6,151	\$5,043	\$6,305
Building and Facilities Specialist	\$4,522	\$5,652	\$4,635	\$5,793
Clerk Typist	\$3,391	\$4,239	\$3,476	\$4,345
Code Compliance Inspector	\$5,738	\$7,174	\$5,881	\$7,353
Contracts Administrator	\$6,100	\$7,625	\$6,253	\$7,816
Deputy City Clerk	\$4,920	\$6,151	\$5,043	\$6,305
Engineering Technician	\$5,199	\$6,500	\$5,329	\$6,663
Landscape Maintenance Inspector	\$5,447	\$6,807	\$5,583	\$6,977
Maintenance Worker	\$4,213	\$5,264	\$4,318	\$5,396
Public Works Inspector	\$5,990	\$7,488	\$6,140	\$7,675
Public Works Permit Technician	\$4,660	\$5,825	\$4,777	\$5,971
Recreation Clerk	\$4,096	\$5,122	\$4,198	\$5,250
Recreation Coordinator	\$4,413	\$5,516	\$4,523	\$5,654
Secretary	\$4,342	\$5,427	\$4,451	\$5,563
Senior Account Clerk	\$4,950	\$6,190	\$5,074	\$6,345
Senior Public Works Inspector	\$6,655	\$8,318	\$6,821	\$8,526

Part-Time Employees Hourly Rate Effective January 1, 2020

Maintenance, Clerical and Technical Unit

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Account Clerk	\$23.44	\$24.62	\$25.84	\$27.14	\$28.49
Administrative Intern	\$14.67	\$15.41	\$16.17	\$16.98	\$17.83
Facility Aide	\$13.00	\$13.65	\$14.33	\$15.05	\$15.80
Lifeguard	\$13.75	\$14.44	\$15.16	\$15.92	\$16.72
Lifeguard Instructor	\$14.03	\$14.73	\$15.47	\$16.24	\$17.06
Maintenance Worker	\$25.00	\$26.24	\$27.56	\$28.94	\$30.39
Police Cadet	\$14.67	\$15.41	\$16.17	\$16.98	\$17.83
Receptionist	\$15.59	\$16.38	\$17.19	\$18.06	\$18.95
Recreation Coordinator	\$25.46	\$26.74	\$28.07	\$29.48	\$30.95
Recreation Leader	\$13.24	\$13.90	\$14.60	\$15.33	\$16.10
Secretary	\$25.76	\$27.05	\$28.40	\$29.82	\$31.31
Senior Lifeguard	\$15.59	\$16.38	\$17.19	\$18.06	\$18.95
Senior Recreation Leader	\$15.59	\$16.38	\$17.19	\$18.06	\$18.95

Part-Time Employees Hourly Rate Effective January 1, 2021

Maintenance, Clerical and Technical Unit

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Account Clerk	\$24.03	\$25.24	\$26.49	\$27.82	\$29.20
Administrative Intern	\$15.04	\$15.80	\$16.57	\$17.40	\$18.28
Facility Aide	\$14.00	\$14.70	\$15.44	\$16.21	\$17.02
Lifeguard	\$14.38	\$15.10	\$15.86	\$16.65	\$17.48
Lifeguard Instructor	\$14.81	\$15.55	\$16.33	\$17.15	\$18.01
Maintenance Worker	\$25.63	\$26.90	\$28.25	\$29.66	\$31.15
Police Cadet	\$15.04	\$15.80	\$16.57	\$17.40	\$18.28
Receptionist	\$15.98	\$16.79	\$17.62	\$18.51	\$19.42
Recreation Coordinator	\$26.10	\$27.41	\$28.77	\$30.22	\$31.72
Recreation Leader	\$14.26	\$14.97	\$15.72	\$16.51	\$17.34
Secretary	\$26.40	\$27.73	\$29.11	\$30.57	\$32.09
Senior Lifeguard	\$15.98	\$16.79	\$17.62	\$18.51	\$19.42
Senior Recreation Leader	\$15.98	\$16.79	\$17.62	\$18.51	\$19.42

EXHIBIT B

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEE ASSOCIATION AND CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL MIDDLE MANAGEMENT, PROFESSIONAL AND SUPERVISORY UNIT



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN

ORANGE COUNTY EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION

AND

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL

October 1, 2019 – September 30, 2021

MIDDLE MANAGEMENT, PROFESSIONAL AND SUPERVISORY UNIT

Approved by the City Council on March 3, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Article

Section

T	Preamble	3
I		3
III	Ç	3
IV	-	3
V	-	3
VI	• •	
VII		
VIII	Ç	
IX		5
X	Quarterly City – OCEA Meetings	
л XI	Informal Complaint Resolution Procedure	
XII	Grievance Procedure	/
	Disciplinary Action	II
XIII	Maintenance of Benefits	
XIV	Salary	
XV	Workweek, Overtime and Premium Pay	
XVI	Benefits	20
XVII	Section 125 Plan	24
XVIII	Vacation	
XIX	Leaves	27
XX	Holidays	
XXI	Part-Time Employees General Leave Program	33
XXII	Layoff and Recall	34
XXIII	Safety	
XXIV	Uniforms, Safety Gear and Inclement Weather Gear	
XXV	Personnel Files	37
XXVI	Probationary Period	38
XXVII	Performance Reviews	38
XXVIII	Classification	39
XXIX	Part-Time Employees	40
XXX	Limited Term Employees	41
XXXI	Employee Recognition Program	41
XXXII	Employee Recognition Program Use of South Coast YMCA Facilities	
XXXIII	Drug-Free Workplace and Harassment Policies	
XXXIV	Gift Restrictions	
XXXV	Pension and Health Care Reform Proposals	
XXXVI	Non-Discrimination	
XXXVII	Severability	
XXXVIII	Concerted Activities	
XXXIX	Term	

Article I - Preamble

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is entered into pursuant to the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act (Government Code Sections 3500 <u>et seq</u>.) and City Resolution No. 94-272. Representatives of the City and Orange County Employees Association (OCEA) have met and conferred in good faith regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment. The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to set forth those agreements reached between the parties.

Article II - Recognition

OCEA is hereby acknowledged as the Exclusively Recognized Employee Organization representing the employees in the classifications listed in Attachment 1.

<u> Article III – Purpose</u>

The parties agree that the purposes of this MOU are: to promote and provide harmonious relations, cooperation and understanding between the City and the employees covered herein; to provide an orderly and equitable means of resolving differences which may arise under this MOU; and to set forth the terms of agreement of the parties reached as a result of meeting and conferring regarding matters within the scope of representation for employees represented by the OCEA. Further, the purpose of this Agreement is to guarantee employees represented by OCEA receive all rights and privileges of employment provided in Federal, State and City ordinances

Article IV - Scope

The scope of representation shall include all matters relating to employment conditions and employer-employee relations, including, but not limited to, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment, except, however, that the scope of representation shall not include consideration of the merits, necessity, or organization of any service or activity provided by law or executive order.

Article V - City Rights

The City retains, solely and exclusively, all rights, powers and authority it had prior to this MOU except those rights specifically delegated by this MOU. Except as expressly limited by this MOU, the City retains all of its rights, power and authority with respect to general legislative matters and the management of the provision of municipal services and the management of the work force performing those services. These rights, powers and authority include, but are not limited to: (a) Determine the mission of the City and all of its departments, commissions, committees and boards;

(b) Determine the nature, standards, levels and mode of delivery of services to be offered to the public; (c) Exercise complete control and discretion over the establishment and modification of the organization of City government, City departments and other work units, and the technology of performing City work; (d) Determine whether services required by the City shall be provided by City staff or provided pursuant to contracts between the City and independent contractors, or by subcontractors of such independent contractors; (e) Maintain the efficiency of City operations; (f) Determine the methods, means, and the number and kinds of personnel by which services are to be provided; (g) Adopt a system of job classifications, including assignment of titles, and determination of job descriptions and duties for each job classification, and subsequently adopt additional job classifications, delete job classifications, and modify job classifications; (h) Determine the procedures and standards for the selection of employees; (i) Direct employees, including scheduling and assigning work, work hours, and overtime; (j) Establish performance standards and require compliance therewith; (k) Discharge, suspend, demote, reduce in pay, reprimand, withhold salary increases and benefits, or otherwise discipline employees subject to the requirements of applicable law; (1) Relieve employees from duty for lack of work or lack of funds or for other legitimate reasons; (m) Implement all rules, regulations and directives consistent with law; and (n) Take all necessary actions to protect the public and carry out its mission in emergencies.

Article VI - Employee Rights

Employees shall have the right to form, join and participate in the activities of employee organizations of their own choosing for the purpose of representation on all matters of employeremployee relations. Employees shall also have the right to refuse to join or participate in the activities of employee organizations. The City shall not hinder, interfere with, intimidate, restrain, discriminate against, coerce, or discipline an employee for exercising any rights or benefits provided in this MOU or under the law.

Article VII - Association Rights

OCEA shall notify the City in writing of the names of its Officers, Bargaining Committee Members, Departmental Representatives, and other representatives each time an election is held or new appointments are made.

The City shall provide OCEA on a monthly basis, if changes occur, with the following: A list of employees in the classifications set forth in Attachment 1; the names of new hires, promotions, and terminations in the classifications set forth in Attachment 1; City of Laguna Niguel job postings; and copies of current salary schedules.

The City shall provide OCEA an opportunity to meet with new employees for thirty minutes as part of their new employee orientation process.

On a quarterly basis, the City will provide OCEA with names and home addresses of all OCEA member employees. This information is for the confidential use of OCEA and the City shall not be responsible and will be held harmless by OCEA for inappropriate release of this information by OCEA.

Upon request, the OCEA shall receive available information relating to contract administration and fringe benefits including pension and insurance plans.

The City shall make available reasonable bulletin board space in designated employee areas for the use of OCEA to post notices pertaining to OCEA business. All materials must be dated and identify OCEA. No materials may be posted that are critical of the City, City officials or employees, City policies, or other employee organizations.

A reasonable number of employees shall be entitled to leave their work during working hours without loss of pay for reasonable periods of time, with prior approval of their supervisor, for purposes of participation in the meet-and-confer process. A designated OCEA representative shall be entitled to leave his or her work during working hours without loss of pay for reasonable periods of time, with prior approval of their supervisor for purposes of reviewing and processing grievances.

OCEA staff may have access to OCEA members providing that supervisors are notified prior to a meeting being scheduled and that meetings held will not interfere with work.

Article VIII - Payroll Deductions

Upon written notice, including email, from OCEA that the employee has authorized dues deduction, membership dues will be automatically deducted from an employee's pay and forwarded by the City to OCEA pursuant to the written request for the distribution of deductions. Dues deductions begin the beginning of the pay period following the City's receipt of notice from the OCEA and are deducted on a biweekly basis.

The employee's earnings must be sufficient after other legal and required deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues. When an employee is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no deduction will be made to cover the pay period. In the case of an employee who is in a non-pay status during part of the pay period, and the salary is not sufficient to cover the full withholding, no deduction shall be made. In this circumstance, all other legal and required

deductions (including health care deductions) have priority over Association dues.

Article IX - Quarterly City-OCEA Meetings

The City's chief negotiator and designated management staff shall meet with OCEA and the president of the Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit on a quarterly basis, if necessary. The basic purpose of these meetings is to discuss issues of common interest and to solve mutual problems in a constructive fashion. The parties shall exchange suggested agenda topics one week before the meeting date. Grievances or disciplinary action in progress may be discussed at these meetings only by mutual consent, and discussion of such topics does not preclude subsequent resolution via the grievance or disciplinary procedure. Meet-and-confer subjects may be discussed by mutual consent, but this does not preclude exercise of further meet-and-confer options by either party. Persons other than those described above may attend these meetings only by prior mutual consent.

Article X - Informal Complaint Resolution Procedure

A. <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of this procedure is to enhance communications between employees, supervisors and management by providing employees an informal process for the discussion and review of complaints or concerns not covered by the grievance procedure within a reasonable time period without jeopardizing employees' positions or employment.

B. <u>Complaint Resolution Procedure</u>

Any complaint or concern not covered by the grievance procedure shall be resolved as follows:

- 1. The employee shall first discuss the matter with his or her immediate supervisor within seven (7) working days from the date the employee had notice of the action which prompted the concern or complaint.
- 2. In the event that the immediate supervisor does not resolve the matter to the employee's satisfaction within ten (10) working days of the employee's presentation of the matter, then the employee may bring the matter to the attention of his or her Department Head within ten (10) working days of the receipt of response from the immediate supervisor, or within ten (10) working days from the date, of the date a response from the supervisor was due to the employee, if no

response was provided.

3. If the Department Head does not resolve the matter to the employee's satisfaction within ten (10) working days of the employee's presentation of the matter to the department head then the employee may bring the matter in writing to the attention of the City Manager, within ten (10) working days of receiving a response, or within ten (10) working days from the date, of the date a response from the supervisor was due to the employee, if no response was provided. The City Manager, or his or her representative, shall consider the matter. The decision of the City Manager, or his or her representative, will be final and binding.

C. <u>Informal Complaint Procedures</u>

In addition to the informal complaint procedures set forth in this Article, Employees shall have the right to discuss individual problems of employment with City. Upon request of the employee, OCEA shall be kept fully informed and have the right to be present at all such meetings between City and the individual.

Article XI - Grievance Procedure

A. <u>Purpose</u>

The purpose of the grievance procedure is to enhance communications between employees and employer by providing a fair and impartial review and consideration of grievances within a reasonable time period without jeopardizing employees' positions or employment.

B. <u>Scope of Grievances</u>

A grievance may be filed concerning the interpretation or application of specific provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding or other written Personnel rules or regulations which adversely affects an employee.

C. <u>Basic Rules</u>

1. If an employee does not present a grievance/appeal or does not appeal the decision rendered his or her grievance/appeal within the time limits, the grievance/appeal shall be considered resolved.

- 2. If a City representative does not render a decision to the employee within the time limits, the employee may within seven (7) calendar days thereafter appeal to the next step in the procedure.
- 3. If it is the judgment of any management representative that he or she does not have the authority to resolve the grievance/appeal, he or she may refer it to the next step in the procedure. By mutual agreement of the City and OCEA, any step of the procedure may be waived.
- 4. Upon written consent of the parties (i.e., the representative of the City and the employee or his or her representative), the time limits at any step in the procedure may be extended.
- 5. Every reasonable effort shall be made by the employee and the City to resolve a grievance/appeal at the lowest possible step in the grievance/appeal procedure.

D. <u>Submission of Grievance</u>

- 1. Any employee or group of employees or OCEA shall have the right to present a grievance. No employee or group of employees shall be hindered from or disciplined for exercising this right.
- 2. If any two (2) or more employees have essentially the same grievance they may, and if requested by the City must, collectively present and pursue their grievance if they report to the same immediate supervisor.

E. <u>Employee Representation</u>

- 1. An employee may represent himself or herself or may be represented by OCEA in the formal grievance/appeal procedure.
- 2. Authorized grievance/appeal representatives shall be designated by OCEA to represent employees for the purposes of the grievance/appeal procedure. OCEA shall notify Department Heads of the names and titles of such representatives and send a copy of such notice to the Deputy City Manager quarterly.

F. <u>Time Off for Processing Grievances/Appeals</u>

1. Reasonable time off without loss of pay shall be given to:

- a. an employee who has a grievance/appeal in order to attend a meeting with his or her supervisor or other person with authority under the grievance/appeal procedure to resolve the matter or to meet with his or her grievance/appeal representative;
- b. an authorized grievance/appeal representative in order to attend a meeting with the represented grievant's/appellant's supervisor or other person with authority under the grievance/appeal procedure or to obtain facts concerning the action grieved/appealed through discussion with the grievant/appellant or other employees or through examination of appropriate records or locations relating to the grievance/appeal.
- 2. The following restrictions shall apply in all cases to activity authorized in F.1.a. and F.1.b, above:
 - a. Before performing grievance/appeal work, the grievant/appellant or grievance/appeal representative shall obtain permission of his or her supervisor and shall report back to the supervisor when the grievance/appeal work is completed.
 - b. Neither the grievant/appellant nor the grievance/appeal representative shall interrupt or leave his or her job to perform grievance/appeal work if his or her supervisor determines that such interruption or absence will unduly interfere with the work of the unit in which the grievant/appellant or representative is employed. However, an effort will be made to grant such time off as soon as it is feasible to do so.

G. Form of Grievance

All grievances must be submitted in writing, on forms provided by the City, and must contain the following:

- 1. Employee's name, title, department and division.
- 2. The name of the individual or organization, if any, representing the employee in the grievance procedure.
- 3. The date the grievance is being submitted.

- 4. The nature of the grievance, including a statement of the specific provisions of the Memorandum of Understanding, personnel rules or regulations which are alleged to have been violated, the date the alleged violation occurred, and the specific decision or action which constituted the alleged violation.
- 5. The facts and/or circumstances which gave rise to the grievance.
- 6. Any available supporting documentation or other material which is to be considered in conjunction with the grievance.
- 7. A statement of the remedy which the employee is seeking.

H. Formal Grievance/Appeal Steps

The grievance/appeal procedure shall consist of the following steps, each of which must be completed prior to any request for further consideration of the matter unless waived by mutual consent or as otherwise provided herein.

Step 1: <u>Immediate Supervisor</u>

An employee shall formally and concurrently submit a grievance to the immediate supervisor and the Deputy City Manager within fourteen (14) calendar days from the occurrence which establishes the basis for the grievance. Within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of the written grievance, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, the immediate supervisor shall meet with the grievant. Within seven (7) calendar days thereafter, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, a written decision shall be given to the grievant.

Step 2: Department Head

If the grievance is not resolved under Step 1, it may be presented to the Department Head. The grievance shall be submitted within seven (7) calendar days after the receipt of the written decision from Step 1. Within seven (7) calendar days after the receipt of the written grievance, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, the Department Head or his or her representative(s) shall meet with the grievant. Within seven (7) calendar days thereafter, or a date mutually agreed upon by both parties, a written

decision shall be given to the grievant.

Step 3: <u>City Manager</u>

If the grievance/appeal is not settled under Step 2 it may be appealed in writing to the City Manager within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of the written decision from Step 2. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the written grievance/appeal, the City Manager or his or her representative shall meet with the grievant/appellant. Within fourteen (14) calendar days thereafter, a written decision shall be given to the grievant/appellant. The decision of the City Manager shall be final and binding on all parties.

Article XII - Disciplinary Action

A. <u>Disciplinary Authority</u>

The City shall have the right to demote, discharge, reduce in pay, or suspend any employee for just cause. A suspension without pay shall be for a period of not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) working days.

B. Just Cause

Just cause includes, but is not limited to, the following:

- 1. Violation of any Federal, State, or local law directly impacting the employee's employment.
- 2. Using, possessing, dealing, distributing, or being under the influence of intoxicating beverages/substances, unprescribed narcotics or unlawful drugs while on duty or at work locations, or reporting to work or operating City vehicles or equipment under the influence of alcohol/substance or any unlawful or unprescribed drug.
- 3. Failure or refusal to comply with a lawful order or to accept a reasonable and proper assignment from an authorized supervisor or City management official.
- 4. Inefficiency, incompetence, carelessness, or negligence in the performance of duties.

- 5. Sexual harassment or other unlawful harassment, discrimination or retaliation of another employee.
- 6. Chronic or excessive absenteeism or inconsistent attendance.
- 7. Rude or discourteous treatment of other employees or the public.
- 8. Inattention to duty, tardiness, carelessness or negligence in the course and scope of employment or in the care and handling of City property.
- 9. Loss or misuse of City funds, including, but not limited to, theft, embezzlement, misappropriation of City funds, including via a City credit card or use of City funds for personal purposes. Personal purposes are those activities which are for personal enjoyment, private gain or advantage, or an outside endeavor not related to City business.
- 10. Improper or unauthorized personal use of City vehicles, buildings, facilities, tools, equipment, office machines, stationery, supplies or other City real or personal property.
- 11. Misuse of sick leave.
- 12. Furnishing false information to secure appointment, or falsification of timecards or other records and reports.
- 13. Absence from duty without authorized leave, failure to report after leave of absence has expired or after such leave of absence has been disapproved, revoked, or canceled.
- 14. Violation of Departmental rules and policies, or any written policies that may be prescribed by the City.
- 15. Acceptance of any bribe, gratuity, kickback, or other item of value when such is given in the hope or expectation of receiving preferential treatment.
- 16. Outside work that creates a conflict of interest with City work, or detracts from the efficiency of the employee in the effective performance of City functions.
- 17. Failure to obtain or maintain necessary qualification, certificate, or license, which

is required as a condition of employment.

- 18. Possession of an unsafe driving record for those employees required to operate City vehicles.
- 19. An unsatisfactory performance rating in one or more performance competencies.
- 20. Accepting a gift or gifts with a value in excess of the gift restriction limit set forth in this MOU.
- 21. Other just cause.

C. <u>Pre-Disciplinary Procedures for Suspension, Demotion, Reduction or Discharge</u>

- 1. Prior to suspending, demoting, reducing or discharging an employee, a written notice of such proposed disciplinary action shall be served on the employee personally, or by certified mail, at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the effective date of the proposed action. Such written notice shall contain:
 - a. a description of the proposed action and its effective date(s);
 - b. a statement of the reasons for such proposed action, including the acts or omissions on which the proposed action is based;
 - c. copies of material on which the proposed action is based;
 - d. a statement of the employee's right to respond, either orally or in writing, prior to the effective date of such proposed action;
 - e. a statement of the employee's right to representation;
 - f. a statement of the employee's right to appeal should such proposed action become final.
- 2. Prior to the effective date of such suspension, demotion, reduction or discharge, an employee will be given an opportunity to respond either orally or in writing, at the employee's option, to his or her Department Head.
- 3. An employee shall receive written notice either sustaining, modifying or cancelling

the proposed disciplinary action prior to the effective date of such action.

- 4. Should a proposed suspension, demotion, reduction or discharge become final, an employee shall have the right to appeal such action pursuant to D. of this Article.
- 5. An employee shall be given reasonable time off without loss of pay to attend a predisciplinary meeting with his or her Department Head and any disciplinary appeal hearing pursuant to this Article.
- 6. An employee may represent himself or herself or may be represented by a representative of his/her choice in a pre-disciplinary meeting with his or her Department Head and any disciplinary appeal hearing pursuant to this Article.

D. <u>Disciplinary Appeals</u>

- 1. An appeal of a suspension without pay, demotion, reduction in pay or discharge may be appealed to the City Manager. The appeal shall be presented to the City Manager within ten (10) calendar days following the employee's receipt of the Department Head's written notice of discipline pursuant to C.3 of this Article. All disciplinary appeals shall be in writing, and shall be signed by the employee or by a representative of OCEA.
- 2. The City Manager may hear the appeal personally, or may refer the appeal to a Hearing Officer for hearing and an advisory recommendation; provided, however, that all discharge appeals shall be referred to a Hearing Officer for an advisory recommendation. In the case of a discharge appeal, the employee may request a Hearing Officer be selected from the State Mediation and Conciliation Service or the American Arbitration Association. If the parties are unable to mutually agree upon a Hearing Officer, they shall request the selected organization to supply a panel of seven (7) names of persons experienced in hearing disciplinary cases for cities. Each party shall alternately strike a name until only one name remains. The remaining panel member shall be the hearing officer. The order of striking shall be determined by flipping a coin. The hearing will be conducted as soon as practical following the City Manager's receipt of the appeal. The cost of a hearing officer shall be paid by the City.
- 3. The issue in all disciplinary appeals shall be: Was (employee's name) (suspended without pay, demoted, reduced in pay, discharged) for just cause and was the penalty imposed appropriate?

- 4. The City Manager may sustain, reduce or rescind an appealed disciplinary action. If an action to suspend, demote or reduce in pay is reduced or rescinded, the appellant shall be entitled to restoration of pay and/or fringe benefits in a manner consistent with the City Manager's decision. If an action to discharge is reduced, the appellant shall be restored to a position in his or her former class subject to forfeiture of pay and fringe benefits for all or a portion of the period of time the appellant was removed from duty as determined by the City Manager. If an action to discharge is rescinded, the appellant shall be reinstated in a position in his or her former class and shall receive pay and fringe benefits for all of the period of time he or she was removed from duty. The City Manager shall issue a final decision within thirty (30) calendar days after the matter is closed, including the filing of any final briefs.
- 5. Disciplinary appeal hearings shall be private.
- 6. The employee or their representative may request in writing at least twenty (20) calendar days prior to the scheduled hearing date, that the City provide copies of all documentary evidence to be used by the City at the hearing. Such evidence shall be provided no later than ten (10) calendar days prior to the scheduled hearing date. Any evidence not so provided may not be admitted or offered as evidence at the subsequent hearing except that any such documentary evidence discovered by a party after such request for copies but not soon enough to comply with the above time limits may be admitted providing it could not have been discovered sooner by reasonable means and provided further that a copy or copies of such evidence be afforded the requesting party as soon as practical after such discovery. Nothing contained herein shall operate to prevent either party from presenting additional documents by way of rebuttal.
- 7. An employee shall not suffer loss of pay for time spent as a witness at a hearing held pursuant to this procedure. The number of witnesses requested to attend and their scheduling shall be reasonable.
- 8. At the hearing, both the appealing employee and the City shall have the right to be heard and to present evidence. The following rules shall apply:
 - a. Oral evidence shall be taken only on oath or affirmation.
 - b. Each party shall have these rights: to call and examine witnesses, to introduce exhibits, to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter

relevant to the issues even though that matter was not covered in the direct examination, to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify and to rebut the evidence against the witness.

- 9. The hearing need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might have made improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but shall not be sufficient in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions. The rules of privilege shall be effective to the same extent that they are now or hereafter may be recognized in civil actions and irrelevant and unduly repetitious evidence shall be excluded.
- 10. The decision of the City Manager shall be final and binding on all parties.

Article XIII - Maintenance of Benefits

It is the understanding of the parties that the wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment contained in this MOU will not be reduced and shall remain in full force and effect during the entire term of this MOU; except as expressly provided herein or except by mutual agreement.

Article XIV - Salary

A. <u>Salary Ranges (Full-Time)</u>

The salary ranges for full-time classifications covered by this agreement shall be established as set forth in Attachment 5.

B. <u>Salary Rate Adjustments (Full-Time)</u>

The salary rates for full-time employees in classifications covered by this MOU shall be adjusted as follows:

January 1, 2020 3.0% January 1, 2021 2.5%

Additionally, upon adoption of this MOU, all existing, full-time personnel covered by this

MOU shall receive a one-time, non-pensionable, lump sum bonus payment in the amount of \$775.

C. <u>Pay-for-Performance Program/Long-term Employee Incentive Program</u>

Effective October 1, 2013, a merit-based Pay for Performance Program was implemented. That Program continues subject to the following. Employees shall receive annual performance reviews on or around their employment anniversary date. For employees with a base rate of pay below the maximum of their salary range, merit increases shall be granted as follows:

Unsatisfactory:	No increase
Needs improvement:	No increase
Meets expectations:	1.5%
Exceeds expectations:	2.25%
Outstanding:	3.0%

Any portion of a salary increase that exceeds the salary maximum shall be paid as a onetime non-pensionable lump sum bonus. A bonus received under the Pay for Performance Incentive Pay program is not considered base salary and is a lump sum payment separate from the base rate of pay.

If an employee receives a performance evaluation of Unsatisfactory or Needs Improvement, the employee will be re-evaluated in six months and again on his/her subsequent anniversary date. If performance has not improved, the City shall take appropriate action as described in Article XII.

D. <u>Salary Step Adjustments (Part-time)</u>

Wages for part-time classifications shall be adjusted as provided for in Section B above.

Additionally, upon adoption of this MOU, all existing, full-time classifications that are regularly scheduled on a part-time basis and are enrolled in CalPERS shall receive a one-time, non-pensionable, lump sum bonus payment in the amount of \$225.

Salary rate adjustments for part-time employees shall be administered in accordance with Attachment 4 to this agreement. Standard performance shall earn a one (1) step increase. Merit increases for part-time employees may be granted for additional steps within the salary range based upon the employee's exceptional performance upon the recommendation of the Department Head and approval by the City Manager.

Notwithstanding anything in this division to the contrary, when in the judgment of the City it becomes necessary or desirable to utilize the services of employees in capacities other than those for which they are regularly employed, the City May authorize and, if appropriate, identify an alternative rate of compensation for such employees that is the next salary step above, not to exceed five (5) percent.

E. <u>Pay for New Employees</u>

- 1. A new employee shall be appointed at the minimum salary rate or step of the salary range in effect for the particular class of position to which the appointment is made.
- 2. The City Manager may authorize a particular position be filled at any salary rate or step within the range.

Under no circumstance shall the salary rate for any full-time employee or part-time employee be more than the maximum salary rate, or less than the minimum salary rate, of the salary range established for the employee's job classification.

F. <u>Salary on Promotion</u>

A regular or probationary employee who is promoted to a position in a class with a higher salary range shall receive the minimum rate of pay of the salary range for the higher class or such higher amount as would constitute at least a five (5) percent increase over the salary received prior to the promotion not to exceed the maximum salary rate or top step on the new range. A new merit increase eligibility date shall be established which will be the first day of the pay period following completion of the first twenty-six (26) weeks of service in the new class.

G. <u>Salary on Reduction</u>

1. When an employee is demoted to a position in a lower class for reasons of unsatisfactory performance, his or her salary shall be reduced to the salary rate or step of the new range that would constitute a 5% decrease from the salary received prior to the reduction, or he or she shall receive the maximum step of the range of the new class, whichever is lower. His or her merit increase eligibility date shall be the first day of the pay period following completion of fifty-two (52) weeks of service in the new class unless he or she thereby occupies the recruiting salary rate

or step of the new range, in which case his or her merit increase eligibility date shall be the first day of the pay period following completion of twenty-six (26) weeks of service in the new class.

- 2. When an employee in good standing is reduced to a position in a lower class for reasons other than unsatisfactory performance, he or she shall receive the highest salary in the new salary range that does not exceed his or her rate of pay immediately prior to reduction and shall retain his or her merit increase eligibility date.
- 3. When a probationary employee is reduced to a class he or she has not previously occupied, he or she shall be placed at a rate of pay that is 5% below the current rate of pay or the top step of the lower classification (whichever is lower) for the lower class and shall receive a new merit increase eligibility date as determined by the City Manager. A promotional probationary employee reduced to a class he or she formerly occupied in good standing shall have the step status, probationary status and merit increase eligibility date he or she would have achieved if he or she had remained in the lower class throughout the period of his or her service in the higher class.

H. <u>Acting Status Pay</u>

When an employee has been temporarily assigned to perform the duties of a higher classification for one-hundred sixty (160) consecutive hours, the employee will be temporarily promoted to the higher classification for the duration of the assignment and the employee's salary will be temporarily adjusted in accordance with the Salary on Promotion section of this Article.

Article XV - Workweek and FLSA Overtime Exemption

A. Workweek

The official workweek for employees shall be forty (40) hours and shall begin on each Friday and end with the following Thursday. Assigned work schedules are set by the City and may include varying work schedules that support the service needs of the department. Regular schedules are assigned by the Department Head and any changes must be approved by the City Manager in writing. Department Heads shall consider an employee's request on an individual basis.

B. FLSA Overtime Exemption

Pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act, the City has determined that all employees, positions and classifications in the Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit are exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act. As such, Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory employees shall not be eligible for paid overtime. OCEA agrees that during the term of this MOU it will neither challenge by litigation or any other method the above-referenced determination of City, nor will it encourage, represent or fund any employee in initiating or pursuing such a challenge to that determination. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed to limit or waive the rights of any City employee pursuant to law.

Article XVI - Benefits

A. <u>City Medical Insurance Contribution</u>

The City shall provide medical insurance to all full-time employees. Such insurance shall be provided as part of an Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) which shall include medical insurance, dental insurance, and vision insurance. Employees will have a choice of medical insurance plans offered through the California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) health program.

Effective January 1, 2020, the City shall contribute the CalPERS minimum employer contribution per month toward the cost of medical insurance for full-time employees.

Effective January 1, 2021, the City shall contribute the CalPERS minimum employer contribution per month toward the cost of medical insurance for full-time employees.

B. <u>Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan)</u>

In addition to the City's contribution toward medical insurance, the City shall provide an Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) for full-time employees to allocate funds as permitted under the cafeteria plan.

Effective January 1, 2020, upon adoption of this MOU, the City's monthly contribution to the optional benefits plan shall be as follows:

Coverage	<u>Contribution</u>
Employee	\$612
Employee + 1 dependent	\$1,344
Family	\$1,754
Medical Opt-Out	\$478

Effective January 1, 2021, the City's monthly contribution shall be increased by an amount equal to the average of the CalPERS HMO rates, not to exceed an increase of 9.5% All full-time employees must enroll in one of the PERS health program plans, unless they submit to the City both: (1) proof of other health coverage; and (2) a signed insurance waiver affidavit that complies with the Affordable Care Act's Eligible Opt Out Arrangement. Full time employees who waive health insurance coverage shall receive the Medical Opt-Out allocation toward their optional benefits plan, but shall not receive the City medical insurance contribution. All full-time employees must enroll in a dental plan and a vision plan.

Employees who select insurance plans with a lower cost than the employer contributions received under Paragraph A and Paragraph B will receive the balance in a pro-rated amount per pay period. Employees who select insurance plans with a higher premium than the contributions received under Paragraph A and Paragraph B shall contribute the difference between those amounts and the selected plans via payroll deduction.

CalPERS requires that all agencies choosing to participate in its health program provide coverage for retirees. The City shall provide retiree coverage pursuant to the CalPERS requirements.

CalPERS also requires that all agencies choosing to participate in its health program provide coverage for PERS-eligible part-time employees. During the term of this MOU, the City shall make the City medical insurance contribution, but part-time employees shall not receive the contribution to the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan). PERS-eligible part-time employees who choose to enroll in a health insurance program shall pay the difference between the City's minimum contribution and the cost of the selected plan.

The City contribution for eligible part-time employees shall only be available to employees for health insurance. Part- time employees who choose not to enroll in one of the PERS health insurance plans shall not receive the Medical Opt-Out allocation and shall obtain no benefit or cash equivalent under this Article.

OCEA and City acknowledge that City's willingness to participate in the CalPERS health program has been based, in part, on the: (1) availability of the Unequal Contribution Method for retirees; and (2) the minimum employer contribution for PERS-eligible parttime employees. In the event of a change in State law that increases the minimum employer contribution for retirees or part-time employees, or a change in CalPERS rules, regulations or policies that alters or eliminates the Unequal Contribution Method for retirees, OCEA and City representatives shall promptly meet and consult on the impact of such changes on the City's short-term and long-term cost of health insurance. After such consultation, if City determines that such changes will have a significant impact on short-term or long-term employer costs, the City reserves the right to withdraw from the CalPERS Health Program, and provide alternate health insurance coverage to City employees.

C. <u>Dental Insurance</u>

The City shall provide dental insurance to all full-time employees and their dependents. Dental insurance will be provided through the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) set forth above.

D. <u>Vision Care Plan</u>

The City shall provide vision care insurance to all full-time employees and their dependents. Vision insurance will be provided through the Optional Benefits Plan (Cafeteria Plan) set forth above.

E. <u>PERS Retirement Plan</u>

The City shall provide retirement benefits through the Public Employee's Retirement System (PERS).

The benefit shall be based upon the following PERS Local Miscellaneous formulas, as follows:

<u>Tier 1 – PERS 2% @ 55</u>

Full time employees and PERS eligible part time employees hired on or before March 23, 2012 shall contribute 7% of their salary toward the Employee Contribution Rate. The retirement allowance is based on the highest one-year final compensation.

Tier 2 – 2% @ 60

Full time employees and PERS eligible part time employees hired after March 23, 2012 shall contribute 7% of their salary toward the Employee Contribution Rate. The retirement allowance is based on the highest 36-months compensation.

Tier 3 – 2% @ 62

*New City employees hired after January 1, 2013 who are "new members" under the CalPERS regulations shall contribute one-half of the normal cost as determined annually by CalPERS. The retirement allowance is based on the highest 36-months compensation.

The City also offers the following optional benefit provisions:

Section 20930.3	Military Service Credit as Public Service
Section 21573	Third Level of 1959 Survivor Benefits
Section 21022.1	Industrial Disability Retirement for Local Miscellaneous Members
	(For employees hired prior to March 23, 2012)

F. <u>Life Insurance</u>

Full-time employees shall be provided a life insurance plan benefit in the amount of the employee's annual salary, not to exceed \$50,000, providing coverage for the eligible employee only. The City shall pay the full cost of plan coverage.

G. **Disability Insurance**

The City shall provide long-term disability insurance coverage for all full-time employees. The City shall pay the full cost of plan coverage.

H. Deferred Compensation Plan

The City shall provide a deferred compensation plan to provide employees a mechanism by which they may reduce their salary and pay for supplemental retirement benefits with pre-tax dollars. The City will contribute 50 cents for every \$1 (one dollar) of salary contributed to the deferred compensation plan by an employee. The City's contribution shall not exceed 3% of an employee's annual base salary. In no event shall the City's and Employee's combined contribution exceed the applicable annual limit set by the Internal Revenue Code. The City's contribution shall be limited to full-time employees and will be contributed on a monthly basis.

I. <u>Mileage Reimbursement</u>

The City will provide mileage reimbursement, at the IRS-approved rate, to employees who are required to use their personal vehicle for City business.

J. <u>Educational Reimbursement</u>

The City will provide an Educational Reimbursement Program for full-time employees. Eligible employees may request reimbursement, not to exceed \$1,000 per fiscal year, for actual expenses incurred for tuition, books and fees for college-level, job-related courses, certifications, training courses or degree curricula. All requests must be approved in advance by the Department Head and City Manager. Reimbursement for a course will only be made after satisfactory completion of the course with a grade of C or better.

The City will annually budget \$40,000 in the Educational Reimbursement Program account. Educational reimbursement requests will be handled on a first-come, first-serve basis.

Article XVII - Section 125 Plan Flexible Spending Account

The City will provide an IRS Section 125 Plan to provide employees a mechanism by which they may reduce their salary and pay for eligible medical reimbursements and/or childcare expenses with pre-tax dollars.

The parties acknowledge that the City's willingness to offer a Section 125 Plan is conditioned upon City's ability to maintain a binding and enforceable Reimbursement Agreement that will require an employee to reimburse the City for any health insurance premium, health care or child care expenses advanced or incurred on behalf of the employee and that are not fully reimbursable from the employee's Flexible Spending Account. All employees shall be required to sign the Reimbursement Agreement as a pre-condition to enrolling in the amended Section 125 Plan.

Article XVIII - Vacation

A. An employee may not use or be compensated by vacation accruals for more than eighty (80) regularly scheduled hours of work in any pay period. Accrued vacation hours are

provided upon completion of each pay period. No vacation accrual shall be given during any paid period or for any portion of a pay period during which the employee terminates from City service.

- B. A new employee in a full-time position will receive a lump sum of eighty (80) hours of vacation when he or she has completed two thousand eighty (2080) regularly scheduled paid hours (approximately 1 year) of work. He or she shall then earn .0382 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation accrual at any one time shall be two hundred (200) hours. Once an employee reaches the maximum accrual, no additional vacation accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.
- C. After a full-time employee has been paid for six thousand two-hundred forty (6240) regularly scheduled hours (approximately 3 years), he or she shall earn .0577 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation accrual at any one time shall be two hundred eighty (280) hours. Once an employee reaches the maximum accrual, no additional vacation accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.
- D. After an employee in a full-time position has been paid for twenty thousand eight hundred (20,800) regularly scheduled hours (approximately 10 years), he or she shall earn .077 hours vacation for each hour of pay during his or her regularly scheduled work week (up to a maximum of 40 hours in a work week). The maximum allowable vacation credit at any one time shall be three hundred sixty (360) hours. Once an employee reaches the maximum accrual, no additional vacation accrual will be provided until such time as the leave bank is reduced below the maximum.
- E. The minimum increment of time for use of vacation accrual shall be one-half (1/2) hour; additional actual absence over one-half (1/2) hour shall be charged to the nearest half hour. Additional vacation time earned during any vacation period may be taken during the pay period in which it is earned.
- F. The Department Head is responsible for scheduling the vacations of his/her employees in such a manner as to achieve the most efficient functioning of the City. An employee separating from the City shall be paid for all accrued vacation in a lump sum payment with their final paycheck.

G. From adoption of this MOU through December 31, 2020, employees may request to cash out up to sixty-five (65) hours of vacation. To be eligible for the payment of vacation, an employee must have used an equivalent number of vacation hours in the preceding six months. Requests for vacation cash out are subject to City Manager approval and economic feasibility.

Effective January 1, 2021 and continuing thereafter, employees must submit an irrevocable election form, by no later than December 15th of the preceding calendar year, to cash-out vacation. Employees may elect to cash out their annual vacation accrual for the following year, subject to a maximum of sixty five (65) hours of vacation and the requirement that the employee has used at least an equal number of vacation hours as the number of hours requested on the irrevocable election form. The cash-out is for hours to be accrued in the calendar year following submission of the irrevocable election form. For example, to receive a cash payment for vacation in December 2021, irrevocable election forms must be submitted by December 15, 2020.

The payment shall be made via payroll with the last paycheck in the following December after receipt of the irrevocable election form.

Employees who do not submit an irrevocable election form by December 15th will be deemed as foregoing participation in the optional annual leave cash-out program for that following calendar year.

In the event an employee has less hours in their vacation bank at the time the cash-out is to be paid than they had previously elected to cash-out, the employee shall only be paid for up to the amount remaining in their vacation bank at the time of the actual cash-out.

An employee who experiences an unforeseeable emergency may be permitted to make a new irrevocable election and/or to increase the amount of a previous election, subject to the same value that was permitted at the time the annual irrevocable election forms were due.

For these purposes, an "unforeseeable emergency" means a financial hardship to the employee resulting from any of the following:

- Accident, illness, injury or death of the employee or an immediate family member. For this purpose, an "immediate family member" is restricted to a spouse, registered domestic partner, child/legal dependent, or parent; or
- Loss or extensive damage to the employee's property due to casualty; or
- Other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control of the participant.

Whether an occurrence is an unforeseeable emergency shall be solely determined by the City Manager or designee.

Article XIX – Leaves

A. <u>Accumulation of Sick Leave</u>

- 1. Sick leave with pay shall be earned at the rate of eight hours for each calendar month (96 hours per year) of service for full time employees.
- 2. Sick leave may be applied to:
 - a. An absence caused by illness or injury to an employee.
 - b. Medical and dental office appointments for examinations when absence during working hours for this purpose is authorized by the Department Head.
 - c. Absence from duty by an employee because his or her presence is needed to attend to the critical illness of a member of his or her immediate family where death appears imminent, but FMLA is not triggered, provided that such absence shall be limited to a maximum of forty-eight (48) hours per calendar year. For purposes of this section, immediate family shall mean father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, step-parent, brother, step-brother, sister, step-sister, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, grandparent, grandchild, legal guardian or other individuals whose relationship to the employee is that of a dependent or near dependent.
 - d. In instances where FMLA is not triggered, absence from duty by an employee to attend to the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition of, or preventative care for, a child, parent, spouse, registered domestic partner, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandchild or sibling; provided, however, that such absence shall be limited to a maximum of forty-eight hours per Calendar Year.
 - e. An absence of an employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking.
- 3. The minimum increment of time to use sick leave accruals shall be one-half (1/2) hour and additional absences over one-half (1/2) hour shall be charged to the nearest half hour (1/2).

- 4. Any employee who is absent from work must report his or her absence to his or her immediate supervisor at or before the scheduled work time each day of absence. In the case of prolonged periods of absence due to serious illness, employees may arrange, at the discretion of their immediate supervisor, to report less frequently.
- 5. Upon separation, retirement with benefits from CalPERS, or death, an employee or the employee's estate shall be paid for a portion of the employee's unused sick leave in an amount computed as provided below:

For full-time employees hired before October 1, 1994:

	Percent of Unused Sick
Years of Service	Leave Paid For
Less than 2 2 or more	None 50%

For full-time employees hired on or after October 1, 1994:

	Percent of Unused Sick
Years of Service	Leave Paid For
Less than 10	None
10 or more	25%

No unused sick leave benefit shall be paid to any employee who is terminated for just cause.

- 6. Full-time employees hired before October 1, 2011 shall have the option to convert accrued but unused sick leave, in excess of 176 hours, to additional floating holidays for the calendar year. The conversion rate shall be twenty-five percent (25%). For example, thirty-two (32) hours of sick leave may be converted to eight (8) hours of floating holiday. No more than ninety-six (96) hours of sick leave may be converted to no more than twenty four (24) hours of floating holiday in any calendar year. Any unused floating holiday hours will be forfeited at the end of a calendar year.
- 7. New employees hired on or after October 1, 2011 shall not be paid for any portion

of unused sick leave upon separation, termination or retirement from the City and shall not have any right to convert accrued unused sick leave to additional floating holidays or any other form of paid leave during their course of employment with the City.

B. <u>Bereavement Leave</u>

Full-time employees shall be granted five (5) days leave of absence on account of the death of any member of his or her immediate family. For purposes of this Section, immediate family shall mean father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, step-parent, brother, step-brother, sister, step-sister, spouse, registered domestic partner, child, grandparent, grandchild, legal guardian or other individuals whose relationship to the employee is that of a dependent or near dependent.

C. <u>Authorized Leave Without Pay</u>

- 1. The City Manager may authorize leave of absence without pay for a period not to exceed one (1) year provided that any such leave shall commence after all accumulated compensatory time, vacation, and sick leave (if applicable) accruals have been exhausted.
- 2. All requests for leaves of absence without pay shall state the reason therefore, the commencement date, and the probable date of return.
- 3. Each employee granted leave of absence without pay shall give the City Manager two (2) weeks prior notice of his or her intent to return to work.
- 4. Except for mitigating circumstances approved by the City Manager, the failure of any employee to return to work upon the expiration of his/her leave of absence shall be deemed an abandonment of his/her position.
- 5. Vacation and sick leave shall cease to accrue during any period of leave without pay. An employee may continue to participate in the City's health and other insurance plans at his or her own expense.

D. <u>Jury Duty Leave</u>

An employee who is called for jury duty or for examination for jury duty shall be compensated at the employee's base hourly rate of pay for those hours of absence due to the jury duty which occur during the employee's regularly scheduled working hours provided the employee deposits the employee's fees for such hours of jury duty, exclusive of mileage, with the City. Fees for jury duty performed during hours other than regularly scheduled working hours may be retained by the employee.

E. <u>Witness Leave</u>

An employee who is called to answer a subpoena as a witness during the employee's work hours shall be compensated at his or her base hourly rate of pay for all hours of absence from work due to answering the subpoena provided the employee shows proof of such subpoena and deposits witness fees received for such hours, exclusive of mileage, with the City. Fees for answering a subpoena as a witness during hours other than regularly scheduled working hours may be retained by the employee.

F. <u>Family and Medical Leave</u>

The City will comply with the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). For further information please refer to the City Policy pertaining to FMLA.

G. <u>Maternity Leave</u>

The City will comply with the California Family Rights Act (CFRA) and Pregnancy Disability Leave Act. For further information please refer to the City Policy pertaining to Maternity Leave.

H. Industrial Accident Leave

In the event that it is determined that an employee is absent from work as a result of any injury or disease arising solely out of the employment with the City:

1. Temporary disability benefits shall be coordinated with accrued sick leave, vacation, compensatory time and any other benefits so that the employee shall receive the difference between the Worker's Compensation payments and his or her regular salary. Coordination of benefits shall cease at such time that the employee's condition is deemed permanent and stationary as determined by the City's appointed doctor. This shall be in compliance with workers' compensation laws.

- 2. An on-the-job injury or accident must be reported to the employee's immediate supervisor within twenty-four (24) hours after said injury or accident, if practicable. In the event of an on-the-job injury or accident resulting in loss of time beyond that required for immediate medical attention, such employee may be required to be examined by a licensed physician appointed by the City of Laguna Niguel. An employee may be required to perform light-duty or restricted work if medically released to perform such work by the City's physician.
- 3. The employee shall continue to accrue Sick Leave and Vacation Leave during the term of the Industrial Accident Leave taken.

I. <u>Military Leave</u>

An employee having a probationary or regular appointment shall be entitled to such benefits as are provided in the California Military and Veterans Code and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act ("USERRA"). An employee requesting such Military Leave shall present a copy of his or her military orders to his or her Department Head prior to the beginning of the Leave.

Employees are entitled to a temporary Military Leave of Absence not to exceed 180 calendar days per year. Employees having one (1) year or more of continuous service and granted a temporary Military Leave of Absence are entitled to receive the equivalent salary up to the first thirty (30) calendar days of leave. Weekend drills are excluded from meaning of ordered Military Leave which means employees do not receive salary in excess of their regular salary for these drills.

This MOU does not cover all circumstances covered by California law or USERRA. Where there is a conflict, California law and USERRA govern.

J. <u>Administrative Leave</u>

Effective the first pay period in January of each year, each active full-time Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory employee will receive fifty-six (56) hours of Administrative Leave for use during the subsequent calendar year. For employees hired after the first pay period of a calendar year, hours of Administrative Leave will be prorated based on the month of hire (4.67 hours/month). Administrative Leave may be

requested and scheduled, subject to approval of the Department Head. Administrative Leave may not be accrued, accumulated or carried over from year to year. Any unused Administrative Leave remaining at the end of a calendar year shall be forfeited.

Article XX – Holidays

A. Holidays Observed

1. Employees shall observe the following holidays: New Year's Day Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Presidents' Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Day Day after Christmas New Year's Eve ^{*}Two (2) Floating Holidays or 16 hours (see below)

* (Effective the first pay period of January of each year, each full-time employee, will receive two (2) floating holidays (16 hours) for use during the calendar year. For employees hired during the calendar year, the amount of hours shall be prorated based on the month of hire (1.33 hours per month). Floating holidays must be used during the calendar year in which they were granted.)

2. When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the next day shall be observed as the holiday. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the preceding day shall be observed as the holiday.

B. <u>Eligibility for Holiday Pay</u>

1. An employee must be paid for all or a portion of both the regularly scheduled working day immediately prior to a holiday and the regularly scheduled working day immediately after that holiday in order to receive holiday pay. With City

approval, compensatory time earned for working on a holiday or for a holiday falling on a regularly scheduled day off may be taken on the first scheduled working day after the holiday.

- 2. A new employee whose first working day is the day after a holiday shall not be paid for the holiday.
- 3. An employee who is terminating employment and whose last day as a paid employee is the day before a holiday shall not be paid for that holiday.

C. <u>Holiday Pay</u>

- 1. On each of the holidays designated above, each full-time employee scheduled to work but permitted to take the day off shall be paid for the hours they were regularly scheduled to work.
- 2. Compensation for Holidays falling on scheduled days off:

When a holiday falls on a full-time employee's regularly scheduled day off, the employee shall be entitled to take an alternative day off as the holiday.

3. Holidays which fall during an employee's vacation period shall not be charged against the employee's vacation balance.

Article XXI – Part-Time Employee General Leave Program

- 1. Part-time employees in classifications represented by this unit are not eligible for leave benefits provided to full-time employees or to those leaves of absence provisions provided for in this MOU.
- 2. Part-Time employees are eligible for General Leave (which is intended to provide more than the minimum leave required under California's Paid Sick Leave Law) and may be used for time off for any purpose.
- 3. Part-time employees must request to use general leave using the process required by their department.
- 4. General Leave for part-time employees accrues as follows:

- a. Part-Time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .042 per actual hour worked upon hire through the completion of four years of service (48 months).
- b. Beginning with the 5th year (49th month) of employment and through the completion of nine years (108 months) of employment, part-time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .084 per actual hour worked.
- c. Beginning with the 10th year (109th month) of employment, part-time employees receive general leave accrual at the rate of .168 per actual hour worked.
- 5. General Leave has a maximum accrual of one hundred hours (100).
- 6. General leave has no cash value during employment or upon separation of employment.

Article XXII - Layoff and Recall

A. Layoff Authority

The City may, in its sole discretion, abolish any position or employment due to lack of work, lack of funds, reorganization or other legitimate reason or business purpose. The employee holding such position or employment may be laid off without disciplinary action and without right of appeal.

B. <u>Seniority and Employee Performance</u>

Seniority and employee performance shall govern the layoff of employees. Seniority shall be determined as the total number of years of full-time employment in the classification within the Department where the position is to be eliminated. Employee performance shall be determined on the basis of the most recent annual performance evaluation. A rating of "Outstanding" shall increase the employee's seniority by two (2) years. A rating of "Exceeds Expectations" shall increase the employee's seniority by one (1) year. A rating of "Meets Expectations" shall neither increase nor decrease the employee's seniority. A rating of "Needs Improvement" shall decrease the employee's seniority by one (1) year. A rating of "Unsatisfactory" shall decrease the employee's seniority by one (1) year.

C. Order of Layoff

Layoffs shall be made by classification within a Department. The order of layoff shall be established by the City Manager or his/her designee. The order of layoff will begin with

the employee with the least total seniority as determined in accordance with Section B of this Article. If two (2) or more employees have the same seniority, the City Manager, after consideration of Citywide seniority and consultation with the Department Head, shall determine the order of layoff for these employees. No regular full-time employee shall be laid off until all probationary, limited term, and part-time employees holding positions in the same class in the Department are first laid off.

D. <u>Notice of Layoff</u>

Employees to be laid off shall be given at least fourteen (14) calendar days notice.

E. Voluntary Demotion to Previously Held Position

A regular full-time employee who receives a final layoff notice may, within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the notice, request voluntary demotion to a previously held position in a lower classification that remains budgeted. In that event, the employee's seniority and position on the layoff list shall be reevaluated in accordance with Section B of this Article; provided, however, that seniority shall include the total number of years of full-time employment in the current classification and previously held position.

F. <u>Re-employment List and Recall</u>

The names of regular and probationary full-time employees laid off or demoted in-lieu of layoff shall be placed on re-employment lists for one (1) year. When a vacancy occurs in the subject classification, the appointing authority shall consider the former employees from the re-employment list. It is the responsibility of the employee on a re-employment list to keep the City informed of his/her current address and telephone number, and availability for work.

Article XXIII - Safety

A. <u>General Provisions</u>

Recognizing that a safe work environment is of substantial benefit to both the City and employees, the City and OCEA mutually agree to the following safety programs:

1. No employee shall be required to work under conditions dangerous to the employee's health or safety. An employee who has a safety concern should report that concern to any available supervisor.

- 2. The City shall make every reasonable effort to provide and maintain a safe place of employment. OCEA shall urge all employees to perform their work in a safe manner. Employees shall be alert to unsafe practices, equipment and conditions and report any such unsafe practices, equipment or conditions to their immediate supervisors. Employees shall follow safe practices and obey reasonable safety rules during the hours of their employment.
 - 3. The City shall furnish all equipment which is necessary for employees to perform their job in a safe manner.
- 4. Wherever practical, the City shall provide the necessary first aid kits in each location.
- 5. Wherever practical, the City shall provide first aid training for one (1) employee at each new work location.

B. <u>Safety Inspection</u>

During inspection of City facilities conducted by the State Division of Industrial Safety for the purpose of determining compliance with the California OSHA requirements, an OCEA designated employee shall be allowed to accompany the inspector while the inspector is in the employee's department. The employee so designated shall suffer no loss of pay when this function is performed during the employee's regularly scheduled work hours.

C. <u>Abatement of Violations</u>

In any instance in which the City is cited for a violation of California OSHA, the City shall make a good faith effort to abate the cited hazard to health and safety within the abatement period required.

D. <u>Safety Committee Representatives</u>

- 1. Safety Committee Representatives may be selected by OCEA to meet at least once a quarter, upon request, with a City designated representative to discuss matters affecting employee health and safety.
- 2. A Safety Committee Representative who has received a safety or health complaint shall be given reasonable time off without loss of pay to gather appropriate

information on such complaint provided that:

- a. The Safety Committee reviews the complaint and determines the process to be used to gather information and evaluate the complaint.
- b. When needed, the Safety Committee Representative may need to obtain permission from his or her supervisor prior to performing such work and reports back to the supervisor and/or safety committee when the work is completed.
- c. When an authorized Safety Committee Representative must go into another section or unit to gather information regarding a safety or health complaint, the Safety Committee Representative shall be permitted to do so provided that:
 - 1. The Safety Committee Representative checks in and checks out with the Human Resources representative; and
 - 2. He or she does not unduly interfere with the work of the unit.

E. <u>Resolution of Safety or Health Complaints</u>

If a safety or health complaint is not satisfactorily resolved, a grievance may be filed at Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

<u>Article XXIV - Uniforms, Safety Gear</u> <u>and Inclement Weather Gear</u>

Employees in designated classes shall be provided and required to wear City uniforms. The City will report the value of the required uniform for eligible employees up to \$700 on an annual basis to CalPERS. Employees subject to PEPRA guidelines (new CalPERS members hired after January 1, 2013) are not eligible for uniform benefit reporting to CalPERS. Steel toed shoes and safety glasses will be provided to employees whose regular duties require their usage and be replaced as needed. Rain gear will be provided to employees whose regular full-time duties require them to work outside on a continuous basis in the adverse elements.

Article XXV - Personnel Files

The official personnel file for each City employee shall be maintained by the Deputy City Manager

or designee. Employees have the right to review their official personnel file by scheduling a specific date and time, twenty-four (24) hours in advance, with the Deputy City Manager or designee. Documents designated by law as confidential shall not be subject to review by the employee.

A copy of any commendations, written warnings or reprimands, disciplinary actions, Personnel Action Forms and performance reviews placed in the employee's personnel file will be provided to the employee.

Written reprimands shall be retained at least two (2) years. If after two (2) years no similar or other unacceptable behavior is reported, the employee may request in writing that the reprimand be purged from his or her file. Upon review and approval of the Department Head the written reprimand shall be removed from the employee's file.

Article XXVI - Probationary Period

- A. Any new or re-employed employee in a full-time position shall serve a probationary period for a period of twenty-six (26) weeks from the date of appointment or hiring. Management has full discretion to extend the probationary period for up to an additional 26 weeks if an employee needs additional time to be evaluated. Any extension of the probationary period is not contestable by the employee.
- B. Any employee who is promoted shall also serve a probationary period commencing on the date of promotion and ending on the first day of the pay period following the completion of twenty-six (26) weeks. A promotional probationary employee may be returned to their prior position during the probationary period without right of due process, appeal or hearing.
- C. A probationary employee (other than a promotional probationary employee) may be separated from service without cause at any time during any probation period without right of appeal or hearing.

Article XXVII - Performance Reviews

A. The City shall maintain a system of employee performance ratings designed to give a fair evaluation of the quantity and quality of work performed by an employee. Such ratings shall be prepared and recorded in the employee's personnel file for all regular full-time and part-time employees at least once each year; and in addition, for employees on probationary status, at least once near the middle of the probation period.

- B. The City shall discuss with the employee the specific ratings prior to such ratings being made part of the employee's personnel file.
- C. When a performance evaluation is recorded in the personnel file of an employee, a copy of such evaluation, together with any attachment relating thereto, shall be given to the employee. Any written response by the employee to the performance evaluation shall be attached to such evaluation in the personnel files.
- D. Employee performance evaluations shall be provided in a timely manner. If an employee's performance evaluation is not completed when it is due, the employee shall notify his/her Department Head/Supervisor in writing and request completion of the evaluation.

Effective July 1, 2020:

If an employee's performance evaluation is not completed within 30 days of when it is scheduled to be due, the employee shall notify the Deputy City Manager in writing to request completion of the evaluation.

E. The City shall provide OCEA with a list of performance evaluation dates for members of the bargaining unit.

Article XXVIII - Classification

A. <u>The Establishment of New Classes</u>

The City will provide OCEA an information copy of the new class specification and salary range for any proposed class in the representation unit. Whenever it is proposed to reclassify an incumbent employee to a proposed new class in the representation unit, the City agrees to meet and confer with OCEA in an attempt to reach agreement on the salary range for the proposed new class prior to submitting the proposed new class to the City Council for adoption.

B. <u>Procedure for Requesting Reclassification of a Position</u>

Step 1:An employee who believes his or her position is not properly classified may
submit a written request to his or her Department Head and the Deputy City
Manager, or designee that a classification study be conducted. Requests

shall state the reasons the employee believes the present class is not appropriate and which class the employee believes is appropriate based on the employee's present duties. Such request shall be submitted in January to permit consideration as part of the City's budget review and adoption process.

- Step 2: The Deputy City Manager, or designee shall perform a job analysis of the employee's duties and responsibilities, as well as the duties and responsibilities of incumbent employees within the class to which the employee seeks reclassification. The job analysis may include, but is not limited to: completion of job questionnaires or position description forms, interviews with key employees and supervisors, observation of performed duties, desk audits, etc. The findings and recommendations of the Deputy City Manager, or designee shall be provided to the employee, the employee's Department Head and the City Manager.
- Step 3: If the Deputy City Manager, or designee recommends that the employee be reclassified, and the City Manager concurs, the City Manager shall recommend such reclassification in the proposed City Budget for the ensuing fiscal year. If the Deputy City Manager, or designee recommends that the reclassification request be denied, the employee may file a grievance at Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

C. <u>Limitations on Classification Studies</u>

An employee may not request a classification study if the position has been evaluated during the preceding two (2) years.

Article XXIX - Part-Time Employees

Part-time employees shall not be eligible for employer paid benefits, leaves of absence unless explicitly stated in this MOU or otherwise required by law. Part-time employees shall include seasonal, temporary and emergency employees, and regular part-time employees who are normally scheduled to work less than forty (40) hours per week.

Part-time employees are "At-Will" employees, they serve at the pleasure of the City Manager, they have no expectation of continued employment, and they may be terminated or disciplined by the City Manager at any time with or without cause, and with or without receiving prior notice or having the right to pre-or-post disciplinary due process, including a hearing.

The City shall determine the number of hours that a part-time employee is assigned to work each week, and the number of hours may range from 0 to 40 hours per week at the discretion of the City.

Part-time employees shall not be covered under the layoff or recall provisions of this MOU.

Article XXX - Limited Term Employees

Limited-term employee shall mean a person employed by the City on a full-time basis in a limitedterm position. A limited-term position shall mean a position which the City has determined to be of uncertain long-term need, duration and/or funding. A limited-term employee shall be eligible for the same pay, paid leave and City insurance benefits that are provided to regular full-time employees. Limited-term employees shall be considered at-will employees who may be terminated by the City at any time, with or without cause or notice, and without pre-or-post disciplinary due process or right of appeal. Additionally, limited-term employees shall not be covered under the Layoff and Recall provisions of this MOU. However, after five (5) years of continuous employment, a limited-term full-time employee shall be converted to regular full-time employment status, and shall be entitled to all other rights and benefits conferred upon regular fulltime employees by this MOU.

Article XXXI - Employee Recognition Program

City shall establish an Employee Recognition Program. OCEA shall establish an Employee Recognition Program Committee to work with the City on the planning and conduct of annual employee recognition events. The annual budget for employee recognition events shall be established by the City Council.

City shall recognize full-time employees for length of service to the City with a Gift Card to a local business of the employee's choice. The cash value of the Gift Card shall be \$10 for each year of full-time service to the City and shall be awarded at five-year intervals as follows:

5 Years of Service:	\$50
10 Years of Service:	\$100
15 Years of Service:	\$150
20 Years of Service:	\$200
25 Years of Service:	\$250
Etc.	

Article XXXII - Use of South Coast YMCA Facilities

The City owns the YMCA building at Crown Valley Community Park. The YMCA operates health and fitness facilities and programs under a long-term lease and operating agreement with the City. Both Full-time and Part-time City employees shall have health and fitness facility use privileges at the YMCA building, subject to such terms and conditions that are mutually agreeable to the City and YMCA.

These use privileges are based on: (1) YMCA's consent to permit use of its health and fitness facilities by full-time City employees; and (2) the continuing acceptability of facility use terms and conditions to both City and YMCA. In the event YMCA withdraws its consent to permit use of its health and fitness facilities by City employees, or the facility use terms and conditions are no longer acceptable to the City, OCEA acknowledges that City may terminate this privilege. City agrees to meet and consult with OCEA prior to terminating such use privileges.

Article XXXIII - Drug-Free Workplace and Harassment Policies

The Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 requires the adoption of a Drug-Free Workplace Policy by employers with any federal grant or federal contract worth more than \$25,000. The City and OCEA agree to the provisions of the City of Laguna Niguel Drug-Free Workplace Policy set forth in Attachment 2.

The City and OCEA further agree to the provisions of the Harassment Policy set forth in Attachment 3.

Article XXXIV - Gift Restrictions

No employee shall accept any gift or gifts, totaling \$100 or more in value during any 12-month period, from any person, firm or organization conducting or seeking to conduct business with the City.

Article XXXV - Pension and Health Care Reform Proposals

A. <u>Pension Reform Proposals</u>

City and OCEA acknowledge that various legislative and initiative proposals are under consideration and/or pending that, if enacted, will modify or reduce pension benefits for future California state and local government employees. City and OCEA agree that if, during the term of this MOU, there is a change in State law that mandates a different or reduced pension benefit for newly hired City employees, that City may take such actions that are necessary to comply with State law, including, but not limited to, implementation of new, different or reduced pension benefits for newly hired City employees. City shall have no obligation to meet and confer with OCEA on such matters.

B. <u>Health Care Reform Proposals</u>

City and OCEA acknowledge that various legislative proposals are under consideration and/or pending that, if enacted, may change the requirements for California employers to provide health care coverage for employees. City and OCEA agree that if, during the term of this MOU, there is a change in State or Federal law that mandates the City to provide health care coverage for part-time employees and/or increases the City's cost of health insurance, then City and OCEA shall re-open negotiations on the City's health insurance plans and the City's and Employee's respective contributions toward the cost of such plans.

Article XXXVI - Non-Discrimination

Neither party to this MOU shall illegally discriminate against any employee on the basis of any legally protected classification identified by law. The parties further agree that they shall not interfere with, intimidate, restrain, coerce, or discriminate against any employee in his or her free choice to participate or not participate in the activities of and right to join the OCEA.

It is agreed by both parties to this MOU that they will fully comply with all applicable local, State and Federal laws, rules and regulations governing equal employment opportunity. In recognition of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the City will, in evaluating each situation on a case-by-case basis, endeavor to carefully consider ways to reasonably accommodate disabled employees.

If an employee believes that he/she may have been discriminated against, refer to the City Harassment Policy.

Article XXXVII – Severability

It is understood and mutually agreed that this MOU is subject to all applicable Federal, State and City laws and ordinances.

If any provision of this MOU is determined to be invalid or illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions will not be deemed valid and shall be severed from this MOU, except to the extent permitted by law, but the remainder hereof shall remain in full force and effect. Should any change be made in any State or Federal law, or in any rules and regulations implementing such legislation, then such provision shall be automatically terminated but the remainder of this MOU shall remain in full force and effect.

The Parties hereto shall meet and confer within a reasonable time for the purpose of discussing the implications and impacts related to the replacement of any provision of this Agreement determined to be invalid or illegal pursuant to this paragraph.

Article XXXVIII - Concerted Activities

Apart from and in addition to existing legal restrictions upon and remedies for work stoppage, the OCEA hereby agrees that during the term of this MOU neither it nor its members or agents, representatives or persons acting in concert with any of them, shall incite, engage or participate in any strike, walkout, slowdown, sick-out or other work stoppage of any nature against the City whatsoever, or wheresoever located, including but not limited to disputes which are related to the subject matter contained in this MOU; disputes between the City and other employee organizations, persons or employees; or jurisdictional disputes. In the event of any strike, walkout, slowdown, sick-out or other work stoppage or threat thereof against the City, OCEA and its officers will take steps reasonably within their control to end or avert the same.

Those represented by the OCEA will not authorize, engage in, encourage, sanction, recognize or assist in any strike, slowdown, walkout, sick-out or other work stoppage against the City or picket in furtherance thereof, or participate in unlawful concerted interference in violation of this provision, or refuse to perform duly assigned services in violation of this provision. It is understood that any person represented by OCEA found in violation of this provision will be subject to discipline, including termination, as determined by the Deputy City Manager, according to Personnel Rules and Regulations.

Article XXXIX - Term

The terms and conditions of this MOU will be effective the date of City Council adoption of this MOU unless otherwise stated in the MOU. This MOU shall remain in full force and effect from October 1, 2019through September 30, 2021.

///

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Memorandum of Understanding on the dates indicated below.

Saliem Aregaye Employee Relations Representative

Date: 03/04/20

Cathy Angstadt Bargaining Committee Member

Date: 3/4/2020

Tina Dittmar Bargaining Committee Member

Date: 03-04-2020

ear

Tamara S. Letourneau City Manager

Date: 3/

Kristine Recchia

Kristi Recchia Labor Relations Director

4/13/20 Date:

Justin J. Martin Deputy City Manager

2020 Date: 03 24

Eric Hendrickson Finance Director

Date:

Dorna Farhadi Senior Management Analyst

Date: 3/4/2620

ATTACHMENT 1

Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit Classifications

Full-Time Classifications:

Accountant **Aquatics Supervisor** Assistant Civil Engineer Assistant Planner Associate Civil Engineer Associate Planner Building & Facilities Superintendent Community Liaison **Environmental Programs Supervisor** Grading Engineer IT Network Administrator Management Analyst Parks & Landscape Maintenance Superintendent **Recreation Supervisor** Senior Accountant Senior Civil Engineer Senior Planner Street Maintenance Superintendent

*Part-Time Classifications:

Management Analyst

* Eligible part-time employees include those employed on a permanent year-round basis for whom work is regularly scheduled at least twenty (20) hours per week.

ATTACHMENT 2

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL Drug-Free Workplace Policy

Policy Statement

Substance abuse has been found to be a contributing factor to absenteeism, substandard performance, increased potential for accidents, poor morale and impaired public relations. It is the goal of the City, therefore, to eliminate substance abuse in the workplace by clearly stating employee responsibilities and by providing Department Heads with guidelines and procedures for the detection of such abuse and the enforcement of related policies and regulations.

It is the responsibility of City employees to cooperate in efforts to protect the life, personal safety and property of co-workers and fellow citizens. Employees shall, therefore, take all reasonable steps to abide by and cooperate in the implementation and enforcement of these policies and regulations.

The City encourages employees who believe that they may have a drug or alcohol problem to seek counseling, assistance and/or rehabilitation, and will be supportive of those employees who <u>voluntarily</u> seek help. However, the City will be equally firm in identifying and disciplining those employees who continue to be substance abusers and do not seek help.

Alcohol or drug abuse in the workplace will not be tolerated, and disciplinary action, up to and including termination, will be used as necessary to achieve the goal of eliminating substance abuse in the workplace.

Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988

The Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 applies to employers with any federal grant or with a federal contract worth more than \$25,000. The law requires that employees convicted of any drug related workplace crime notify their employer within five (5) days of the conviction. The employer must then notify the granting or contracting agency within ten (10) calendar days of receiving a conviction notice from the employee. The employer must then impose sanctions (up to and including termination) against the convicted employee within 30 calendar days and/or require him/her to participate in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved by an appropriate law enforcement or health agency.

I. <u>Employee Responsibilities</u>

An employee must:

1. Not report to work or be subject to duty while "under the influence of drugs or alcohol".

"Under the influence of drugs or alcohol" means the use of any alcoholic beverage or any illegal drug or substance, or the misuse or any prescribed drug, in a manner or degree that impairs the employee's work performance or ability to use City property or equipment safely.

- 2. Notify his/her supervisor, before beginning work, when taking any medications or drugs, prescription or non-prescription, which may interfere with the safe and effective performance of duties or operation of City equipment.
- 3. Not possess or use alcohol or impairing drugs (illegal drugs and prescription drugs without a prescription) during working hours or while subject to duty, on breaks, during meal periods or anytime while on City property.
- 4. Not directly or through a third party sell or provide drugs or alcohol to any person, including any employee, while either employee or both employees are on duty or subject to being called.
- 5. Immediately complete and sign a consent form (see attached) and submit to an alcohol and drug test when requested to do so by the employee's department head.
- 6. Provide, within 24 hours of request, bona fide verification of a current valid prescription for any potentially impairing drug or medication identified when a drug test is positive. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- 7. Sign, if requested to do so by his/her department head, a "Last Chance Agreement" (see attached) as a condition of continued employment subsequent to entering a drug and/or alcohol treatment or rehabilitation program.
- 8. Report any conviction under a criminal drug statute to the City Manager within five (5) days of such conviction.

II. <u>Management Responsibilities</u>

- 1. Department heads are responsible for reasonable enforcement of this policy.
- 2. Department heads may request that an employee submit to a drug and/or alcohol test in accordance with the guidelines set forth in this policy.
- 3. If an employee refuses a request by a department head to complete and sign a consent form (see drug testing prerequisites), or refuses a request to submit to a drug or alcohol test, the department head shall remind the employee of the requirements and disciplinary consequences of this policy. Such refusal may be considered as insubordinate conduct and grounds for disciplinary action.
- 4. When there is "reasonable suspicion", (as defined in Section V, paragraph 3) that the employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol, the department head shall arrange for the employee to be safely transported home.

III. <u>Employer Searches</u>

- 1. For the purpose of enforcing this policy and maintaining a drug and alcohol-free workplace, the City, upon reasonable suspicion, may search areas and property in which the City maintains full or joint control with the employees. These areas include, but are not limited to, City vehicles, desks, lockers, file cabinets and bookshelves. The search will be conducted only with the approval of the City Manager or his/her designee. The City will make a reasonable effort to contact the employee to have him/her present while searching the property in question.
- 2. The City shall not physically search the person of an employee or the personal possessions of an employee without the freely given consent of the employee, and in the presence of the City Manager or his/her designee.
- 3. Department heads shall notify the City Manager or his/her designee whenever they have reasonable suspicion to believe that an employee may have illegal drugs in his/her possession or in an area not jointly or fully controlled by the City. If the City Manager or his/her designee concurs that there is reasonable suspicion of illegal drug possession, the Sheriff's Department shall be contacted.

IV. <u>Rehabilitation</u>

- 1. The City encourages those employees who think that they may have a problem with drugs and/or alcohol to seek assistance and rehabilitation.
- 2. A decision by an employee to voluntarily seek treatment or rehabilitation for the first time will not be used as the basis for disciplinary action. However, the City may in such cases require such employees to comply with the provisions set forth in this policy pertaining to "Last Chance Agreements" and Follow-up Testing.

- 3. If necessary, the employee will be granted a leave of absence without pay in order to accommodate treatment and rehabilitation.
- 4. Employees who undergo treatment and/or rehabilitation may be required to sign a "Last Chance Agreement" as a condition of continued employment. In this agreement (see attached) the employee promises to complete the treatment or rehabilitation program and to comply with other terms stated in the agreement. If the employee violates the agreement, he/she shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- 5. An employee entering a rehabilitation program may be required to submit to random testing for up to one year after completion of the program. If the employee fails to comply or if further substance abuse is detected upon testing, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

V. Drug/Alcohol Testing

- 1. An employee may be requested to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test when his/her department head has reasonable suspicion that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol while on the job or subject to being called.
- 2. Follow-up drug and/or alcohol testing related to rehabilitation (see Rehabilitation) may also be required.
- 3. "Reasonable Suspicion" is defined as a belief, based upon objective facts, sufficient to lead a reasonable and prudent department head to suspect that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the employee's ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or so that the employee's ability to perform his/her job is reduced. For example, any of the following, alone or in combination, may constitute reasonable suspicion:
 - Slurred speech
 - Alcohol odor on breath
 - Unsteady walking and movement
 - Accident involving City property
 - Physical altercation
 - Verbal altercation
 - Unusual behavior
 - Possession of alcohol or drugs
 - Information obtained from a reliable person with personal knowledge
- 4. Any department head requesting an employee to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test shall document in writing the facts constituting reasonable suspicion that the employee in question is under the influence of drugs or alcohol.

- 5. Prior to the administration of any drug or alcohol test, the department head shall first obtain from the employee a completed and signed consent form (attached). This consent form shall provide for the employee's consent to physical and/or psychological examination and testing.
- 6. If the drug test is positive, the employee must provide, within 24 hours of request, bona fide verification of a valid current prescription for the drug identified in the drug test. The prescription must be in the employee's name.
- 7. Laboratory results or test results shall not appear in an employee's general personnel file. Information of this nature shall be contained in a separate confidential medical folder that will be securely kept under the control of the Personnel Officer. The reports or test results may be disclosed to the employee upon request. Disclosures, without employee consent, may also occur when:
 - a. The information is compelled by law or by judicial or administrative process.
 - b. The information has been placed at issue in a formal dispute between the employer and employee.
 - c. The information is to be used in administering an employee benefit plan.
 - d. The information is needed by medical personnel for the diagnosis or treatment of the employee who is unable to authorize disclosure.

VI. <u>Disciplinary Action</u>

- 1. Disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal, may be taken against an employee for either of the following reasons:
 - a. Failure to comply with any of the Employee Responsibilities set forth in this policy.
 - b. Positive results from a drug and/or alcohol test.

//

CONSENT FOR DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING

I hereby authorize	
(inser	t name of laboratory or clinic)
to collect from me the following specimens	
	(blood, urine, other)
and to conduct tests on such samples to dete	ermine the presence of alcohol, drugs, their metabolites,
	Drug-Free Workplace Policy. I hereby authorize
to conduc	
(insert name of physician) examination on me. Further, I consent to t	(Physical &/or Psychological) the release of the examination and/or test results to the ry actions or for other legitimate work related
101	(name of physician)
evaluation or consultation.	(name of physician)
evaluation of consultation.	
This consent is offective immediately and a	shall ramain in affact until
This consent is effective immediately and s	
·	(Data)
	(Date)
CONSENT GIVEN:	
CUNSENT GIVEN:	
Employee's Name (Drint)	Employee's Signature
Employee's Name (Print)	Employee's Signature
	Date
	Date
Witness Name (Print)	Witness Signature
	Thirdsb Signature
	Date
	Duit
CONSENT REFUSED:	
Employee's Name (Print)	Employee's Signature
	Linployee 5 Signature
	Date
	But
Explanation for Refusal:	
Explanation for Reliabal.	

Witness Name (print)

Witness Signature

LAST CHANCE AGREEMENT

I have received a copy of the City of Laguna Niguel's Drug-Free Workplace Policy and I fully understand its provisions and acknowledge that compliance with the Policy is a condition of continued employment.

I hereby acknowledge that I have entered or will enter a treatment or rehabilitation program for alcohol or drug abuse satisfactory to the City of Laguna Niguel. I agree to complete such a program, perform the duties of my job in accordance with standards of performance reasonably expected, and comply with the City's rules, including the Drug-Free Workplace Policy.

I agree to consent, for up to one year, to undergo physical or psychological examinations, and/or random testing of my blood, urine, breath, other body fluid specimens for alcohol, drugs, or their metabolites. I understand that a violation of the Policy or breach of this agreement may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Employee's Name (Print)

Employee's Signature

Date

Witness Name (Print)

Witness Signature

Date

ATTACHMENT 3

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL Harassment Policy

It is the policy of the City of Laguna Niguel that all employees shall enjoy a working environment free from all forms of harassment. The City of Laguna Niguel maintains a strict policy prohibiting harassment in accordance with State and Federal law. This policy applies to all City employees, including non-management personnel, supervisors, managers and executive staff, as well as non-employees, such as contract personnel, who have contact with City employees during working hours.

STATEMENT OF POLICY

The City has zero tolerance for any conduct that violates this Policy. Conduct need not arise to the level of a violation of law to violate this Policy. Instead a single act can violate this Policy and provide grounds for discipline or other appropriate sanctions.

Harassment or discrimination against an applicant or employee by a supervisor, management employee, co-worker, or contractor on the basis of race, religion, sex (including gender and pregnancy), national origin, ancestry, disability, medical condition, genetic characteristics, marital status, age, sexual orientation (including homosexuality, bisexuality, or heterosexuality), or any other protected classification will not be tolerated.

This Policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment, including, but not limited to, hiring, placement, promotion, disciplinary action, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation and training.

Prompt and appropriate disciplinary action will be taken against any City employee, City-hired consultant, or contract employee who has harassed a City employee. The City of Laguna Niguel views harassment as a very serious offense which is subject to disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

The City will not retaliate nor tolerate retaliation taken against any employee for filing a complaint of harassment. Such retaliation or attempted retaliation shall result in disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

DEFINITION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT

The Fair Employment and Housing Commission defines sexual harassment as unwanted sexual advances, or visual, verbal, or physical conduct of a sexual nature. This definition includes many forms of offensive behavior, and includes gender-based harassment of a person of the same sex as the harasser.

The following is a partial list of conduct that could be considered sexual harassment:

- Unwanted sexual advances
- Offering employment benefits in exchange for sexual favors
- Making or threatening reprisals after a negative response to sexual favors
- Visual conduct, such as leering, making sexual gestures, displaying of sexually suggestive objects or pictures, cartoons, or posters
- Verbal conduct, such as making or using derogatory comments, epithets, slurs, and jokes
- Verbal sexual advances or propositions
- Verbal abuse of a sexual nature, graphic verbal commentaries about an individual's body, sexually degrading words used to describe an individual, suggestive or obscene letters, notes, or invitations
- Physical conduct, such as touching, assault, impeding or blocking movements

PROCEDURE

A. All employees are encouraged to immediately inform the alleged harasser that the behavior is unwelcome, offensive, or inappropriate. If the employee feels threatened or has difficulty expressing disapproval, assistance should be sought from the department director.

Should the complaint involve the department director, or if an employee is uncomfortable discussing the complaint with the director, the complaint should be reported to Human Resources or the City Manager.

- B. All investigations related to a complaint under this Policy will be conducted with confidentiality and respect for the rights of all individuals involved. Information related to the investigation will be provided on a need to know basis only.
- C. The complainant and the alleged harasser will be informed of the findings and conclusions of the investigation.
- D. Any individual who is found to have engaged in harassment, who is found to have condoned, encouraged, or perpetuated acts of harassment, or who is found to have in some way participated in retaliation or reprisal, shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to, and including, termination.

//

ATTACHMENT 4

Part-Time Employees Eligibility for Merit Increases

Part-time employees shall be eligible for a merit increase on the first day of the pay period following completion of twenty-six weeks of service and the minimum hours worked as noted below. Part-time employees shall be eligible for subsequent merit increases on the first day of the pay period following the completion of additional fifty-two-week intervals and the minimum hours of work as noted below.

The following minimum number of hours must have been worked for advancement to subsequent steps on the salary range:

Minimum Hours of Work (since date of hire)

2	520 hours
3	1520 hours
4	2520 hours
5	3520 hours

If an employee is initially hired at a step higher than Step 1 of the salary range, the minimum hours requirement shall apply in the same increments as if the employee were hired at Step 1.

All merit increases are subject to a satisfactory performance evaluation by the employee's immediate supervisor, and approval by the Department Head.

 \boldsymbol{H}

ATTACHMENT 5

SALARY SCHEDULES

ADOPTED AS PART OF CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION NO. 2020-1312

Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit

	Effective January 1, 2020 Monthly			anuary 1, 2021 onthly
	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max.
Accountant	\$5,866	\$7,333	\$6,013	\$7,516
Aquatics Supervisor	\$6,599	\$8,248	\$6,764	\$8,454
Assistant Civil Engineer	\$6,734	\$8,417	\$6,902	\$8,627
Assistant Planner	\$5,513	\$6,891	\$5,651	\$7,063
Associate Civil Engineer	\$7,593	\$9,490	\$7,783	\$9,727
Associate Planner	\$6,835	\$8,543	\$7,006	\$8,757
Building & Facilities Superintendent	\$7,972	\$9,965	\$8, 1 71	\$10,214
Community Liaison	\$6,098	\$7,621	\$6,250	\$7,812
Emergency Preparedness Coordinator	\$6,336	\$7,920	\$6,494	\$8,118
Environmental Programs Supervisor	\$7,593	\$9,491	\$7,783	\$9,728
Grading Engineer	\$9,487	\$11,859	\$9,724	\$12,155
IT Network Administrator	\$7,986	\$9,982	\$8,186	\$10,232
Management Analyst	\$6,336	\$7,920	\$6,494	\$8,118
Parks & Landscape Maintenance Superintendent	\$8,598	\$10,750	\$8,813	\$11,019
Recreation Supervisor	\$6,599	\$8,248	\$6,764	\$8,454
Senior Accountant	\$6,745	\$8,433	<mark>\$6,914</mark>	\$8,644
Senior Civil Engineer	\$9,487	\$11,859	\$9,724	\$12,155
Senior Planner	\$8,486	\$10,608	<mark>\$8,698</mark>	\$10,873
Street Maintenance Superintendent	\$8,598	<mark>\$1</mark> 0,750	<mark>\$8,</mark> 813	\$11,019

Part-Time Employees Hourly Rate Effective January 1, 2020

Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Management Analyst	\$37.60	\$39.47	\$41.45	\$43.53	\$45.69

Part-Time Employees Hourly Rate Effective January 1, 2021

Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit

	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5
Management Analyst	\$38.54	\$40.46	\$42.49	\$44.61	\$46.83

EXHIBIT C

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-1313

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL, CALIFORNIA, FIXING THE COMPENSATION AND OTHER BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE AND MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-1313

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL, CALIFORNIA, FIXING THE COMPENSATION AND OTHER BENEFITS FOR EXECUTIVE AND MANAGEMENT EMPLOYEES

WHEREAS, Government Code Section 36506 provides that the City Council shall fix the compensation of all appointive officers and employees by ordinance or resolution; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to adjust the salary ranges, salary rates, and other benefits for Executive and Management employees.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Laguna Niguel as follows:

- 1. The City of Laguna Niguel Executive and Management Employee Group Salary Schedule, which is attached hereto as Exhibit "1," reflects a 3% increase in the salary ranges effective the beginning of the pay period that includes January 1, 2020, and a 2.5% increase in the salary ranges effective the beginning of the pay period that includes January 1, 2021, and is hereby adopted.
- 2. The salary rates for the Executive and Management Employees are increased by 3% effective the beginning of the pay period that includes January 1, 2020 and will be increased by 2.5% effective the beginning of the pay period that includes January 1, 2021.
- 3. The City Manager is hereby authorized to take appropriate action to implement and administer the Executive and Management Group Salary Schedule, including the initial setting and the resetting of the salary rate for Executive Group employees to any point on the applicable City Council approved salary range.
- 4. Employees in the Executive and Management Group shall receive a onetime, non-pensionable, lump-sum bonus in the amount of \$775.
- 5. City Department Directors (i.e., Deputy City Manager, Director of Public Works/City Engineer, Director of Parks and Recreation, Director of Community Development, Director of Finance, and City Clerk) shall receive a car allowance of \$400 per month for reimbursement for the use of their personal vehicles for City business; a \$75 per month technology allowance; and, eligibility to enroll in an ICMA-RC 401(a) Money Purchase Plan at a rate to be designated by the City.

6. Executive and Management Employees shall receive those insurance, leave, holiday and other benefits that are set forth in the Memorandum of Understanding between the Orange County Employees Association and the City of Laguna Niguel (2019-2020) for the Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit, and be governed by the applicable benefit eligibility and administrative policies. The specific benefit provisions applicable to Executive and Management employees are set forth in Exhibit "2."

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of March, 2020.

ATTEST:

Laurie Davies, Mayor

Eileen C. Gomez, City Clerk

Attachments:

Exhibit 1 – Salary Schedule Exhibit 2 – Benefit Schedule

Resolution No. 2020-1313, Exhibit 1

City of Laguna Niguel Salary Schedule

Executive and Management Employee Group

	Effective January 1, 2020		Γ	Effective Jar	nuary 1, 2021
	Monthly			Monthly	
	Min.	Max.		Min.	Max.
City Clerk	\$8,895	\$11,121	Γ	\$9,117	\$11,399
Community Development Director	\$12,303	\$15,380		\$12,611	\$15,764
Deputy City Manager	\$13,648	\$17,060		\$13,989	\$17,486
Development Services Manager	\$10,519	\$13,150		\$10,782	\$13,479
Engineering Services Manager	\$10,911	\$13,639		\$11,184	\$13,980
Executive Secretary	\$6,047	\$7,559		\$6,198	\$7,748
Finance Director	\$12,407	\$15,509		\$12,718	\$15,896
Finance Manager	\$8,603	\$10,753		\$8,818	\$11,022
Parks and Recreation Director	\$11,960	\$14,951		\$12,259	\$15,325
Public Works Director	\$12,849	\$16,062		\$13,170	\$16,463
Purchasing Manager	\$8,603	\$10,753		\$8,818	\$11,022
Recreation Manager	\$8,268	\$10,336		\$8,475	\$10,594
Senior Management Analyst	\$6,969	\$8,712		\$7,143	\$8,930

Resolution No. 2020-1313; Exhibit 2

City of Laguna Niguel Executive and Management Employee Group

Insurance, Leaves, Holidays and Other Benefits Effective January 1, 2020

Executive and Management employees shall receive those insurance, leave, holiday and other benefits listed below that are set forth in the Memorandum of Understanding (2019-2021) between the Orange County Employees Association and the City of Laguna Niguel for the Middle Management, Professional and Supervisory Unit, and be governed by the applicable benefit eligibility and administrative polices:

Article XVI	Benefits
Article XVII	Section 125 Plan
Article XVIII	Vacation
Article XIX	Leaves
Article XX	Holidays
Article XXXI	Employee Recognition Program
Article XXXII	Use of South Coast YMCA Facilities
Article XXXIII	Drug-Free Workplace and Harassment Policy
Article XXXIIV	Gift Restrictions

EXHIBIT D

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL HEALTH INSURANCE, RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS 2020/2021*

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL HEALTH INSURANCE, RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS 2020 (effective 1/1/20)

(Revised 3/4/2020)

Health Benefits: Choice of health insurance plans is available through CalPERS Health Program, dental plans are provided by Ameritas PPO and Liberty HMO, and vision plans are provided by EyeMed. The City provides a Cafeteria Plan with the following monthly contributions toward health, dental and vision premiums:

<u>Coverage</u>	Contribution
Employee Only:	\$ 751.00
Employee +1:	\$1,483.00
Family:	\$1,893.00
Medical Opt-Out:	\$ 478.00

Employees electing health, dental and vision coverage with premiums exceeding the Cafeteria Plan monthly contributions will pay additional premium costs from salary. Health insurance premium deductions are taken on a pre-tax basis.

Retirement: CalPERS defined benefit - Classic Members participate in the 2% @ 60 formula with the employee contributing 7% of base salary. New CalPERS Members will participate in the 2% @ 62 formula with the employee contributing 6.75% of base salary. The City participates in Medicare, but does not participate in Social Security.

Deferred Compensation: 457(b) plan available through ICMA-RC. The City will contribute \$0.50 for every \$1 of salary contributed to the deferred compensation plan by the employee, not to exceed 3% of the employee's annual salary.

Flexible Spending Account (IRS Section 125 Plan): Employee may contribute up to \$2,550 per calendar year in pre-tax dollars to health care spending account. Employee may contribute up to \$5,000 per calendar year in pre-tax dollars to dependent care spending account.

Life Insurance: Life insurance equal to the employee's annual salary, not to exceed \$50,000 available through The Hartford. Premium paid by City.

Disability Insurance: Short-term disability and long-term disability insurance available through The Hartford. 30 day waiting period, premium paid by City.

Vacation Leave: Based on service years beginning with accrual of 10 days per calendar year. Employee may convert up to 60 hours of accrued vacation to cash per calendar year.

Sick Leave: Accrual equivalent to 12 days per calendar year.

Administrative Leave: Effective the first pay period in January of each year, each active exempt employee will receive 56 hours of Administrative Leave. For employees hired after the first pay period of a calendar year, hours of Administrative Leave will be prorated based on the month of hire (4.67 hours/month). Administrative Leave may not be accrued, accumulated or carried over from one calendar year to another. Any unused Administrative Leave remaining at the end of the Calendar Year shall be forfeited.

Holidays: Fifteen (15) paid eight-hour holidays per year:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King, Jr. Day President's Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Veterans Day Veterans Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Eve Christmas Eve Christmas Day Day after Christmas New Year's Eve Two (2) Floating Holidays or 16 hours (see below)

Effective the first pay period in January of each year, each full-time employee will receive two (2) floating holidays (16 hours) for use during the calendar year. For employees hired after the first pay period of the calendar year, the amount of hours will be pro-rated based on the month of hire (1.33 hours /month). Floating holidays must be used in the calendar year in which they were granted.

Employee Wellness: Use of the South Coast YMCA facility located at Crown Valley Park. Membership paid by City.

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL HEALTH INSURANCE, RETIREMENT AND OTHER BENEFITS CALENDAR YEAR 2021

Health Insurance Benefits, Retirement and Other Benefits remain the same as Calendar Year 2020. The City's Cafeteria Plan has been updated for Calendar Year 2021.

The City's 2021 Cafeteria Plan with the following monthly contributions toward health, dental and vision premiums:

<u>Coverage</u>	<u>Contribution</u>
Employee Only:	\$ 782.00
Employee +1:	\$1,547.00
Family:	\$1,975.00
Medical Opt-Out:	\$ 478.00

Employees electing health, dental and vision coverage with premiums exceeding the Cafeteria Plan monthly contributions will pay additional premium costs from salary. Health insurance premium deductions are taken on a pre-tax basis.

EXHIBIT E

SAMPLE AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

SAMPLE AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES FOR COMPENSATION STUDY AND ANALYSIS

R E C I T A L S:

- 1. The City desires to contract with selected professional consultants to provide professional services for Compensation Study and Analysis to support the Administration Department.
- 2. The City circulated a Request for Proposal for the above-described professional services on November 30, 2020.
- 3. Consultant submitted a proposal to City to provide professional services for compensation study and analysis dated Month, Date, Year.
- 4. City Staff has reviewed all the proposals and after considering the demonstrated competence of Consultant, the professional qualifications of Consultant, and the fairness and reasonableness of Consultant's proposed cost, staff had determined that an agreement to provide the required services should be awarded to Consultant.
- 5. The City desires to enter into an agreement with Consultant for professional services.

$\underline{A} \underline{G} \underline{R} \underline{E} \underline{E} \underline{M} \underline{E} \underline{N} \underline{T}$:

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. <u>Services to be Performed by Consultant</u>. Consultant agrees to perform the professional services for City and to prepare and deliver the work products to City, in a manner satisfactory to City, as described in Consultant's Proposal dated Month, Date, Year, ("Scope of Services") which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

2. <u>Additional or Different Services.</u> Any proposed changes in the Scope of Services and/or professional services which are the subject of this Agreement shall be made only by written amendment to this Agreement.

3. <u>Term.</u> This Agreement shall become effective on the date stated above and will continue in effect [for a period of ninety (90) days thereafter] [or until the work required by this Agreement is completed] subject to termination as provided in paragraph 27 except the indemnification provisions contained in paragraph 18 shall remain in full force and effect after the Agreement is terminated.

4. <u>Payment for Services.</u> City agrees to pay Consultant for providing the professional services which are described in the Scope of Services, and to pay for those services in the amount and in the manner and at the times set forth in Exhibit "B" (Compensation) for the not to exceed a sum of \$xxxx.

Upon submission of each invoice, if the City is satisfied that the Consultant has performed the services described therein, the City shall promptly approve the invoice, in which event, payment shall be made within 30 days of receipt of the invoice by the City. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. If City does not approve an invoice, the City shall notify Consultant in writing of the reasons for non-approved within seven (7) days of receipt of the invoice.

5. <u>Ownership of Documents and Drawings.</u> All original drawings, plans, designs, reports, notes, calculations, maps, and other documents developed during the course of Consultant providing the professional services required by the Scope of Services shall be the property of the City and shall be provided by Consultant to City upon their completion and payment of relevant invoices. Further, even if this Agreement is terminated, said documents shall be the property of the City and may be used by City as it determines appropriate. Reuse or modification of any such documents by the City, without Consultant's written permission, shall be at City's sole risk, and City agrees to indemnify and hold Consultant harmless from all claims, damages, and expenses, including attorney's fees, arising out of such reuse by City or others acting through City.

6. <u>Time is of the Essence.</u> Consultant agrees to perform the services and deliver the work products provided for herein in strict accordance with any schedules set forth in the attached Exhibit "C" (Schedule). Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, the Consultant shall not have liability for or be deemed in breach of delays caused by any factor outside of its reasonable control, including but not limited to natural disasters, adverse weather, or acts of the City, third parties, or other governmental agencies.

7. <u>Consultant to Supply Instrumentalities</u>. Consultant shall supply all instrumentalities required to perform the services under this Agreement.

8. <u>Licenses; Standard of Care.</u>

A. Consultant represents and agrees that all personnel engaged by Consultant in performing services are and shall be fully qualified and are authorized or permitted under state and local law to perform such services. Consultant represents and warrants to City that it has all licenses, permits, qualifications, and approvals required of its profession to provide the services and work required to be performed by this Agreement. Consultant further represents and warrants that it shall keep in effect all such licenses, permits, and other approvals during the term of this Agreement.

B. Consultant shall perform the services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner. The Consultant shall be responsible to City for any errors or omissions in the performance of work pursuant to this Agreement. Should any errors caused by Consultant be found in such services or products, Consultant shall correct the errors at no additional charge to City by redoing the professional work and/or revising the work product(s) called for in the Scope of Services to eliminate the errors.

9. <u>Legal Responsibilities.</u> Consultant shall keep itself informed of all State and Federal laws and regulations which may, in any manner, affect those employed by it or in any way affect the performance of its services pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall, at all times, observe and comply with all such laws and regulations. City, and its officers and employees, shall not be liable at law or in equity by reason of the failure of the Consultant to comply with this paragraph.

10. <u>Non-Assignability.</u> Neither this Agreement nor any rights, title, interest, duties or obligations under this Agreement may be assigned, transferred, conveyed or otherwise disposed of by Consultant without the prior written consent of City.

11. <u>Subcontracting Subject to Approval.</u> Consultant may not subcontract any portion of the work required by this Agreement to other persons or firms unless Consultant first obtains the written consent of City to engage in such subcontracting.

12. <u>Independent Consultant</u>. Consultant is and shall at all time remain as to City a wholly independent contractor. Neither the City nor any of its officers, employees, or agents, shall have control over the conduct of the Consultant or any of the Consultant's officers, employees, or agents, Consultant shall not at any time or in any manner represent that it or any of its officers, employees, or agents, are officers, employees, or agents, of the City. Except as specified in writing by City, Consultant shall have no authority, expressed or implied, to act on behalf of City, and Consultant shall have no authority, expressed or implied, to incur any obligation or liability against the City. Consultant shall be responsible for and pay all taxes and other payments for Consultant and its employees for Federal and State income taxes, including withholding of taxes,

Social Security, worker's compensation insurance, State disability insurance, unemployment insurance, and all other similar items.

13. <u>Administration</u>. This Agreement will be administered by the Public Works Department. The Public Works Director or his designee shall be considered the Project Manager and shall have the authority to act for the City under this Agreement. The Public Works Director or his designee shall represent the City in all matters pertaining to the services to be rendered pursuant to this Agreement.

14. <u>Progress.</u> Consultant is responsible to keep the Project Manager and/or his designee informed on a regular basis regarding the status and progress of the work being performed pursuant to this Agreement.

15. <u>Cooperation of City</u>. City agrees to comply with all reasonable requests of Consultant and provide access to all documents reasonably necessary for the performance of Consultant's duties under this Agreement.

16. <u>Confidentiality</u>. No news releases, including photographs, public announcements, or confirmations of the same, of any part of the work being performed pursuant to this Agreement shall be made without prior written approval of the City. The information which results from performing the services required by this Agreement is to be kept confidential unless the release of information is authorized by the City.

17. Conflicts of Interest. Consultant represents that it is not currently engaged in and has not contracted to perform work on the behalf of any party or parties whose interests are or would reasonably appear to be adverse to those of City. In the event that Consultant should discover that it has represented, is representing or is being requested to perform work for a party or parties with interests adverse to those of City, Consultant shall immediately notify City in writing of such situation. Said notification requirement shall apply to all work performed by Consultant for another party or parties, with interests adverse to those of City, on a subcontract as well as on a contract or other basis. Further, the Consultant or its employees may be subject to the provisions of the California Political Reform Act of 1974 (the "Act"), which (1) requires such persons to disclose financial interest that may foreseeably be materially affected by the work performed under this Agreement, and (2) prohibits such persons from making, or participating in making, decisions that will foreseeably financially affect such interest. If subject to the Act, Consultant shall comply with all requirements of the Act. Failure to do so constitutes a material breach and is grounds for termination of this Agreement by the City.

Consultant agrees not to provide services within the City boundaries for any other public or private entities without prior written approval from City.

18. <u>Indemnification</u>.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall, at its sole cost and Α. expense, defend, hold harmless and indemnify City and its elected officials, officers, attorneys, agents, employees, designated volunteers, successors, assigns and those City agents serving as independent Consultant in the role of City officials (collectively "Indemnitees"), from and against any and all damages, costs, expenses, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, proceedings, expenses, judgments, penalties, liens, and losses of any nature whatsoever, including fees of accountants, attorneys, or other professionals and all costs associated therewith and the payment of all consequential damages (collectively "Liabilities"), in law or equity, whether actual, alleged or threatened, which arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the acts or omissions of Consultant, its officers, agents, servants, employees, subcontractors, materialmen, consultants or their officers, agents, servants or employees (or any entity or individual that Consultant shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this Agreement, including the Indemnitees' active or passive negligence, except for Liabilities arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees as determined by court decision or by the agreement of the Parties. Consultant shall defend the Indemnitees in any action or actions filed in connection with any Liabilities with counsel of the Indemnitees' choice, and shall pay all costs and expenses, including all attorneys' fees and experts' costs actually incurred in connection with such defense. Consultant shall reimburse the Indemnitees for any and all legal expenses and costs incurred by Indemnitees in connection therewith.

B. Consultant shall pay all required taxes on amounts paid to Consultant under this Agreement and indemnify and hold City harmless from any and all taxes, assessments, penalties, and interest asserted against City by reason of the independent Consultant relationship created by this Agreement. Consultant shall fully comply with the workers' compensation law regarding Consultant and Consultant's employees. Consultant shall indemnify and hold City harmless from any failure of Consultant to comply with applicable workers' compensation laws. City may offset against the amount of any fees due to Consultant under this Agreement any amount due to City from Consultant as a result of Consultant's failure to promptly pay to City any reimbursement or indemnification arising under this subparagraph).

C. Consultant shall obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions identical to those in this Section from each and every subconsultant or any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of Consultant in the performance of this Agreement. If Consultant fails to obtain such indemnity obligations, Consultant shall be fully responsible and indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Indemnitees from and against any and all Liabilities at law or in equity, whether actual, alleged or threatened, which arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the acts or omissions of Consultant's subconsultant, its officers, agents, servants, employees, subcontractors, materialmen, consultants or their officers, agents, servants or employees (or any entity or

individual that Consultant's subconsultant shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this Agreement, including the Indemnitees' active or passive negligence, except for Liabilities arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees as determined by court decision or by the agreement of the Parties.

1) Workers' Compensation Acts Not Limiting. Consultant indemnifications and obligations under this Section, or any other provision of this Agreement, shall not be limited by the provisions of any workers' compensation act or similar act. Consultant expressly waives its statutory immunity under such statutes or laws as to City, its officers, agents, employees and volunteers.

2) Insurance Requirements not Limiting. City does not, and shall not, waive any rights that it may possess against Consultant because of the acceptance by City, or the deposit with City, of any insurance policy or certificate required pursuant to this Agreement. The indemnities in this Section shall apply regardless of whether or not any insurance policies are determined to be applicable to the Liabilities, tax, assessment, penalty or interest asserted against City.

3) Survival of Terms. Consultant's indemnifications and obligations under this Section shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

19. Liability Insurance.

A. Without limiting Consultant's indemnification of City as described in paragraph 18, Consultant shall obtain and provide and maintain at its own expense during the term of this Agreement policy or policies of liability insurance of the type and amounts described below and satisfactory to the City Attorney. Such policies shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf and must be filed with the City prior to exercising any right or performing any work pursuant to this Agreement.

B. <u>Named Additional Insured.</u> The City of Laguna Niguel and its Council members, officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be named as additional insureds under the policies required by subparagraphs General and Auto Insurances for all liability arising from Consultant's performance of services pursuant to this Agreement. This insurance shall be primary to any insurance maintained by the City. City insurance shall not contribute to any judgment rendered against the City.

C. <u>Insurance Coverage</u>. Prior to the commencement of any services hereunder, Consultant shall provide to City certificates of insurance with original endorsements, and copies of policies, if requested by City, of the following insurance coverage:

1) **General Liability Insurance.** Consultant shall maintain commercial

general liability insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01, in an amount not less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence, \$2,000,000 general aggregate, for bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage. The policy must include contractual liability that has not been amended. Any endorsement restricting standard ISO "insured contract" language will not be accepted.

2) **Workers' Compensation Insurance**. Consultant shall maintain Workers' Compensation Insurance (Statutory Limits) and Employer's Liability Insurance (with limits of at least \$1,000,000). Consultant shall submit to City, along with the certificate of insurance, a Waiver of Subrogation endorsement in favor of City, its officers, agents, employees and volunteers.

3) **Waiver of subrogation**. All insurance coverage maintained or procured pursuant to this agreement shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against City, its elected or appointed officers, agents, officials, employees and volunteers or shall specifically allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery against City and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each of its subconsultant.

D. <u>Duration of coverage</u>. Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the Work hereunder by Consultant, his agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors.

E. <u>Primary/noncontributing.</u> Coverage provided by Consultant shall be primary and any insurance or self-insurance procured or maintained by City shall not be required to contribute with it. The limits of insurance required herein may be satisfied by a combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any umbrella or excess insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such coverage shall also apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of the City before the City's own insurance or self-insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named insured.

F. <u>City's rights of enforcement</u>. In the event any policy of insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel this Agreement.

G. <u>Acceptable insurers.</u> All insurance policies shall be issued by an insurance company currently authorized by the Insurance Commissioner to transact business of insurance or is on the List of Approved Surplus Line Insurers in the State of California, with an assigned policyholders' Rating of A- (or higher) and Financial Size Category Class

VII (or larger) in accordance with the latest edition of Best's Key Rating Guide, unless otherwise approved by the City's Risk Manager.

H. <u>Enforcement of contract provisions (non estoppel)</u>. Consultant acknowledges and agrees that any actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform Consultant of noncompliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligations on the City nor does it waive any rights hereunder.

I. <u>Requirements not limiting.</u> Requirements of specific coverage features, or limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other requirements, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. Specific reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only as it pertains to a given issue and is not intended by any party or insured to be all inclusive, or to the exclusion of other coverage, or a waiver of any type. If the Consultant maintains higher limits than the minimums shown above, the City requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits maintained by the Consultant. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to the City.

J. <u>Notice of cancellation</u>. Consultant agrees to oblige its insurance agent or broker and insurers to provide to City with a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation (except for nonpayment for which a ten (10) day notice is required) or nonrenewal of coverage for each required coverage.

K. <u>Additional insured status.</u> General liability policies shall provide or be endorsed to provide that City and its officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds under such policies. This provision shall also apply to any excess/umbrella liability policies.

L. <u>Prohibition of undisclosed coverage limitations.</u> None of the coverages required herein will be in compliance with these requirements if they include any limiting endorsement of any kind that has not been first submitted to City and approved of in writing.

M. <u>Separation of Insureds.</u> A severability of interests provision must apply for all additional insureds ensuring that Consultant's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the insurer's limits of liability. The policy(ies) shall not contain any cross-liability exclusions.

N. <u>Pass Through Clause.</u> Consultant agrees to ensure that its subcontractor, subcontractors, and any other party involved with the project who is brought onto or involved in the project by Consultant, provide the same minimum insurance coverage and endorsements required of Consultant. Consultant agrees to monitor and review all such coverage and assumes all responsibility for ensuring that such coverage is provided in conformity with the requirements of this section. Consultant agrees that upon request, all agreements with consultants, subconsultant, and others engaged in the project will be submitted to City for review.

O. <u>City's right to revise specifications.</u> The City reserves the right at any time during the term of the contract to change the amounts and types of insurance required by giving the Consultant ninety (90) days advance written notice of such change. If such change results in substantial additional cost to the Consultant, the City and Consultant may renegotiate Consultant's compensation.

P. <u>Self-insured retentions.</u> Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by City. City reserves the right to require that self-insured retentions be eliminated, lowered, or replaced by a deductible. Self-insurance will not be considered to comply with these specifications unless approved by City.

Q. <u>Timely notice of claims.</u> Consultant shall give City prompt and timely notice of claims made or suits instituted that arise out of or result from Consultant's performance under this Agreement, and that involve or may involve coverage under any of the required liability policies.

R. <u>Additional insurance</u>. Consultant shall also procure and maintain, at its own cost and expense, any additional kinds of insurance, which in its own judgment may be necessary for its proper protection and prosecution of the Work.

20. <u>Nondiscrimination by Consultant.</u> Consultant represents and agrees that Consultant, its affiliates, subsidiaries, or holding companies do not and will not discriminate against any subcontractor, Consultant, employee, or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, sex, handicap, or national origin. Such nondiscrimination shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, transfers, recruitment, recruitment advertising, layoff, termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training, including apprenticeship.

21. <u>City's Rights to Employ Other Consultants</u>. City reserves the right to employ other consultants in connection with the subject matter of the Scope of Services.

22. <u>Consultant's Records</u>. Consultant shall keep records and invoices in connection with it work performed under this Agreement. Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to the costs incurred under this Agreement. All such records shall be clearly identifiable. Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal business hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years from the date of final payment under this Agreement.

23. <u>Notices.</u> Any notices to be given hereunder by either party to the other in writing may be effected either by personal delivery or by mail. Mailed notices shall be addressed to the address of the parties to be notified which appears below, but each party may

change its address by written notice given in accordance with this paragraph. Notices delivered personally will be deemed communicated as of actual receipt. Mailed notices will be deemed communicated and received as of five (5) calendar days following the date of mailing of the notice.

CITY: City of Laguna Niguel Attn: Deputy City Manager 30111 Crown Valley Parkway Laguna Niguel, CA 92677

CONSULTANT: Company Name Attn: Name Address: Business Mailing Address City, State, Zip Code: City, State, Zip Code

24. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement supersedes any and all agreements, either oral or written, between the parties hereto with respect to the rendering of services described in Scope of Services hereto by Consultant for City and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the rendering of such services. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made with regard to such services by any party, or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and that no other agreement, statement, or promise regarding such services not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification or amendment of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both parties to this Agreement.

25. <u>Exhibits.</u> The Exhibits referenced in this Agreement are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth in full in the Agreement.

26. <u>Governing Law.</u> This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. Any legal action in which enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement is requested, or in which it is alleged that a breach of this Agreement has taken place, shall be filed and prosecuted in the County of Orange, California.

27. <u>Termination</u>. City may terminate this Agreement, without cause or penalty, by providing written notice to the other party that the Agreement is terminated. Said written notice shall be provided at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the termination date. Unless terminated as provided herein, this Agreement shall continue in effect for the period set forth in Section 3.

28. <u>Breach of Agreement</u>. If Consultant defaults in the performance of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement, it shall have ten (10) days after service upon it of written notice of such default in which to cure the default by rendering a satisfactory performance. In the event that Consultant fails to cure its default within such period of time, City shall have the right, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to terminate this Agreement without further notice and without prejudice to any other remedy to which it may be entitled at law, in equity, or under this Agreement. The failure of City to object to any default in the performance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either that term or condition or any other term or condition of this Agreement.

29. <u>Attorney Fees</u>. If any legal proceeding, including an action for declaratory relief, is brought to enforce or interpret the provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees, which may be set by the court in the same action or in a separate action brought for that purpose, in addition to any other relief to which that party may be entitled.

30. <u>Severability.</u> If any provision in this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the remaining provisions will nevertheless continue in full force without being impaired or invalidated in any way.

31. <u>Successors and Assigns</u>. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the parties to this Agreement.

32. <u>Authority to Sign</u>. The person(s) executing this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant warrants and represents that they the authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant and have the authority to bind the Consultant to the performance of the obligations hereunder.

///

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

"CITY"

CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL

Ву: _____

Tamara S. Letourneau City Manager

ATTEST:

Eileen C. Gomez, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM BY THE CITY ATTORNEY FOR THE CITY OF LAGUNA NIGUEL, CALIFORNIA

Kevin G. Ennis City Attorney

"CONSULTANT"

COMPANY NAME

By: _____

Print Name: _____

Title: _____

By: _____

Print Name: _____

Title: _____

EXHIBIT "A"

SCOPE OF SERVICE

EXHIBIT "B"

COMPENSATIONS

EXHIBIT "C"

SCHEDULE

EXHIBIT F EX PARTE COMMUNICATION CERTIFICATE (REQUIRED FORM)

EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS CERTIFICATION

Please indicate by signing below one of the following two statements. **Only sign one statement.**

I certify that Proposer and Proposer's representatives have not had any communication with a City Councilmember concerning the RFP FOR COMPENSATION STUDY AND ANALYSIS at any time after 11/30/2020.

Signature

Date: _____

Print

OR

I certify that Proposer or Proposer's representatives have communicated after 11/30/2020 with a City Councilmember concerning the RFP FOR COMPENSATION STUDY AND ANALYSIS. A copy of all such communications is attached to this form for public distribution.

Date: _____

Signature

Print

EXHIBIT G DISQUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE (REQUIRED FORM)

DISQUALIFICATION QUESTIONNAIRE

The Contractor shall complete the following questionnaire:

Has the Contractor, any officer of the Contractor, or any employee of the Contractor who has proprietary interest in the Contractor, ever been disqualified, removed, or otherwise prevented from bidding on, or completing a federal, state, or local government project because of a violation of law or safety regulation?

Yes ____ No ____

If the answer is yes, explain the circumstances in the following space.